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Independent Auditor's Report

To the Members of Sterling Holiday Resorts Limited

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

We have audited the financial statements of Sterling Holiday Resorts Limited (the “Company”) which comprise the
balance sheet as at 31 March 2023, and the statement of profit and loss (including other comprehensive income},
statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, the aforesaid
financial statements give the information required by the Companies Act, 2013 (“Act”) in the manner so required
and give a true and fair view in conformity with the accounting principles generally accepted in India, of the state
of affairs of the Company as at 31 March 2023, and its profit and other comprehensive loss, changes in equity and
its cash flows for the year ended on that date.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with the Standards on Auditing (SAs) specified under Section 143(10) of the
Act. Our responsibilities under those SAs are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the Code of
Ethics issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India together with the ethical requirements that are
relevant to our audit of the financial statements under the provisions of the Act and the Rules thereunder, and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the Code of Ethics. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion
on the financial statements.

Management's and Board of Directors Responsibilities for the Financial Statements

The Company’s Management and Board of Directors are responsible for the matters stated in Section 134(S) of the
Act with respect to the preparation of these financial statements that give a true and fair view of the state of affairs,
profit/ loss and other comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows of the Company in accordance with
the accounting principles generally accepted in India, including the Indian Accounting Standards (Ind AS) specified
under Section 133 of the Act. This responsibility also includes maintenance of adequate accounting records in
accordance with the provisions of the Act for safeguarding of the assets of the Company and for preventing and
detecting frauds and other irregularities; selection and application of appropriate accounting policies; making
judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and design, implementation and maintenance of
adequate internal financial controls, that were operating effectively for ensuring the accuracy and completeness
of the accounting records, relevant to the preparation and presentation of the financial statements that give a true
and fair view and are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
Sterling Holiday Resorts Limited

In preparing the financial statements, the Management and Board of Directors are responsible for assessing the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Board of Directors either intends to liquidate the Company
or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Board of Directors is also responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with SAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with SAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

e |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

®  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances. Under Section 143(3)(i) of the Act, we are also responsible for expressing
our opinion on whether the company has adequate internal financial controls with reference to financial
statements in place and the operating effectiveness of such controls.

® FEvaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the Management and Board of Directors.

* Conclude on the appropriateness of the Management and Board of Directors use of the going concern basis
of accounting in preparation of financial statements and, based on the.audit evidence obtained, whether a
material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease
to continue as a going concern.

e Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that

achieves fair presentation.
We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.
We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical

requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

Sterling Holiday Resorts Limited

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

1. Asrequired by the Companies (Auditor’s Report) Order, 2020 (“the Order”) issued by the Central Government
of India in terms of Section 143(11) of the Act, we give in the “Annexure A” a statement on the matters
specified in paragraphs 3 and 4 of the Order, to the extent applicable.

2 A. As required by Section 143(3) of the Act, we report that:

a.  We have sought and obtained all the information and explanations which to the best of our knowledge
and belief were necessary for the purposes of our audit.

b. In our opinion, proper books of account as required by law have been kept by the Company so far as it
appears from our examination of those books, except that the back-up of customer reservation system
which form part of the ‘books of account and other relevant books and papers in electronic mode’ have
not been maintained on the servers physically located in India.

c. The balance sheet, the statement of profit and loss (including other comprehensive income), the
statement of changes in equity and the statement of cash flows dealt with by this Report are in agreement
with the books of account. ,

d. In our opinion, the aforesaid financial statements comply with the Ind AS specified under Section 133 of
the Act.

e. On the basis of the written representations received from the directors as on 31 March 2023 taken on
record by the Board of Directors, none of the directors is disqualified as on 31 March 2023 from being
appointed as a director in terms of Section 164(2) of the Act.

f.  the qualification relating to the maintenance of backup of certain books of accounts in servers physically
located in India, therewith as stated in the paragraph 2(A)(b) above.

g. With respect to the adequacy of the internal financial controls with reference to financial statements of
the Company and the operating effectiveness of such controls, refer to our separate Report in “Annexure
B”.
B. With respect to the other matters to be included in the Auditor’s Report in accordance with Rule 11 of the
Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014, in our opinion and to the best of our information and according
to the explanations given to us:

a. The Company has disclosed the impact of pending litigations as at 31 March 2023 on its financial position
in its financial statements - Refer Note 44 to the financial statements.

b. The Company has made provision, as required under the applicable law or accounting standards, for
material foreseeable losses, if any, on long-term contracts including derivative contracts — Refer Note 27
to the financial statements.

c. There were no amounts which were required to be transferred to the Investor Education and Protection
Fund by the Company.

d (i) The management has represented that, to the best of its knowledge and belief, other than as disclosed in
Note 57 to the financial statements, no funds have been advanced or loaned or invested (either from
borrowed funds or share premium or any other sources or kind of funds) by the Company to or in any
other persons or entities, including foreign entities ("Intermediaries”), with the understanding, whether
recorded in writing or otherwise, that the Intermediary shall:

e directly or indirectly lend or invest in other persons or entities identified in any manner whatsoever
("Ultimate Beneficiaries") by or on behalf of the Company or

e provide any guarantee, security or the like to or on behalf of the Ultimate Beneficiaries.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

Sterling Holiday Resorts Limited

(i) The management has represented, that, to the best of its knowledge and belief, other than as disclosed
in Note 57 to the financial statements, no funds have been received by the Company from any persons
or entities, including foreign entities ("Funding Parties"), with the understanding, whether recorded in
writing or otherwise, that the Company shall:

« directly or indirectly, lend or invest in other persons or entities identified in any manner whatsoever
("Ultimate Beneficiaries") by or on behalf of the Funding Party or

» provide any guarantee, security or the like from or on behalf of the Ultimate Beneficiaries.

(iii) Based on such audit procedures as considered reasonable and appropriate in the circumstances, nothing
has come to our notice that has caused us to believe that the representations under sub-clause (d) (i) and
(d) (ii) contain any material mis-statement.

e. The Company has neither declared nor paid any dividend during the year.
C. With respect to the matter to be included in the Auditor’s Report under Section 197(16) of the Act:

In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, the remuneration paid by the
Company to its directors during the current year is in accordance with the provisions of Section 197 of the Act.
The Ministry of Corporate affairs has not prescribed other details under Section 197(16) which are required
to be commented upon by us.

For BSR & Co. LLP
Chartered Accountants

Firm’s Registration No.:101248W/W-100022

|

Satish Vaidyanathan

Partner
Place: Chennai Membership No.: 217042
Date: 18 May 2023 ICAI UDIN:23217042BGRWHI7344
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Annexure A to the Independent Auditor's Report on the Financial Statements of
Sterling Holiday Resorts Limited for the year ended 31 March 2023

(Referred to in paragraph 1 under ‘Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements’ section
of our report of even date)

(i) (a) (A)

(B)
(i} (b)

(c)

The Company has maintained proper records showing full particulars, including quantitative details and
situation of Property, Plant and Equipment.

The Company has maintained proper records showing full particulars of intangible assets.

According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our examination of the
records of the Company, the Company has a regular programme of physical verification of its Property,
Plant and Equipment by which all property, plant and equipment are verified in a phased manner over
a period of three years. In accordance with this programme, certain property, plant and equipment were
verified during the year. In our opinion, this periodicity of physical verification is reasonable having
regard to the size of the Company and the nature of its assets. No discrepancies were noticed on such
verification.

According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our examination of the
records of the Company, the title deeds of immovable properties (other than immovable properties
where the Company is the lessee and the leases agreements are duly executed in favour of the lessee)
disclosed in the financial statements are held in the name of the Company, except for the following
which are not held in the name of the Company:

Description | Gross Held in the | Whether Period held- | Reason for not
of property | carrying name of promoter, indicate being held in the
value(Lakhs) director or | range, where | name of the
their relative | appropriate Company. Also
or employee indicate if in
dispute
Freehold 40,592.50 | Sterling No August 18, | Refer Note 4 and
land Holiday 2015 49 of the
Resorts(India onwards financial
) Limited statements
Building 22,959.79 | Sterling No August 18, | Refer Note 4 and
Holiday 2015 49 of the
Resorts(India onwards financial
) Limited statements
Freehold 3,981.30 | Sterling No August 18, | Refer Note 4, 49
land Holiday 2015 and 46(a) of the
Resorts(India onwards financial
) Limited statements
Building 4,666.62 | Sterling No August 18, | Refer Note 4, 49
Holiday 2015 and 46(a) of the
Resorts({India onwards financial
) Limited statements
Freehold 761.7 | Sterling No August 18, | Refer Note 4 and
land Holiday 2015 46(c) of the
Resorts(India onwards financial
) Limited statements
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Annexure A to the Independent Auditor’s Report on the Financial Statements of
Sterling Holiday Resorts Limited for the year ended 31 March 2023 (Continued)

Freehold 9,158.00 | Sterling No August 18, | Refer Note 4, 49
land Holiday 2015 and 46(d(i)) of
Resorts(India onwards the financial
) Limited statements
Building 3,595.57 | Sterling No August 18, | Refer Note 4, 49
Holiday 2015 and 46(d(i)) of
Resorts(India onwards the financial
) Limited statements
Freehold 570.00 | Manchanda No March 20, | SHRIL had
land Resorts 1990 acquired the
Private onwards resort from
Limited Manchanda
Resorts Pvt Ltd,
Building 2,767.63 | Manchanda No March 20, | title deeds are
Resorts 1990 yet to be
Private onwards transferred.
Limited
(d) According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our examination of the

records of the Company, revaluation model is followed for recording Property, Plant and Equipment.
The Company revalues the Property, Plant and Equipment every three years. During the year, Company
has not revalued its Property, Plant and Equipment (including Right of Use assets) or intangible assets

or both.

(e) According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our examination of the
records of the Company, there are no proceedings initiated or pending against the Company for holding
any benami property under the Prohibition of Benami Property Transactions Act, 1988 and rules made

thereunder.

(ii) (a) The inventories have been physically verified by the management during the year. In our opinion, the
frequency of such verification is reasonable and procedures and coverage us followed by management
were appropriate. No material discrepancies were noticed on verification between the physical stocks
and the book records that were more than 10% in the aggregate of each class of inventory.

(b) According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our examination of the
records of the Company, the Company has been sanctioned working capital limits in excess of five crore
rupees, in aggregate, from banks or financial institutions on the basis of security of current assets. In
our opinion, the quarterly returns or statements filed by the Company with such banks or financial
institutions are in agreement with the books of account of the Company.

(iii) (a)  According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our examination of the
records of the Company, the Company has not made any investments in companies, firms, limited
liability partnership or any other parties. The Company has granted loans to Companies during the year
and provided guarantee, in respect of which the requisite information is as below:
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Annexure A to the Independent Auditor’s Report on the Financial Statements of
Sterling Holiday Resorts Limited for the year ended 31 March 2023 (Continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Particulars Guarantees Security Loans Advances in

nature of
loans

Aggregate amount during Nil Nil 400.56 Nil

the year

Subsidiaries

Sterling Holidays (Ooty)

Limited

Sterling Holiday Resorts
(Kodaikanal) Limited

Nature  Trails Resorts 400.56
Private Limited

Balance outstanding as at Nil 3,361.89 Nil
balance sheet date

Subsidiaries

Sterling Holidays (Ooty) Nil 2

Limited

Sterling Holiday Resorts Nil 906.95

(Kodaikanal) Limited

Nature  Trails  Resorts 579.07 2,454.94

Private Limited

According to the information and explanations given to us and based on the audit procedures conducted

by us, in our opinion the terms and conditions of the grant of loans are, prima facie, not prejudicial to
the interest of the Company.

According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our examination of the
records of the Company, in the case of loans given, principal is repayable on demand and schedule for
the payment of interest has not been stipulated. As informed to us, the Company has not demanded
repayment of the loan during the year. Thus, there has been no default on the part of the party to whom
the maney has been lent. We are unable to comment on the regularity of payment of interest. Further,
the Company has not given any advance in the nature of loan to any party during the year.

According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our examination of the
records of the Company, in case of loans, the principal is repayable on demand and the schedule for
repayment of interest have not been stipulated and accordingly we are unable to comment on the
amount overdue for more than ninety days. Further, the Company has not given any loans to any party
during the year.

According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our examination of the
records of the Company, there is no loan or advance in the nature of loan granted falling due during the
year, which has been renewed or extended or fresh loans granted to settle the overdues of existing

loans given to same parties.

According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our examination of the
records of the Company, in our opinion the Company has not granted any loans or advances in the nature
of loans either repayable on demand or without specifying any terms or period of repayment except for
the following loans or advances in the nature of loans to its Promoters and related parties as defined in
Clause (76) of Section 2 of the Companies Act, 2013 ("the Act"):
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Annexure A to the Independent Auditor’s Report on the Financial Statements of
Sterling Holiday Resorts Limited for the year ended 31 March 2023 (Continued)

(iv)

v)

(vi)

{vii) (a)

All Parties Promoters Related Parties

Aggregate of loans/advances in
nature of loan

- Repayable on demand (A) 3,361.89 Nil 3,361.89
- Agreement does not specify Nil Nil Nil

any terms or period of
Repayment (B)

Total (A+B) 3,361.89 Nl 3,361.89

Percentage of loans/advances 100% NA 100%
in nature of loan to the total
loans

According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our examination of records

of the Company, in respect of investments made, loans and guarantees given by the Company, in our
opinion the provisions of Section 185 and 186 of the Companies Act, 2013 (“the Act”) have been
complied with.

The Company has not accepted any deposits or amounts which are deemed to be deposits from the
public. Accordingly, clause 3(v) of the Order is not applicable.

According to the information and explanations given to us, the Central Government has not prescribed
the maintenance of cost records under Section 148(1) of the Act for the products manufactured by it
{and/or services provided by it). Accordingly, clause 3{vi) of the Order is not applicable.

The Company does not have liability in respect of Service tax and Duty of excise during the year since
effective 1 July 2017, these statutory dues has been subsumed into GST.

According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our examination of the
records of the Company, in our opinion amounts deducted / accrued in the books of account in respect
of undisputed statutory dues including Goods and Service Tax, Provident Fund, Employees State
Insurance, income-Tax, Sales tax, Value Added Tax or Cess or other statutory dues have generally been
regularly deposited with the appropriate authorities, though there have been slight delays in a few cases
of provident fund.

According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our examination of the
records of the Company, no undisputed amounts payable in respect of Goods and Service Tax, Provident
Fund, Employees State Insurance, Income-Tax, Sales tax, Value Added Tax or Cess or other statutory
dues were in arrears as at 31 March 2023 for a period of more than six months from the date they
became payable, except as mentioned below:
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Annexure A to the Independent Auditor's Report on the Financial Statements of
Sterling Holiday Resorts Limited for the year ended 31 March 2023 (Continued)

(b)

Name of the | Nature of | Amount (Rs | Period to which | Due date Date of

statute the dues in Lakhs) the amount payment
relates

Kerala general | Sales tax 1.80 June 22- March 23 | 20th of next | Unpaid

Sales Tax Act, month

1963

According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our examination of the
records of the Company, statutory dues relating to Goods and Service Tax, Provident Fund, Employees
State Insurance, Income-Tax, Sales tax, Value Added Tax or Cess or other statutory dues which have not
been deposited on account of any dispute are as follows:

Name of the | Nature of the Amount (Rs. Period to which the Forum where
statute dues In lakhs) amount relates dispute is
pending

Finance Act, | Service tax 527.03 | AY 2005-06 to 2006- | Central Excise

1994 07 and Service tax
Appellate
Tribunal

The VAT 18.75 | AY 2016-17 Deputy

Uttarakhand Commissioner

Value Added

Tax Act. 2005

Himachal GST 113.28 | AY 2017-18 & 2018- | The Asst

Pradesh GST 19 Commissioner,

Act State Taxes &
Excise

Himachal Luxury tax 88.53 | AY 1999-00 to 2004- | The

Pradesh 05 Commissioner,

Luxury  Tax Shimla

Act

Kerala Luxury | Luxury tax 871.82 | AY 2012-13 to 2015- | The Deputy

Tax Act 16 Commissioner -
Appeals

Kerala Luxury | Luxury tax 462.69 | AY 2012-13 to 2015- | Kerala High Court

Tax Act 16

Kerala Luxury | Luxury tax 6.20 | AY 2016-17 & 2017- | Deputy

Tax Act 18 Commissioner

Kerala Luxury | Luxury tax 45.80 | AY 2016-17 & 2017- | Deputy

Tax Act 18 Commissioner

Tamil Nadu | Luxury tax 6,050.13 | AY 1998-99 to 2017- | Madras High

Luxury  tax 18 Court

Act
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Annexure A to the Independent Auditor’s Report on the Financial Statements of
Sterling Holiday Resorts Limited for the year ended 31 March 2023 (Continued)

Name of the | Nature of the Amount (Rs. Period to which the Forum where
statute dues In lakhs) amount relates dispute is
pending

Tamil Nadu | Luxury tax 137.33 | AY 2010-11 to 2014- | Deputy

Luxury  tax 15 Commissioner

Act

The Income | Income tax 2,362.58 | AY 2015-16 The

Tax Act, 1961 Commissioner of
Income Tax
(Appeals),
Mumbai

The Income | Income tax 6,660.94 | AY 2017-18 The

Tax Act, 1961 Commissioner of
Income Tax
{Appeals),
Mumbai

The Income | Income tax 723.32 | AY 2014-15 Income Tax

Tax Act, 1961 Appellate
Tribunal,
Mumbai

The Income | Income tax 694.35 | AY2001-02 and 2006- | The

Tax Act, 1961 07 Commissioner of
Income Tax
(Appeals),
Mumbai

The Income | Income tax 201.84 | AY 2018-19 Assessing Officer

Tax Act, 1961

(viii) According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our examination of the
records of the Company, the Company has not surrendered or disclosed any transactions, previously
unrecorded as income in the books of account, in the tax assessments under the Income Tax Act, 1961
as income during the year.

(ix) (a)  According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our examination of the

{b)

(c)

(d)

records of the Company, the Company has not defaulted in repayment of loans and borrowing or in the
payment of interest thereon to any lender.

According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our examination of the
records of the Company, the Company has not been declared a willful defaulter by any bank or financial
institution or government or government authority.

According to the information and explanations given to us by the management, the Company has not
obtained any term loans during the year. Accordingly, clause 3(ix)(c) of the Order is not applicable.

According to the information and explanations given to us and on an overall examination of the balance
sheet of the Company, we report that no funds raised on short-term basis have been used for long-term
purposes by the Company.
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Annexure A to the Independent Auditor’s Report on the Financial Statements of
Sterling Holiday Resorts Limited for the year ended 31 March 2023 (Continued)

()

{x) (a)

(b)

(xi) (a)

(b)

(c)

(xii)

(xiii)

(xiv) (a)

{b)

(xv)

(xvi) (a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

{xvii)

According to the information and explanations given to us and an an overall examination of the financial
statements of the Company, we report that the Company has not taken any funds from any entity or
person on account of or to meet the obligations of its subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures as
defined under the Act.

According to the information and explanations given to us and procedures performed by us, we report
that the Company has not raised loans during the year on the pledge of securities held in its subsidiaries,
joint ventures or associate companies (as defined under the Act).

The Company has not raised any moneys by way of initial public offer or further public offer (including
debt instruments). Accordingly, clause 3(x)(a) of the Order is not applicable.

According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our examination of the
records of the Company, the Company has not made any preferential allotment or private placement
of shares or fully or partly convertible debentures during the year. Accordingly, clause 3(x)(b) of the
Order is not applicable.

Based on examination of the books and records of the Company and according to the information and
explanations given to us, no fraud by the Company or on the Company has been noticed or reported
during the course of the audit.

According to the information and explanations given to us, no report under sub-section (12) of Section
143 of the Act has been filed by the auditors in Form ADT-4 as prescribed under Rule 13 of the
Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014 with the Central Government.

As represented to us by the management, there are no whistle blower complaints received by the
Company during the year.

According to the information and explanations given to us, the Company is not a Nidhi Company.
Accordingly, clause 3(xii) of the Order is not applicable.

The requirements as stipulated by the provisions of Section 177 of the Act are not applicable to the
Company. In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis
of our examination of records of the Company, transactions with the related parties are in compliance
with Section 188 of the Act where applicable and details of such transactions have been disclosed in the
financial statements as required by the applicable accounting standards

Based on information and explanations provided to us and our audit procedures, in our opinion, the
Company has an internal audit system commensurate with the size and nature of its business.

We have considered the internal audit reports of the Company issued till date for the period under
audit.

In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, the Company has not
entered into any non-cash transactions with its directors or persons connected to its directors and
hence, provisions of Section 192 of the Act are not applicable to the Company.

The Company is not required to be registered under Section 45-1A of the Reserve Bank of India Act, 1934.
Accordingly, clause 3(xvi)(a) of the Order is not applicable.

The Company is not required to be registered under Section 45-IA of the Reserve Bank of India Act,
1934. Accordingly, clause 3(xvi)(b) of the Order is not applicable.

The Company is not a Core Investment Company (CIC) as defined in the regulations made by the Reserve
Bank of India. Accordingly, clause 3(xvi){c) of the Order is not applicable.

The Company is not part of any group (as per the provisions of the Core Investment Companies {(Reserve
Bank) Directions, 2016 as amended). Accordingly, the requirements of clause 3(xvi)(d) are not
applicable.

The Company has not incurred cash losses in the current and in the immediately preceding financial
year.
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Annexure A to the Independent Auditor’s Report on the Financial Statements of
Sterling Holiday Resorts Limited for the year ended 31 March 2023 (Continued)

(xviii)

(xix)

(xx)

There has been no resignation of the statutory auditors during the year. Accordingly, clause 3{(xviii) of
the Order is not applicable.

According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of the financial ratios, ageing
and expected dates of realisation of financial assets and payment of financial liabilities, our knowledge
of the Board of Directors and management plans and based on our examination of the evidence
supporting the assumptions, nothing has come to our attention, which causes us to believe that any
material uncertainty exists as on the date of the audit report that the Company is not capable of meeting
its liabilities existing at the date of balance sheet as and when they fall due within a period of one year
from the balance sheet date. We, however, state that this is not an assurance as to the future viability
of the Company. We further state that our reporting is based on the facts up to the date of the audit
report and we neither give any guarantee nor any assurance that all liabilities falling due within a period
of one year from the balance sheet date, will get discharged by the Company as and when they fall due.

The requirements as stipulated by the provisions of Section 135 are not applicable to the Company.
Accordingly, clauses 3(xx)(a) and 3(xx){b) of the Order are not applicable.

ForBSR & Co. LLP
Chartered Accountants

Firm’s Registration No.:101248W/W-100022

o
Satish Vaidyanathan

Partner

Place: Chennai Membership No.: 217042
Date: 18 May 2023 ICAlI UDIN:23217042BGRWHI7344
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Annexure B to the Independent Auditor’s Report on the financial statements of Sterling
Holiday Resorts Limited for the year ended 31 March 2023

Report on the internal financial controls with reference to the aforesaid financial statements
under Clause (i) of Sub-section 3 of Section 143 of the Act

(Referred to in paragraph 2(A)(g) under ‘Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements’
section of our report of even date)

We have audited the internal financial controls with reference to financial statements of Sterling Holiday Resorts
Limited (“the Company”) as of 31 March 2023 in conjunction with our audit of the financial statements of the
Company for the year ended on that date.

In our opinion, the Company has, in all material respects, adequate internal financial controls with reference to
financial statements and such internal financial controls were operating effectively as at 31 March 2023, based on
the internal financial controls with reference to financial statements criteria established by the Company
considering the essential components of internal control stated in the Guidance Note on Audit of Internal Financial
Controls Over Financial Reporting issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India (the “Guidance Note”).

Management’s and Board of Directors’ Responsibilities for Internal Financial Contrals

The Company’s Management and the Board of Directors are responsible for establishing and maintaining internal
financial controls based on the internal financial controls with reference to financial statements criteria established
by the Company considering the essential components of internal control stated in the Guidance Note. These
responsibilities include the design, implementation and maintenance of adequate internal financial controls that
were operating effectively for ensuring the orderly and efficient conduct of its business, including adherence to
company’s policies, the safeguarding of its assets, the prevention and detection of frauds and errors, the accuracy
and completeness of the accounting records, and the timely preparation of reliable financial information, as
required under the Act.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal financial controls with reference to financial
statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with the Guidance Note and the Standards
on Auditing, prescribed under Section 143(10) of the Act, to the extent applicable to an audit of internal financial
contrals with reference to financial statements. Those Standards and the Guidance Note require that we comply
with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether adequate
internal financial controls with reference to financial statements were established and maintained and if such
controls operated effectively in all material respects.

Our audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the adequacy of the internal financial
controls with reference to financial statements and their operating effectiveness. Our audit of internal financial
controls with reference to financial statements included obtaining an understanding of internal financial controls
with reference to financial statements, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and
evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. The procedures
selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion on the Company’s internal financial controls with reference to financial statements.
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BS R &Co. LLP

Annexure B to the Independent Auditor's Report on the financial statements of Sterling
Holiday Resorts Limited for the year ended 31 March 2023 (Continued)

Meaning of Internal Financial Controls with Reference to Financial Statements

A company's internal financial controls with reference to financial statements is a process designed to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company's internal financial
controls with reference to financial statements include those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the
maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of
the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit
preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts
and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorisations of management and
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of
unauthorised acquisition, use, or disposition of the company's assets that could have a material effect on the
financial statements.

Inherent Limitations of Internal Financial Controls with Reference to Financial Statements

Because of the inherent limitations of internal financial controls with reference to financial statements, including
the possibility of collusion or improper management override of controls, material misstatements due to error or
fraud may occur and not be detected. Also, projections of any evaluation of the internal financial controls with
reference to financial statements to future periods are subject to the risk that the internal financial controls with
reference to financial statements may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of
compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

ForBSR & Co. LLP
Chartered Accountants

Firm’s Registration No.:101248W/W-100022
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Satish Vaidyanathan

Partner
Place: Chennai Membership No.: 217042
Date: 18 May 2023 ICAI UDIN:23217042BGRWHI7344
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Sterling Holiday Resorts Limlted
RBnlance Sheet as at March 31, 2023
(All amonnts in INR lakhs, unless atherwise stated)

As at As at
Note  Mnarch 1, 2023 March 31, 2022
Assels
Non-current assels
Property, Plunt and Equipment 3 89,046.77 93,601.02
Right of use nssets 53 6,369.75 7,076.06
Capital work-in-progress 4 374.37 24041
Intangible assets s 137.62 53459
iblc asscts under lop! 6 116.96 )
Financinl nssets
i. Tnvestmcns 7(a) 1,975.72 1,975.82
ii. Tradc receivables 8(a) 146.82 226.22
iii.Other financinl assels 10 521,06 584.10
Olher fax assels (nel) 1 2,108.58 1,636.40
Deferred acquisition cost 12 8,824.20 8,438.09
Other non-current assets 13 623.54 780.83
Total non-current nssets 110,245.39 115,093.54
Current assets
Invenlorics 14 116.06 7.
Financial nsscts
i. Investments () 3,882.34 2,704,52
it Trade receivables 8(b) 2,861.33 3,129.19
iii. Cush and cosh equivalents 15 3,805.05 646,77
iv. Bank balances other than (iii) above 16 5,308.55 1,072.12
v. Loans 9 4,291.71 4,691.12
vi. Other financial assets 10 227.81 90.43
Deferred acquisition cost 12 876.11 649.34
Other current assets 17 690.09 670.39
Total current nsseis 22,065.08 13,725.60
Totnl asscts 132,310.44 128,819.14
Equity and Uabllities
Equity
Equily share capital 8 2,905.00 2,905.00
Other equity
Reserves and surplus 19 (8,512.19) (16,605.37)
Other reserves 20 51,699.30 54,079.93
Total equity 46,092.17 40,379.56
Linbilitles
Non-current llabllities
Financia! liabilities
i. Bomrowings 21(n) 791.15 2,300.56
ii. Lense liabilities 53 3,552.02 5,078.31
Other financial liabilities 22(s) 23.93 13.49
Provision for employce benefit obligations 23 461.67 380,04
Other non-current liabilities
Contract liubility - Deferred revenue 25 66,901.01 66,921.34
Total non-current Habltties ,729.78 74,691.74
Current liabilitles
Financial liabilities
i. Borrowings 21(b) 1,502.77 2,613.79
ii, Trade payables
a) total outstanding dues of micro enterprises and small enterprises; and 26 183.17 87.88
b) tatal nutslnndlrfg dues of creditors ather than micro enterprises 2% 245007 218170
and small enterprises
iii. Lease liabilities 53 2,072.78 1,097.32
iv. Other financin! liabilities 22(b) 170.75 364.01
Provisions
i. Provision for employce benefit obligations 23 314.54 219.53
ii. Other provisions 27 493.79 1,000.00
Other current liabilities
Contract liability - Deferred revenue 28 5,735.13 4,978.92
Others 29 1,560.49 1,202.69
Total cucrent Habllities 14,488.49 13,745.84
Total labflitles 86,218.27 $8,439.58
Tatal equlty and liabllities 132,310.44 128,819.14
Significant accounting policies 13
The notes referred to wbove from on integral pon of the slotements.
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Sterling Holiday Resorts Limited
Statement of Profit and Loss for the year ended March 31, 2023
(All amownts in INR lakhs, unless otherwise stated)

Income
Revenue from operations
Other income

Total income

Expenses

Cost of materials consumed

Employce benefits expense

Finance costs

Depreciation and amortisation expense
Other expenses

Total expenses
Profit before tax

Tax expense:

Current tax

Deferred tax

Fringe benefit tax related to prior years
Total tax expense

Profit for the year

Other comprehensive income (OCI)
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss

Remeasurements of the defined benefit (asset)/liability
Income tax effect on revaluation of property, plant & equipment

Net other comprehensive income not to be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss
Total comprehensive income for the year

Earnings per share (Face value of INR 10 each)
Basic and diluted earnings per share

Significant accounting policies

The notes referred to above from an integral part of the financial statements.

Note

30
31

32
33
34
35
36

37

56

1.3

Year ended Year ended
March 31, 2023 March 31,2022
32,182.57 24,548.75
2,443.25 1,909.11
34,625.82 26,457.86
1,840.90 1,068.04
10,754.88 7,47043
1,385.81 1,415.09
3,597.37 3,763.91
11,406.08 7,900.39
28,985.04 21,617.86
5,640.78 4,840.00
(100.09) (896.15)
= 72.94
(100.09) (823.21)
5,540.69 4,016.79
(117.07) (83.70)
100.09 896.15
(16.98) 812.45
5,523.71 4,829.24
19.07 13.83

Jor BSR & Co. LLP
Chartered Accountants
Firm Registration Number: 101248 W/W-100022
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Sterling Holidry Resorts Limited
Statement of cash flows for the year ended Mavrch 31, 2023
(All amounts in INR lakhs, unless otherwise stated)

Year ended Year ended

Note March 31, 2023 March 31,2022
Cash flows from operating activities
Profit before tax 5,640.78 4,840.00
Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amortisation 35 3,597.37 3,763.91
Finance costs 34 1,385.81 1,149.28
Income from cancellation of memberships 30 (1,675.34) (4,023.64)
Interest income 31 (581.88) (471.24)
Loss on sile of assets 36 (83.14) 16.45
Stock compensation expense 51 188.90 187.01
Change in fair valuc of financials asscts at fair valuc through profit or Joss 31 (127.70) (63.53)
Capital work in progress written off 36 = 6.99
Tmpairment loss on investment in subsidiarics 36 - 281.08
Liabilitics no longer required written back 31 (171.52) (87.35)
Provision for doubtful advances 36 127.30 29.47
Income from termination of lease contracts 31 (3.05) 3.12
Working capital ndjustments:
Decrease in trade receivables 347.26 408.37
Increase in inventories (44.25) (5.58)
(Increase)/Decrease in other financial assets (74.34) 118.15
(Increase)/Decrcase in other assets 747.85 (664.70)
Increase/(Decrease) in trade payables 535.18 (136.48)
Increase in other liabilities 1,038.96 999.20
Increase/(Decrease) in provision for employee benefit obligations 59.57 (135.27)
Decrease in other financial liabilities (310.12) {65.88)
Cash generated from operating actlvitles 10,597.64 6,149.36
Income taxes paid (472.18) (169.93)
Net cash from operating activities 10,125.46 5,979.43
Cash flows from investing activities
Aquisition of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets (506.39) (623.90)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 2,976.27 12.53
Loans to subsidiaries (net) 9 606.43 (551.93)
Investment in fixed deposits (net) (4,236.43) (523.64)
Investment in mutual funds (1,900.00) (1,000.00)
Proceeds from sale of mutual funds 849.99 -
Interest received 369.60 213.20
Net cash used in investing activities (1,840,53) (2,473.74)
Cash flows from financing activitles
Finance costs paid (828.24) (474.68)
Repayment of borrowings (2,615.43) (1,496.03)
Payment of lease liabilities (1,682.98) (1,850.79)
Proceeds from borrowings - 772.00
Net cash used in financing activities (5,126.65) (3,049.50)
Net fncrease in cash and cash eqnivalents 3,158.28 456.19
Cash and cash equivalents as at April 1, 2022 646.77 190.58
Cash and cash cqulvalents as at March 31, 2023 15 3,805.05 646,77
Significant accounting policies 1.3
The notes refered to above fom an integral pat of the fi ial
Jor BSR & Co. LLP For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of
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Sterllng Hollday Reserts Limited
Statement of Changes in Equity for the year ended March 31, 2023
(Al amownts in INR lakhs, unless otherwise stated)

1) Equlty share capitnl

Note Amount
Balance as at April 1, 2021 2,905.00
Changes in equity share capital during the year I8 -
Balance as at March 31, 2022 2,905.00
Changes in equity share capital during the year 18 -
Balance as nt March 31, 2023 2.905.00

1) Other cquity
Reserves and surplus Other reserves
Share options
Sccurlties General Retained ouistanding  Revaluation
Note premfum reserve enrnings Totn! account reserve ‘Total Grand total

Balance as at April 1, 2021 32,057.94 4.70 (52,601.10)  (20,538.46) 1,592.89 51,403.88 52,996.77 32,458.31
Profit for the year 19 . - 4,016.79 4,016.79 - - - 4,016.79
Stock compensation expense for the yenr 51 - - = = 187.01 - 187.01 187.01
Other comprehensive income for the year 20 - - (83.70) (83.70) £ 896.15 896.15 812,45
Balance as at March 31, 2022 32,057.94 4.70 (48,668.01)  (16,605.37) 1,779.90 5§2,300.03 54,079.93 37,474.56
Profit for the year 19 - - 5,540.69 5,540.69 - - - 5,540.69
Stock compensation expense for the year 51 - = - = 188.90 - 188.90 188.90
Other comprehensive income for the year 20 - - (117.07) (117.07) - 100.09 100.09 (16.98)
Transfer to retain earnings - - 2,669.56 2,669.56 - (2,669.56) {2.669.56) -
Balance us at March 31, 2023 32,057.94 4.70 (40,574.83) (BS1L.19) 1,968.80 49,730.56 51,699.36 43,187.17
Significant accounting policies 13

The notes referred to above from an integral part of the financial statements.
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Sterling Holiday Resorts Limited
Notes to the financial statements as at and for the year ended March 31, 2023

1.2.

1.2.3.

1.2.4.

1.3.

Basis of preparation (contd.)
Current / Non-current classification

All assets and liabilities have been classified as current or non-current as per the Company’s normal
operating cycle and other criteria set out in the Schedule III to the Companies Act, 2013. Based on the
nature of products and services and the time between the acquisition of assets for processing and their
realisation in cash and cash equivalents, the Company has ascertained its operating cycle as twelve
months for the purpose of current and non-current classification of assets and liabilities.

Forcign currency transaction

a) Functional and presentation currency
Itens included in the financial statements of the Company arc measured using the currency of
primary economic environment in which the entity operates (‘the functional currency'). The
financijal statements are presented in Indian rupee (Rs.) which is the Company's functional and
presentation currency.

b) Transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates
at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the scttlcment of
such transactions and from the translation of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies at year end exchange rates are generally recognised in profit or loss.

Significant accounting policies
Revenue recognition

The Company’s business is to sell membership and provide holiday facilities to members for a specified
period each year, over a number of years, for which membership fee is collected either in full upfront,
or on a deferred payment basis.

Under Ind AS 1135, an entity should recognise revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or
services to customers in an amount that reflects the considcration to which the entity expects to be
entitled in exchange for those goods or services. The standard cstablishes a five-step approach to
revenue recognition that includes identifving contracts with customers, identifying performance
obligations, determining transaction prices, allocating transaction prices to performance obligations
and recognising revenues when or as the performance obligations are satisfied.

a) Revenue from membership fees

In respect of sale of membership, the Company determines the transaction price and allocates the
same to each performance obligation in the membership contract based on their respective fair
values. Revenue from membership fee is recognised over the effective membership period as the
performance obligation is fulfilled over the tenure of membership applicable to the respective
member. The revenue to be recognised in future periods is classified as deferred income under the
head ‘other non-current’/ ‘other current liabilitics’. Revenue from offers and other benefits given
to the customer is recognised as and when such benefits are provided to customers.




Sterling Holiday Resorts Limited
Notes to the financial statements as at and for the year ended March 31, 2023

1.3.

Significant accounting policies (contd.)

Revenue recognition (contd.)

b) Revenuc from annual subscription fees

c)

d)

€)

g)

Income in respect of annual subscription fee or annual amenity charges dues from members is
recogniscd only when it is reasonably certain that the ultimate collection will be made. Where the
length of time between rendering services and collection of consideration from the customers is
more than one year, the Company adjusts the consideration for time value of money.

Interest income on membership plans
Interest is recognised as income based on the terms of the contracts entered into with the members
if they are reasonably certain to be recovered from the customers.

Revenue is recognized only when it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the
transaction will flow to the Company. The estimation of such revenues where there is uncertainty
in collection has been made by the Company based on past trends of year-wise cancellation of
memberships and considering factors impacting future collections.

Incremental costs of obtaining and fulfilling a contract

The Company recognises as an asset the incremental costs of obtaining a contract with a customer

if the entity expects to recover those costs. The incremental costs of obtaining a contract are those

costs that an entity incurs to obtain a contract with a customer that it would not have incurred if

the contract had not been obtained. Costs to obtain a contract that would have been incurred

regardless of whether the contract was obtained are recognised as an expense when incurred,

unless those costs are cxplicitly chargeable to the customer regardless of whether the contract is

obtained.

1 the costs incurred in fulfilling a contract with a customer are not within the scope of another

Standard, the Company recognises an asset from the costs incurred to fulfil a contract only if those

costs meet all of the following criteria:

(1) The costs relate directly to a contract or to an anticipated contract that the entity can specifically
identify;

(ii) The costs gencratc or enhance resources of the cntity that will be used in satisfying (or in
continuing to satisfy) performance obligations in the future; and

(iii) The costs are expected to be recovered.

The above costs to obtain and fulfill a contract are amortised over the effective membership period.

Revenue from resorts
Income from resorts comprising of sale of food and beverages, room rentals and other services are
recognised when these are sold and as services are rendered.

Contract balances

(i) Contract assets
A contract asset is the right to consideration in exchange for services rendered to the customer.
If the Company renders services o a customer before the customer pays consideration or before
payment is duc, a contract asset is recognised for the earned consideration that is conditional.

(i1) Contract liabilitics
A contract liability is the obligation to transfer goods or services to a customer for which the
Company has rcceived consideration has received consideration, or for which an amount of
consideration is due from the customer. Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue when the
Company pcrforms under the contract.




Sterling Holiday Resorts Limited
Notes to the financial statements as at and for the year ended March 31, 2023

1.3.

1.3.2.

1.3.3.

Significant accounting policics (contd.)

Income taxes

The income tax expense or bencefit for the period is the tax payable on the current period's taxable
income based on the applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred
tax assets and liabilities attributable to temporary differences and to unused tax losses.

Income tax for the period comprises of current tax and deferred tax. Income tax is recognised in the
statement of profit and loss except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in ‘Other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case the tax is recognised in ‘Other
comprehensive income’ or directly in equity, respectively.

(a) Current Tax:

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the Balance Sheet date, and any adjustments to tax payable in respect of
previous years. Interest income/ expenses and penalties, if any related to income tax are included in
current (ax expense.

Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which
applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions where appropriatc on the
basis of amounts expected o be paid to the tax authorities. The company ofTsets the current tax assets
as against the liability for provision for tax.

(b) Deferred Tax

Deferred tax is recognised using the balance sheet approach. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are
recognised for deductible and taxable temporary differences arising between the tax base of assets and
liabilitics and their carrying amount, except when the deferred tax arises from the initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and affects neither accounting
nor taxable profit or loss at the time of the transaction. Deferred tax asscts are recognised to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary
differences and the carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised. Deferred
taxes on items classified under Other comprehensive income ("OCI') has been recognised in OCI.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent
that it is no Jonger probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the
deferred tax asset to be utilised. Deferred tax assets and liabilitics are measured using substantively
enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which the temporary differences
are expected to be received or settled. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when they relate to
income taxes Jevied by the same taxation authority and the relevant entity intends to scttle its current
tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

Leases
At inception of a contract, the Company assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract

is, or contains, a Icasc if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange of consideration.




Sterling Holiday Resor(s Limited
Notes to the financial statements as at and for the year ended March 31, 2023

1.3.3.

Significant accounting policics (contd.)
Leases (contd.)

As alessee

The Company recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement date. The
right-of-use assct is initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability
adjusted for any lcase payments made at or before the commencement date, plus any initial dircct costs
incurred and an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to restore the
underlying asset or the site on which it is located, less any lease incentives received.

The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method from the
commencement date to the end of the lease term, unless the lease transfers owncrship of the underlying
asset to the Company by the end of the lease term or the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects that the
Company will exercise a purchase option. In that case the right of use asset will be depreciated over
the uscful lifc of the underlying asset, which is determined on the same basis as those of property and
equipment. In addition, the right of use asset is periodically reduced by impairment losses, if any, and
adjusted for certain remeasurements of the lease liability. The lease liability is initially measured at the
present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the commencement date, discounted using the
interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily determined, the Company’s
incremental borrowing rate. Generally, the Company uses its incremental borrowing rate as the discount
rate.

The Company determines its incremental borrowing rate by obtaining interest rates from various
extemnal financing sources and makes certain adjustments to reflect the terms of the lease and type of
the asset leased.

Lcase payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprisc the following:

~ fixed payments, including in substance fixed payments;

— variable Jease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate
as at the commencement date;

— amounts expected to bc payable under a residual value guarantee; and

— the exercise price under a purchase option that the Company is reasonably certain to exercise, lease
payments in an optional renewal period if the Company is reasonably certain to exercise an extension
option, and penalties for early termination of a lease unless the Company is reasonably ccrtain not to
terminate early.

The Jease liability is measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. It is remeasured
when there is a change in future lease payments arising from a change in an index or rate, if there is a
change in the Company’s estimate of the amount expected to be payable under a residual value
guarantce, if the Company changes its assessment of whether it will exercisc a purchase, extension or
termination option or if there is a revised in substance fixed lease payment.

When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying
amount of the right of use asset, or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right of
use asset has been reduced to zero.

The Company presents right of use assets that do not meet the definition of investment property in
‘property, plant and equipment’ and lease liabilitics in ‘loans and borrowings’ in the statcment of
financial position.

Short-term leases and leases of low value assets
The Company has elected not to recognise right of use assets and lease liabilities for leases of low value
assets and short-term leases. The Company recognises the lease payments associated with these leases
as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.




Sterling Holiday Resorts Limited
Notes to the financial statements as at and for the year ended March 31, 2023

13. Significant accounting policies (contd.)
1.3.4. Impairment of assets

Assets are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s
carrying amount excecds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s
fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets arc
grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash inflows which are Jargely
independent of the cash inflows from other assets or group of assets (cash-generating units). Non-
financial assets other than goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of
the impairment at the end of each reporting period.

1.3.5. [Inventories

Inventories comprising of provisions, perishables, beverages and operating supplies are stated at lower
of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined using the weighted average method. The cost
comprises of purchase price, non-refundable taxes and delivery handling cost incurred in bringing the
inventories to their present location and condition. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in
the ordinary course of business, lcss the estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary
to make the sale. Inventorics are written down for slow moving/ non-moving items, wherever
necessary.

1.3.6. Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognized when the Company becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the instruments.

Financial asscts and financial liabilitics are initially measured at fair value, Transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than
financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted
from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
Transaction costs dircctly attributable to the acquisition of financial asscts or financial liabilitics at fair
value through profit or [oss are recognized immediately in statement of profit and loss.

Interest income from other financial assets is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits
will flow to the Company and the amount of income can be measured reliably. Interest income is
accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate
applicable, which is the ratc that exactly discounts cstimated future cash receipts through the expected
life of the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount on initial recognition,

Dividend income from investments is recognized when the sharcholder’s right to receive payment has
been established, provided that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Company and
the amount of income can be measured reliably.

EfTective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortized cost of a financial instrument

and of allocating interest over the relcvant period. The effective interest rate is the ratc that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts/payments (including all fees and points paid or rcceived that

form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the instrument, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carryvipg—-

initi " 1 REg.
amount on initial recognition. f{f\\i\/_; ‘Eif‘L?;\
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Sterling Holiday Resorts Limited
Notes to the financial statements as at and for the year ended March 31, 2023

1.3.

1.3.7.

II.

Significant accounting policies (contd.)
Financial assets

A financial asset is any asset that is:
(a) cash;
(b) an equity instrument of another entity;
(c) a contractual right:
- torecceive cash or another financial asset from another entity; or
- to exchange financial assets or financial liabilitics with another entity undcr conditions that
are potentially favorable to the Company.
(d) a contract that will or may be settled in the Company’s own equity instruments and is:
- anon-derivative for which the Company is or may be obliged to receive a variable number
of the entity’s own equity instruments; or
- aderivative that will or may be settled other than by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash
or another financial asset for a fixed number of the Company’s own equity instruments,

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognized and derecognized on a trade date
basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or salcs of financial assets that require delivery of
assets within the time frame established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

All recognized financial assets are subsequently measured in their cntircty at either amortized cost or
fair value, depending on the classification of the financial assets.

Classification of financial assets:
The Company classifies its financial assets in the following measurement categorics:

(a) Those to be measured subsequently at fair value (either through other comprehensive income,

or through profit or loss), and

(b) Those measured at amortised cost.
The classification depends on the entity's business model for managing the financial assets and the
contractual terms of the cash flows. For assets measured at fair value, gains and Josses will either be
recorded in profit or loss or other comprehensive income. For investments in debt instruments, this will
depend on the business model in which the investment is held. For invesiments in equity instruments.
this will depend on whether the Company has made an irrevocable election at the time of initial
recognition to account for the equity investment at fair value through other comprehensive income.
The Company reclassifies debt investments when and only when its business model for managing those
assets changes,

Measurement of financial asset:

Debt instruments:

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the Company's business model for managing
the asset and the cash flow characteristics of the asset. There are three measurement categories into
which the Company classifies its debt instruments:

Amortised cost:
Assets thatare held for collection of contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent solely
payments of principal and interest are measured at amortised cost, A gain or loss on a debt
investment that is subsequently measured at amortised cost and is not part of a hedging relationship
is recognised in profit or Joss when the asset is derecognised or impaired. Interest income from
these financial assets is included in {inance income using the effective interest rate method.
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1.3.
1.3.7

I1L

Significant accounting policies (contd.)
Financial assets (contd.)

ii. Fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI):

Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows and for selling the financial assets,
where the assets' cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest, are measured at
fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI), Movements in the carrying amount are
taken through OCI, except for the recognition of impairment gains or losses, intcrest revenue and
forcign exchange gains and losses which are recognised in profit and loss. When the financial asset
is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss previously recogniscd in OCI is reclassified from
equity to profit or loss and recognised in other gains/ (losscs). Interest income from thesc financial
assets is included in other income using the effective interest rate method.

iii. Fair value through profit or loss:
Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised cost or FVOCI are measured at fair value through
profit or loss. A gain or loss on a debt investment that is subsequently mecasured at fair value
through profit or loss and is not part of a hedging relationship is recognised in profit or loss and
presented net in the statement of profit and loss within other gains/(losses) in the period in which
it ariscs. Interest income from thesc financial assets is included in other income.

Equity instruments:

The Company subsequently measures all equity investments other than investment in subsidiaries and
associates, at fair value. Where the Company's management has elected to present fair value gains and
losses on equity investments in other comprehensive income, there is no subsequent reclassification of
fair value gains and losses to profit or loss. Dividends from such investments are recognised in profit
or loss as other income when the Company's right to receive payments is established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are recognised in other
gain/(losses) in the statement of profit and loss. Impairment losses (and reversal of impairment losses)
on equity investments measured at FVOCI are not reported separately from other changes in fair value.

Impairment of financial assets

The Company assesses on a forward-looking basis the expected credit loss associated with its assets
carried at amortised cost and FVOCI debt instruments. The impairment mcthedology applied depends
on whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk. Note 39 details how the Company
determines whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk.

For trade receivables, the Company applies the simplificd approach permitted by Ind AS 109 Financial
Instruments, which requires expected lifetime losses to be recognised {rom initial recognition of the
receivables.

At each reporting date, the Company assesses whether financial assets carried at amortised cost and
debt securities at FVOCI are credit-impaired. A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have
occurred.

Lifetime expected credit losses are the expected credit losses that result from all possible default events
over the expected life of a financial instrument. In all cases, the maximum period considered when
estimating expected credit losses is the maximum contractual period over which the Company is
cxposed to credit risk.
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1.3.
13.7.

Iv.

1.3.8.

Significant accounting policics (contd.)
Financial assets (contd.)

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial assct has increased significantly since initial
recognition and when estimating expected credit losses, the Company considers rcasonable and
supportable information that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort. This includes both
quantitative and qualitative information and analysis, based on the Company’s historical cxpericnce
and informed credit assessment and including forward-looking information,

De-recognition of financial assets:
A financial asset is derecognised only when
i, The Company has transferred the rights to receive cash flows from the financial asset or
ii. retains the contractual nghts to receive the cash flows of the financial asset but assumes a
contractual obligation to pay the cash flows to onc or more recipients,

Where the entity has transferred an asset, the Company cvaluates whether it has transferrcd
substantially all risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset. In such cases, the financial asset
is derecognised. Where the entity has not transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership
of the financial asset, the financial asset is not derecognised.

Where the entity has neither transferred a financial assct nor retains substantially all risks and rewards
of ownership of the financial asset, the financial asset is derecognised if the Company has not retained
control of the financial asset. Where the Company rctains control of the financial assct, thc asset is
continued to be recognised to the extent of continuing involvement in the financial asset.

Financial liabilities

A financial liability is any hability (hat is:
(a) 2 contractual obligation :
- to deliver cash or another financial asset to another entity: or
- to exchange financial assets or financial liabilities with another entity under conditions that are
potentially unfavorable 1o the Company; or
(b) a contract that will or may be settled in the Company’s own equity instruments and is:
- anon-derivative for which the Company is or may be obliged to deliver a variable number of
the Company’s own equity instruments; or
- aderivative that will or may be settled other than by the exchange of 2 fixed amount of cash or
another financial asset for a fixed number of the Company’s own equity instruments. For this
purpose, rights, options or warrants to acquire a fixed number of the entity’s own cquity
instruments for a fixed amount of any currency are equity instruments if the Company offers
the rights, options or warrants pro rata to all of its existing owners of the same class of its own
non-derivative equity instruments. Apart from the aforesaid, the equity conversion option
embedded in a convertible bond denominated in forcign currency to acquire a fixed number of
the Company's own equity instruments is an equity instrument if the exercise price is fixed in
any currency.

yesy
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1.3. Significant accounting policics (contd.)
1.3.8 Financial liabilities (contd.)

I. Measurcment of financial liabilities:
Financial liabilities that are not held-for-trading and are not designated as at FVTPL are measured at
amortised cost at the cnd of subsequent accounting periods. The carrying amounts of financial liabilitics
that are subsequently measured at amortised cost are determined based on the effective interest method.
Interest expense that is not capitalized as part of costs of an asset is included under ‘Financc costs”.

II. Decrecognition of financial liabilities

The Company derecognizes financial liabilities when, and only when, the Company’s obligations arc
discharged, cancelled or have expired. An exchange with a lender of debt instruments with substantially
different terms is accounied for as an extinguishment of the original financial liability and the
recognition of a new financial liability. Similarly, a substantial modification of the terms of an existing
financial liability (whether or not attributable to the financial difficulty of the debtor) is accounted for
as an extinguishment of the original financial liability and the recognition of a new financial liability.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognized and the
consideration paid and payable is recognized in statement of profit and loss.

1.3.9. Interest income

Interest income from debt instruments is recognised using the cffective interest rate method. The
cflective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the
cxpected life of the financial asset to the gross carrying amount of a financial assct. When calculating
the cffective interest rate, the Company estimates the expected cash flows by considering all the
contractual terms of the financial instrument (for example, prepayment, extension, call and similar
options) but does not consider the expected credit losses.

1.3.10. Property, plant and equipment
Recognition and measurement

The Company adopts the cost measurement approach for property, plant and equipment other than
frechold and leaschold land.

Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.
Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a scparate asset, as
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow
to the Company and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of any
component accounted for as a separate asset is derecognised when replaced. All other repairs and
maintenance are charged to profit or loss during the reporting period in which they are incurred.

The Company follows revaluation model for measurement of frechold and leaschold land. Freehold
and leasehold land will be recognised at fair value based on periodic, at Jeast triennial, valuations done
by external independent valuers, less subsequent depreciation of leaschold land. Increase in the carrying
amount arising on revalvation of land are recognised, net of tax, in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in reserves in shareholders' equity.

Fair value of land is determined using the market comparable method, i.e., the valuations performed by
the valuer are based on active market sale prices, adjusted for difference in the nature, location or o A
condition of the specific property. Refer Note 52
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1.3.

1.3.10

Significant accounting policies (contd.)
Property, plant and equipment (contd.)

Depreciation methods, estimated uscful lives and residual valuc:

Based on technical evaluation cammied out, depreciation on property, plant and cquipment is provided,
on a pro-rata basis, on Straight Line Method (SLM) over the estimated uscful lives of the assets, which
cquates to the useful lives prescribed under Schedule 11 to the Companies Act, 2013, as follows:

Asset class Useful life (in years)
Building 60

Plant and machinery 15
Furniture and fixtures — general 10
Fumiture and fixtures — others 8

Office equipment 5
Computer equipment — Scrvers & Network 6
Computer equipment — Desktop, laptop and end-user items 3

Electrical installations 10

Vehicles 8

Premium paid for acquiring leaschold land is amortised over the period of lease. Assets constructed on
leasehold land/lcaschold improvements arc amortised over the primary period of lease or its estimated
useful life, whichever is lower.

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each
reporting period. Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying
amount. These are included in profit or Joss within other gains/ (losses).

1.3.11. Intangible assets

Intangible assets are stated at acquisition cost, net of accumulated amortisation and accumulated
impairment Josses, if any. Intangible assets are amortised on a straight-line basis over their estimated
useful lives. The amortisation period and the amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each
financial year. If the expected uscful Jife of the asset is significantly different from previous cstimates,
the amortisation period is changed accordingly.

Computer software and other intangibles are amortised on a straight-line basis over a period of 5 years.
Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of an intangible assct arc determined as the

difference between the net disposal proceeds and the camrying amount of the asset and recognised as
income or expense in the Statement of Profit and Loss.
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1.3. Significant accounting policies (contd.)

1.3.12. Provisions (other than fer employee benefits)

Provisions are recognised when the entity has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of
a past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required
to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. Provisions
are measured at the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the present obligation at the
Balance Sheet date. Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses. A provision is recognized
if the likehhood of an outflow with respect to any one item included in the samc class of obligations is
more probable than not. Provisions are measured at the present value of management's best estimate
of the expenditure require to settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting period.

1.3.13. Employee benefits

a)

b)

<)

Defined contribution plan

Contribution towards provident fund for employees is made to the regulatory authoritics, where the
Company has no further obligations. Such benefits are classified as Defined Contribution Plan as
the Company does not carry any further obligations, apart from the contributions made on a

monthly basis.

Defined benefit plan

The Company provides for gratuity, a defined benefit plan (the “Gratuity Plan™) covering eligible
employcees in accordance with the Payment of Gratuity Act, 1972. The Gratuity Plan provides a
lump sum payrent to vested employees at retirement, death, incapacitation or termination of
employment, of an amount based on the respective employee’s salary and the tenure of
employment. The Company’s liability is actuarially determined (using the Projected Unit Credit
method) by an independent actuary at the end of each year. Remeasurement gains and losses arising
from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions are recognised in the period in
which they occur, directly in other comprehensive income. The Group Gratuity plan is funded with
Life Insurance Corporation of India, for all of the employees, under New Group Gratuity Cash
Accumulation Plan.

Compensated absences

Accumulated compensated absences, which arc expected to be availed or encashed within 12
months from the end of the year are treated as short-term employee benefits. The obligation towards
the same is measured at the expected cost of accumulating compensated absences as the additional
amount expccted to be paid as a result of the unused entitlement as at the year end.

Accumulated compensated absences, which are expected to be availed or encashed beyond 12
months from the end of the year are treated as other Jong-term employee benefits. The Company’s
liability is actuarially determined (using the Projected Unit Credit method) by an independent
actuary at the end of each year. Actuarial losses/gains are recognised in the Statement of Profit and
Loss in the year in which they arise.
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1.3. Significant accounting policics (contd.)
1.3.13. Employce benefits (contd.)

d) Share based payments
Employee options

The fair value of options granted is rccognised as an employee benefits expense with a
corresponding increase in equity. The total amount to be expensed is determined by reference to
the fair value of the options granted:

» including any market performance conditions (e.g., the entity's share price)

» excluding the impact of any service and non-market performance vesting conditions (e.g.
profitability, sales growth targets and remaining an employec of the cntity over a specified
time period), and

« including the impact of any non-vesting conditions (c.g. the requirement for employees to save
or holdings shares for a specific period of time).

The total expense is recognised over the vesting period, which is the period over which all of the
specified vesting conditions are to be satisficd. At the end of each period, the entity reviscs its
cstimates of the number of options that are expected to vest based on the non-market vesting and
scrvice conditions. It recognises the impact of the revision to original estimates, if any, in profit or
loss, with a corresponding adjustment to equity.

1.3.14. Earnings per share

a) Basic earnings per share
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing:
e the profit attributable to owners of the Company
e by the weighted average number of equity shares outstanding during the financial year,
adjusted for bonus ¢lements in equity shares issued during the year and excluding treasury
shares (Refer Note S6).

b) Dilutcd earnings per share
Diluted eamings per share adjusts the figurcs used in the determination of basic eamings per share
to take into account:
e the after-income tax effect of interest and other financing costs associated with dilutive
potential equity shares, and
o the weighted average number of additional equity shares that would have been outstanding
assuming the conversion of all dilutive potential equity shares.

1.3.15. Rounding of amounts

All amounts disclosed in the financial statements and notes have been rounded off and presented in
lakhs with decimals as per the requirement of Schedule 111, unless otherwise stated.

2. Critical estimates and judgements:
In preparing these financial statements, management has made judgements, estimates and assu mp{/ : '?;-ﬁ\
tha( affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, ;IQé(}f(!c ':‘\
and expenses, Actual results may differ from these estimates. KCD CHERN Al) :’_’)
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Sterling Holiday Resorts Limited
Notes to the financial statements as at and for the year ended March 31, 2023

1.3.

Significant accounting policies (contd.)

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting
estimates are recognised prospectively.

Judgements
Information about judgements made in applying accounting policies that have the most significant
effects on the amounts recognised in the financial statements is included in the following notes:

Note 30 — Revenue — Recognition of offer revenue
Note 53 — Leasces - whether the Company is reasonably certain to exercise extension options

Assumptions and estimation uncertaintics

Information about assumptions and estimation uncertainties at the reporting date that have a significant
tisk of resulting in a matcrial adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next
financial year is included in the following notes:

The arcas involving critical estimate or judgement are:

Note 23 - Provision for employee benefit obligations: Key actuarial assumptions

Note 30 - Recognition of revenue including provision for cancellation of contracts

Note 44 - 46 - Recognition and measurement of provisions and contingencics: kcy assumptions about
the likelihood and magnitude of an outflow of resources.

Note 52 - Valuation of freehold and leasehold land

Note 53 - Leases: Discount rate

Note 7 - Impairment of investments

Note 8 - Mcasurement of ECL allowance on trade receivables

Note 4 - Determining the useful life of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets

Note 24 - recoguition of deferred tax assets: availability of future taxable profit against which
deductible temporary differences and tax losses carried forward can be utilised;

Note 51 — Share based payments: Key assumptions

Recent pronouncements

Ministry of Corporate Affairs (“MCA”) notifies new standard or amendments to the existing standards
under Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules as issued from time to time, On March 31, 2023,
MCA amended the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 20(5 by issuing the Companies
(Indian Accounting Standards) Amendment Rules, 2023, applicable from Aprl 1, 2023, as below:

(i) Ind AS 1 - Presentation of Financial Statements
The amendments require companies to disclose their material accounting policies rather than their
significant accounting policies. Accounting policy information, together with other information, is
material when it can reasonably be expected to influence decisions of primary users of general purpose
financial statements. The Group does not expect this amendment to have any significant impact in its
financial statements.

(ii) Ind AS 12 - Income Taxes
The amendments clarify how companies account for deferred tax on transactions such as leases and
decommissioning obligations. The amendments narrowed the scope of the recognition exemption in
paragraphs 15 and 24 of Ind AS 12 (recognition excmption) so that it no longer applics to tramactwm -
that, on initial recognition, give rise lo equal taxable and deductible temporary differences. The Qm J} £o '} \

is evaluating the impact, if any, in its financial statements. ; e ¢ ".\
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Sterling Holiday Resorts Limited
Notes to the financial statements as at and for the year ended March 31, 2023

(iii) Ind AS 8 - Accounting Policics, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors
The quantum of revenue deferred due to uncertainity of collection is computed based on past trends of
year-wise cancellation of memberships and considering factors impacting future collections.

Customer unexercised rights. The Company considers the cxpected Customers unexercised rights,
while determining the effective membership period over which the membership fee needs to be
recognised. This customer unexercised right is computed based on past trend of utilisation of
membership by the customer. The amendments will help entities to distinguish between accounting
policies and accounting estimates. The definition of a change in accounting estimatcs has been replaced
with a definition of accounting estimates. Under the new definition, accounting estimates are “monetary
amounts in financial statements that are subject to measurement uncertainty”. Entities develop
accounting estimates if accounting policies require items in financial statements to be measured in a
way that involves measurement uncertainty. The Group does not expect this amendment to have any
significant impact in its financial statements.

— <This space is intentionally left blank>
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Sterling Holiday Resorts Limlted
Nnlcs to the finaneial statements as at and for the vear ended March 31, 2023
{All amounts in INR lakhs, unless othenvise stated)

7(a)

T(b)

()

8(b)

Non-current Investments

Unq d Egnity In at Cost ({ully paid)

In Equity lavestment of subsidiaries:

49,000 (March 3!, 2022: 49,000) equity shares of INR 10 each in Sterling Holidays (Ooty) Limited

49,000 (March 31, 2022: 49,000) couity shares of INR 10 each in Sterling Holiday Resorts (Kodaikanal) Limited
147,578 (March 31, 2022: 147,578) equity shares of INR 100 each in Nnture Trails Resoris Private Limited

Unquoted Equlty investments 2t EVTPL (Tully paid)

In Equlity [nvestment of other enfltles:

100,000 (March 31, 2022: 100,000 ) ¢quity shares of Sterling Holiday Finvest Limited

100,000 (March 31, 2022; 100,000} cquity shares of Sterling Securities & Futures Limited
520,000 (March 31, 2022: 520,000) equity shares of Sterling Resorts FHlome Finance Limited
700,000 (March 31, 2022: 700,000) equity shares of Sterling Holiday Financial Services Limited
Investment {n no. of teak units:

28,765 (March 31, 2022: 28,765) cquity shares of Stetling Trec-Magnum (India} Limited

Quoted Equity investments ut FVTPL (fully pald)
1,100 (March 31, 2022: 1,100) equity shares of INR 10 each in Tourism Finance Corporation of India Limited
Total

Aggregate amount of quoted investments and market value thereof
Aggregate value of unquoted investments
Aggregate amount of impairment in the value of investments

Asat As at
Mnarch 31,2023  March 31,2022
7348 7348
116.6& 116.68
1,785.01 1,785.01
0.55 0.65
|,978.72 1,975.62
it =L
.55 0.65
1975.17 1.975.17
1,426.08 1,426.08

Note: During the previous year, as a resullt of impact of COVID 19, the Company had performed an impairment analysis on its non-current investments, Basis the approved business plan,
projected cashflows from opcrations of the subsidiaries, the Company has identified an impairment of INR 281.08 lakhs towards investment in Nature Trails Resorts Private Limiled. The

F loss was ¥
Company considers no impairment loss/reversals required to be made on the non-current investments.

Current Invesiments

Quoted investments et FVTPL

Investements in Mutual funds

10,985 (March 31, 2022: 10,985) units of TATA Floater Fund - Growth

Nil (March 31, 2022: 16,58,099} units of IDFC Low Duration Fund - Reg - Growth

140,560 (March 31, 2022: 140,650) units of ABSL Money Manager Fund - Reg - Growth
11,559 (Merch 31, 2022: 11,559) units of Kotak Moncy Market - Reg - Growth

1,556,358 (March 31, 2022: 783,690) units of ABSL Short Tern Fund - Reg - Growth

822,293 (March 31, 2022: 822,293) units of Kotak Bond Fund - Reg - Growth

Nil (March 31, 2022: 1,340,082) units of HDFC Corporate Bond Fund - Reg - Growth

235,831 (March 31, 2022: Nil) units of Kotak Bond Short Fund - Reg - Growth

377.451 (March 31, 2022: Nil) units of Kotak Banking and PSU Debt Fund - Reg - Growth
595,045 (March 31, 2022: Nil) units of Nippon India Banking and PSU Debt Fund - Reg - Growih
2,912 (March 31, 2022: Nil) units of Nippon India Money Market Fund - Reg - Growth

108,136 (March 31, 2022: Nil) units of ABSLCurporate Bond Fund - Reg - Growth-Short Term Fund
375,130 (March 31, 2022; Nil} units of ICICI Prudential Banking and PSU Debt Fund
1,244,247 (March 31, 2022: Nil) units of ICICI Prudential Corporate Bond Fund - Reg - Growth
44,569 (March 31, 2022: Nil) units of ICICI Prudential Savings Fund

809,641 (March 31, 2022: Nil) units of ICICI Prudential Short Term Fund

Total

Aggregatc amount of quoted investments and market value thereof

Trade receivables non—<urrent
Considered good - Unsecured

Trade receivables - current
Considered good - Unsecured
Credit impaired

Less: Loss allowance (refer note 39)
Total

Current portion

Non-cument portion

Of the above, trade reccivables from related parties are as below:
Total trade reccivables from related parties (Refer nole 43)
Less: Loss allownnce

Net trade recelvables from retated partles

d in of profit and loss during the previous year. During the year, the Company had performed impairment analysis, based on the analysis, the

Asat Asat
March 31,2023 March 31, 2022
367.75 35116
- 51994
440.27 416.71
439.59 41617
624.13 300.15
362.86 350,19
- 350.20
104.13 -
207.90 -
104.13 -
102.27 .
102.06 -
10333 =
310.7i -
203.90 -
409.3] -
3 HR2 2.704.52
3,882.34 2,704.52
146.82 226.22
2,861.33 3,129.19
65.30 109.28
2,926.63 3,238.47
(65.30) (109.28)
2,861.33 3,129.19
2,861.33
146.82 22622
14.95 846
14.95 846

From an accounting perspective, revenue is recognised only when it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the Company, If a member is considered
as & overdue member, he is not allowed fo use the benefits of membership until the overdue amount is regularised or Rully paid in that relevant pesiod. The company proceeds to cvaluate

concellation of such contracts and adjusts such overdue customer's unbilled receivables against deferred income.




Sterting Holiday Resorts Limited

Notes to the financial statements a9 at and for the year ended March 31, 2023
(All amonnts in INR lakhs, unless otherwise stared)

8(b) Trade recelvables (contd.)
Agelng of tradc recelvahles

As at Msrch 31, 2022

Undisputed Trade Receivables
Considered good

Significant increase in credit risk
Credit impaired

Disputed Trade Recefvables
Considered good

Significant increase in credit risk
Credit impaired

As at March 31, 2023

Undisputed Trade Recefvables
Considered good

Significant increase in credit risk
Credit impoired

Disputed Trade Receivables
Considered good

Significant increase in credit risk
Credit impaired

9 Loans
Lonns to related partics

Loans to subsidiaries - Unsccured,

Outstanding far Fallewing perinds from due date of pavment

d good (Refer note 43)

Interest accrued an loans to subsidiaries ( Refer note 43)

Other loans
Employee advances
Tota)

10 Other financisl sssety
Security deposits
Other receivables

Bank deposits with more than 12 months original maturity

Total

11  Other tax assets (net)

TDS receivable net of provision for lax

12 Deferred acquisition cost*

Less than 6 More than 3
Unbhilled dues months 6 months - 1 year 1-2 years 2 -3 years years Total
1,889.29 665.02 299.33 265.21 74.43 $2.83 3.246.11
0.50 3.28 488 3574 7.82 57.07 109.29
1.889.79 66839 321 3on.gs §2.25 109,90 135540
Outstanding for follnwlng periods from due date of payment
Less than 6 More than 3
Unbilled dues months 6 months -  year 1-2 years 2-3 years years Tatat
2,322.67 348.35 94.08 77.83 41,96 58.00 2,942 85
0.82 275 0.09 11.66 26.93 23.04 6530
2,321.49 351.10 0404 3,49 68,89 HLO4 J.00R,15
Asat As at
March 31, 2023 Mareh 31, 2022
Current Non current Current Non current
3,361.89 - 3,968.32 -
928.50 - 716.20
732 - .60 -
429771 - 469102 -
As at As nt
March 31, 2023 Mareh 31, 2022
Current Non current Current Non current
44.37 521.06 - 584.10
65.05 - 7138 -
118.39 - 18.05 -
227.81 521.06 90.43 SN
Asal Asal
March 31.2023  March 31, 2022
2,108.58 1,636.40
As at As nt
Masch 31, 2023 March 31, 2022
Current Non current Current Non current
876.114 8,824.20 649.34 8,438.09

*Deferred ncquisition cost telates to incremental costs of acquisition of the member that are deferred over the period of effective membership. Incremental costs are thuse that would not have
been incurred if the contract was not obtained. Also Refer note 53

13 Other non-current assets
Prepaid expenses

Receivable on sale of fixed assets (Refer note 46(b))

Capital advances
~ Considered good
- Considered doubiful

- Less: Loss allowance

Total

Asat As at

March 31, 2023 March 31, 2022
21712 148.06

597.59 59159

423 3518

- 230

423 3748
- (2.30)

4.23 35.18

623.54 780.83




Sterling Haliday Resorts Limited
Notes to the financial statements as at and for the year ended March 31. 2023
(Al amounts in INR lakhs, unless othenvise stated)

14  [nventorics
Food and beverages
Operating supplics
Total

15 Cash and cash equivalents
Balances with banks on current account
Cash on hand
Total

16 Bank baiances other than eash and cash cquivalents
Deposits with original matuity of more than 3 months but less than 12 months

17  Other current nssets
Prepaid expenses
Advances to vendors

Considered good
Considered doubtful

Less: Lass allowance

Balances with government authorities
Total

<This space is intentionally left blank>

5220 36.53
63.86 3519
116.06 71,72
3,784.11 634.07
20.94 12,70
2,805.05 46.77
As ut As at
March 31,2023 Mareh 31,2002
5.308.55 1,072.12
24981 200.04
223.62 96.52
23.05 38.12
246.67 134.64
{23.05) (38.12)
223.62 96.52
216.66 371483
[ 70,39
AN BE
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Sterling Holiday Resorts Limited
Notes to the financial statements as at and for the vear ended March 31,2023
(Al amounts in INR lakhs, unless othervise stated)

18 Equity share capital

Authorised March 31.2023  Macch 31, 2022
400 lakhs (March 31, 2022: 400 lakhs) equity sharcs of Rs.10 cach 4,000.00 4,000.00
Issued, subscribed and paid-up

290.50 lakhs (March 31, 2022: 290.50 lakhs) equity shares of Rs.10 each 2,905.00 2.905.00
As at March 31, 2023 2,905.00 2,905.00

Reconclliation of shares outstanding at the beginning and at the end of the year

March 31, 2023 March 31, 2022
Number Amaount Number Amount
in lakhs in lakhs in lakhs in lakhs
Equity shares
At the commencement of the year 290.50 2,905.00 290.50 2,905.00
Shares issucd during the year - - - -
At the end of the year 290.50 2,905.00 290.50 2,905.00

All issued shares are fully paid up.
Rights, preferences and restrictions attached to equity shares

The Company has a single class of equity shares. Accordingly, all equity shares rank equally with regard to dividends and share in the Company's residual
assets on winding up. The equity shares are entitled to receive dividend as declared from time to time. The dividend proposed, if any, by the Board of
Directors is subject to the approval of the Sharcholders in the ensuing Annual General Meeting, except in case of interim dividend. The voting rights of an
cquity sharcholder are in proportion to his/its share of the paid-up equity share capital of the Company. On winding up of the Company, the holders of equity
shares will be entitled to receive the residual assets of the Company, in proportion to the numbcr of equity shares held.

Shares held by holding/ultimate holding company (i.e., parent of the Group) and/or their subsidiarics/associates

March 31, 2023 March 31, 2022
Number Amount Number Amount
in lakhs in lakhs in lakhs in lakhs
Equity shares of INR 10 each held by the holding company 290.50 2,905.00 290.50 2,905.00
Particulars of sharcholders holding more than 5% shares of a class of shares
March 31, 2023 March 31,2022
Number % of total shares Number % of total shares
in lakhs in class in lakhs ) in class
Equity shares of Rs. 10 each held by
Thomas Cook (India) Limited and its nominees (holding company) 290.50 100% 290.50 100%

<This space is intentionally left blank>




Sterling Hollday Resorts Limited
Notcs to the financial statements as at and for the year ended March 31, 2023
(All amounts in INR lakhs, unless otherwise stated)

As at As at
March 31, 2023 March 31, 2022

19 Other cquity - Reserves and surplus

Securities premium 32,057.94 32,057.94
General reserve 4.70 4.70
Retained eamnings (40,574.83) (48,668.01)
Total (8,512.19) (16,60537)

Movement in reserves and surplus balances is as follows :
8) Securities premium

Opening balance 32,057.94 32.057.94
Additions during the year = =
Closing balance 32,057.94 32,057.94

b) General reserve

Opening balance 4.70 4.70
Additions during the year - -
Closing balance 4.70 4.70

¢) Retained carnings

Opening balance (48.668.01) (52,601.10)
Profit for the year 5,540.69 4,016.79
ltems of other comprehensive income recognised directly in retained earnings

Actuarial (loss) (117.07) (83.70)
Revaluation reserve 2,669.56 -
Clasing balance (40.574.83) (48.668.01)

Sccurities premium
Sccurities premium reserve is used to record the premium on issue of shares. The reserve can be utilised only for limited purposes such as issuance of
bonus shares in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act,2013

General reserve

Under the erstwhile Companies Act 1956, general reserve was created through an annual teansfer of net income at a specified percentage in accordance
with applicable regulations. The purpose of these transfers was to ensure that if a dividend distribution in a given year is more than 10% of the paid-up
capital of the Company for that year, then the total dividend distribution is less than the total distributable results for that year. Consequent to
introduction of Companics Act 2013, the requirement to mandatorily transfer a specified percentage of the net profit to general reserve has been
withdrawn. However, the amount previously transferred to the general reserve can be utilised only in accordance with the specific requirements of
Companies Act, 2013.

Retained earnings

Retained earnings represents the amount of accumulated earnings of the Company 4o
Ly oy
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\Cf OHCHNAY )~
E 3/
N \7ZN _,/:{.‘/

25 5
SED
5w ©




Sterling Holiday Resorts Limited
Notes to the financial statements as at and for the year ended March 31, 2023
(ANl amounts in INR lakhs, unless otherwise stated)

20 Other reserves
Other comprehensive income

Share options  Remeasurement
outstanding  of defined benefit  Revaluation

account plans Reserve Total
As at April 1, 2021 1,592.89 - 5§1,403.88 52,996.77
Additions during the year 187.01 (83.70) - 103.31
Income tax effect on revaluation of property, plant & equipment - - 896.15 896.15
Transferred to retained eamings - §3.70 - 83.70
As at March 31, 2022 1,779.90 - 52,300.03 54,079.93
Additions during (he ycar 188.90 (117.07) - 71.83
Income tax effect on revaluation of property, plant & equipment - - 100.09 100.09
Transferred to retained eamings - 117.07 (2,669.56) (2,552.49)
As at March 31, 2023 1,968.80 - 49,730.56 51,699.36

Share options outstanding account

Share options outstanding account is used for recognising the grant date fair value of the share options issued to the employees under the Employee
Share Option Scheme in addition to the fair value of the options issued to the employces of the Company by the holding company (Thomas Cook
(India) Limited) as per Ind AS 102.

Revzluation reserve

The Company had changed its accounting policy on measurement of land from cost model to revaluation model w.e.f. April 1, 2018. Land was
recognized at fair value based on valuations by external independent valuers performed on April 1, 2018 and subsequently remeasured on March 31,
2021. Consequently, any increase in the carrying amount arising on revaluation of land are recognized, net of tax, in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in other reserves in sharcholders' equity. Refer Note 52.

Remeasurement of defincd benefit plans
Remeasurement of defined benefit plans represents remeasurement of the net defined benefit liabilitics comprise of actuarial gain / loss.

Movement in revaluation reserve Amount
As at March 31, 2021 51,403.88
Revaluation surplus during the yecar -
Income tax effect 896.15
As at March 31, 2022 52,300.03
Revaluation surplus during the year -
Transfer to retained earnings (2,669.56)
Income tax effect 100.09
As at March 31, 2023 49,730.56

<This space is intentionally left blank>




Sterling Holiday Resorts Limited
Notes to the financial statements as at and for the year eaded March 31, 2021
(Al amounts in INR lakhs, uniess othenvise stateit)

21(a)

21(b)

(i)

(lif)

(iv)
(¥}

Asal As al
Non-current borrowings March 31,2023 March 21, 2022
Term loan
- From banks

Secured bank loans (Refer note (i) below) 760.85 2.170.26
Optionally convertible cumulative redeemable preference shares (OCCRPS) (Refer note (i) below) 30.30 30.30
Total 791.15 25100‘56
Current borrowings
Lonns from banks
Current portion of sccured bank loans 1,492.17 1.653.19
Intcrest accrued but not due on borrowings 15.60 26.60
Sceured short-term working capital loan (Refer note (iii) below) - 934,00
Totsl 150737 1.611.79
Notes:
Secured bank loans

Loan amounting to Rs. 4,950,00 lakhs (nct of processing fces) from HDFC Bank Limited is sccured by way of hypothecation of movable fixed asscts acquired through the term loan at resorts
namely Mussooric, Manali, Darjecling. Ooty Fern Hill and Kodai Valley View and by way of pledge of immavable properties at Mussoorie and Yercaud. The loun is repayable in 24 equal
quarterly instalments including @ moratorium of 12 moenths from the date of loan (January 4, 2016) along with interest rate of 11% p.a. The loan amount outstanding as a1 year end is Rs,
529.89 lakhs (March 31, 2022: Rs. 1,355.69 lakhs). Entire loan outstanding is repayable within | year from the balance sheet date.

Loan amounting to Rs 350 lukhs from HDFC Bank Limited is repayable in 20 quarterly instalments commencing from February 25, 2018 along with an interest rate of §.95% p.a. linked to |
year MCLR with onnual reset. The loen is secured by way of exclusive charge on the movable fixed assets financed out of the loan and further secured by extension of exisling mortgage at
Mussooric and negative lien on property at Yercaud. The loan amount outstanding as at year end is Rs. 24.83 lakhs (March 31, 2022: Rs. 95 lakhs).Entire loan oulstanding is repayable within
I year from the balance sheet date.

Loan amounting to Rs. 16.77 lakhs from HDFC Bank Limited is secured by way of hypothecation of underlying vehicle is repuyable in 36 eq g8
moratorium of 3 months commencing from July 1, 2020 along with on interest rate of 10.00% p.a.. The loan amount outstanding as at year end is Rs. 2.51 lakhs (March 31, 2022: Rs. 8.87
lakhs).Entire loan outstanding is repayable within 1 year from the balance sheet date.

Loan omounting to Rs. 738 lakhs from HDFC Bank Limited availed in October 2020 is repayable in 48 querierly instalments including o moratorium of 12 months from the date of loan along
with an interest rate of 825% p.a.. The loan is secured by way of exclusive charge on the movable fixed assets financed out of the loan and further secured by cxtension of existing morigage
at Mussoric and negative lien of the perperty at Yercaud. The loan amount outstanding as at year end is Rs. 389.50 lakhs (March 31, 2022: Rs, 635.50 lakhs). Out of this loan, Rs, 246,00
lakhs (March 31, 2022: Rs. 246.00 lakhs) is repayable within 1 year and the balance amount of Rs. 143.50 lakhs (March 31, 2022: Rs. 389.50 takhs) is repayable after 1 year from the balance
sheet date.

Loan amounting to Rs. 155 lakhs from HDFC Bank Limited availed in December 2020 is repayable in 48 quartcrly instalments including a moratorium of 12 months from the date of loan
along with an interest rate of 8.25% p.a.. The loan is secured by way of exclusive charge on the movable fixed assets financed out of the loan and further secured hy extension of existing
mortgage at Mussoric and negative lien of the perperty at Yercaud. The loan amount outstanding as at year end is Rs. 90.41 lakhs (March 31, 2022: Rs. 142.08 fakhs). Qut of this loan. Rs.
51.66 lakhs (March 31, 2022: 51.67) is repayable within 1 year and the balance amount of Rs. 38.75 [akhs (March 31. 2022: Rs, 90.41 lakhs) is repayable after I ycar from the halance sheet
date.

Loan amounting to Rs. 1,287 lakhs (nct of processing fees) from HDFC Limited availed in March 2021 is repayablc in 36 quarterly instalments from the date of loan along with an interest rate
of 11% p.a.. The Joan is secured by way of resort properties situated ot Kodai Lake View. The loan amount outstanding os ot year end is Rs. 479.12 lakhs (March 31, 2022: 906,72 lakhs),
Entire loan outstanding is repayable within | year from the balance sheet date,

Loan amounting to Rs, 737 lakhs from HDFC Bank Limitcd availed in May 2021 is repayable in 48 quarterly instalments including a moratorium of 24 months from the date of loan along
with an interest rate of 7.50% p.a.. The loan is secured by way of exclusive charge on the movable fixed assets financed out of the Joan and further secured by extension of existing mortgage
at Mussoric and negative lien of the perperty at Yercaud. Out of this loan, Rs. 153.54 lakhs (March 31, 2022: Nil lakhs) is repayable within | year and the balance amount of Rs. 583,45
(March 31, 2022: R, 737 lakhs) repayable afier | year from the balanec sheet date.

Optionally convertihle cumulative redeemnble preference shares (OCCRPS)

The Company issued 303,000 Optionally C ible Cumulative Red ble Preference Shares (OCCRPS) of Rs.10 each to its parent company Thomus Couk (India) Limited in April 2018.
The OCCRPS carries a fixed Cumulative dividend at a rate of 8.5% payable from the date of llotment. Every 303,000 OCCRPS shafl be converted at the option of the Company into 10 cquity
shares of Rs.10 each. Such conversion shall be at the option of the Compuny at any time after | year from the date of allotment of shares but not later than 7 years from the date of allotment.
The redemption shall be made out of the profits of the Company or proceeds of fresh issue of shares made for the purposc of redemption. The conversion will result in allotment of 10.000
equity shares of Rs.10 cach. As per the terms of the OCCRPS, there is a contractual obligation to deliver cash to the holder (dividend is non-discretionary). The holder does not have the right
10 convert the instrument into equily shares any time during the tenure of the preference shares, right 10 conversion lics wilh the issuer. Further, the QCCRPS is neither a derivalive instrument,
nor docs it fall within the scopc of puttable instruments. Therefore, the OCCRPS has been classified as a financial liability. The corresponding dividend paid or accrued has been disclosed as
finance cost.

d hlv inctal atudi

Short-term working capltal loan
During the ycar, the Company had settled working capital loan (March 31, 2022: Rs.934 Iakhs) from HDFC Bank that had en interest rate of 10.00% p.a. and was secured by chorge on current

and movablc fixed assets and was further secured by ion of coll: ( property at M ic and negative licn on property located at Yercaud.
The carrying of certain fii ialand i fal assets pledged as security for non-current borrowings are disclosed in Note 50.
Owing to the losscs in past years, the Compiiny fas not plicd on certain £ 1l nants with respect t louns availed from HDFC Bank in the previous years and in the current sear,

However, bascd on the teview of periodic filings made by the Company to the Bank, the Bank hos continued with the facilities, has not placed any demand on the loans and the Fucility was
rencwed during the year, Acconlingly, the Company continues to classify these loans as current and non-current based on the original maturity.




Sterling 1[olidsy Resorts Limited
Notes to the financial statements as at and for the year ended March 31, 2023
(All amounts in INR lakhs, unless othenwise stated)

21(c)

22
22(s)

22(b)

Reconclliation of movement of llabllitles to cash flows arsing from financing activities
Partlcatirs

Term loan and other borrowings

Working capital loans

Total

Partlculars

Bualance as st April 1, 2021
Proceeds from loans and borrowings
Repayment of borrowings
Non-cash changes

- Impact of effective interest amortisation
Balance ss at March 31, 2022
Repayment of borrowings
Non-cash changes

- Impact of effective interest amortisation
Balance as at March 31, 2023

Other flnanctal Nabilities
Non-current

Creditors for capital expenditure
Retention payable

Total

Current

Divid .‘,,"nn,‘ "'v ibk lati di “, fi shares
Creditors for capilal expenditure

Rerention payable

Security deposits

Interest payable to micro enterprises and small enterprises (Refer note 48)

Other liabilitics

Total

<This space is intentionally lefi blank>

March 31,2023 March 31, 2022

2.283.32 395375

- 91400

228112 488778

Current Non-current
Total
horrowings borrowings

1,000.00 4,570.01 5.570.01

- 772.00 772.00
(66.00} (1,424.86) (1,490.86)

= 36.60 36.60

934.00 3,951.75 4,887.75
(934.00) 11,682.59) (2,616.59)

- 12.16 12.16

- 2283.32 2.383.32

As 2t As at

March 31,2021 March 31,2022

8.79 491

15.14 8.58

2393 13.49

12.76 10.23

22.78 26.78

16.06 45.03

39.62 75.13

27.52 27.53

52.01 179.31
ITE,'JS ]M_.‘l]l_
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Steeling IToliday Resorts Limited

Notes to the financls] stafements a3 2t and for the year ended March 31, 2023

(Ail amounts in INR lakhs, unless otherwise stated)

24 Delerred tax
The balance comprises v diff atlrib

ble to:

Property, plant and equipment
On account of land revaluation
MTM gain on investements

Totul deferred tax liabflitles

Set-off of deferred tax linbilities pursuant to set-off provisions
Deferred tax liability as per the balance sheet
Net unrecognised deferred tax tiabfitics

Unabsorbed d o 1t

loss carried forward

7 e and b
Provision for employee benefits
Provision for doubtful debts

Total deferred tax assets

Set-off of deferred tax liabilities pursuant (o set-off provisions
Deferred tax assct as per the balance sheet

Net unrecognised deferred tax assets

Movement in deferred tax Habilitles:

At Aprli 1,2021

charged/(credited):

- to profit or loss

- unrecognised deferred tax assets for the year
- to other comprehensive income

At March 31, 2022

Charged/(Credited):

- 10 profit or loss

= nrecognised Jeferred tax assers for the year
- 10 other comprehensive income

At March 31, 2023

Asnt As at
3.786.76 3,654.99
3,342.55 3,442.64
63.46 -
7.192.77 7,097.63
1,192.77 7,097.63
9,085.94 9,783.36
243.56 150.90
35.14 27.50
9364.64 9,961.76
7.192.77 7,097.63
2,171.87 2,864.13
Unahsorbed
Property, piant depreclation
and eqoipment allowance and
and MTM galn  On accoont of busincss loss Provision for Provision for
on in Tnnd reval cnrrled forward employee benefits debty Total
3,911,14) (4,338.79) 4.935.24 219.62 459.47 1,364.40
- - (896.15) - - (896.15)
256.15 - 1,744.26 (68.72) (43197) 1,499.72
- 896.15 - - - 896.15
3.654.99) 13.442.64) 9.7833% 150,90 17.50 2.864.12
- . (100.09) . . (100,09
(195.23) - (597.33) 92.66 7.64 (692.26)
- 100.09 - . - 100.09
{3.850.22) (3.342.55) 9,085.94 243.56 35.14 2.171.87

The Company had recognized deferred tax assct on carried forward losses only to the extent of deferred tax liabilities. Deferred tax assets and deferred tax lisbilities have been offset wherever the
Company has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current Lax lisbilities and where the deferred tax sssets and deferred wax liabilities relate to Income taxes levied by the same

Laxation authority.

<This space is intentionaily left blank>




Sterling Holidey Resorty Limited
Notes to the financial statements as at and for the year ended March 31, 2023
{All amounts in INR Inkhs, unless atherwise stated)

25

26

27

28

19

Other non-current Habllitics - Deferred revenue

Contract liability - Deferred incomne (Refer note 54) 66,437.75 66,675.50
Contract liability - Advance received from customers (Refer note 54) 463.26 24584
Total 66.901.01 ht,921.34
Trade payables
Ducs to micro enterprises and small enterprises (Refer note 48) 183.17 87.88
Dues to creditors other than micro enterpriscs and sinal! enterpriscs TAS0.07 LISLT0
Total 2.633.24 2.269.58
Of the above, trade payables to related parties: (Refer note 43(h)) 19.02 4.95
Micro and small entemrises have been identified by the Company on the basis of the information available with the Company.
The Company's exposure to liquidity risks related o trade payables is discloxed in note 39.
Ageing schedule
As at March 31, 2022
Outstanding for following perinds from due date af payment
More than 3
Not due Less than L year 1-2yecars 2-3 years years Total

Total outstanding dues of micro, small end medium cnterprises - 87.88 - - - R7.R8
Total otlulandmg dues of creditors other than micro, small and medium 1,430.15 174423 ) ~ 7.32 28170
enterprises
Disputed dues of micro, small and medium enterprises - - - - = -
Disputed dues of creditors other than micro, small and medium
enerpriscs B ) B 3 - s

1.430.15 KL - - 732 2,269.58
As at March 31, 2023

Outstanding for followlng peciinds from due date of puyment
More than 3
Not due Less than 1 year 1-2years 2-3years years Totat

Total outstanding dues of micro, small and medium enterprises 157.12 26.05 - - - 183,17
Total ou_uslanding ducs of creditors other than micro, small and medium 1,487.07 947.97 779 2 - 245005
cnterprises
Disputed dues of micro, small and medium enterprises - - E - = -
Disputed dues of creditors other than micro, small and medium
enterprises = = ki B B 3

1,644.19 974.02 1.79 7.23 - 2.613.23
Other provislons
Provision for stamp duty (Refer note below) 493.79 1,000.00
Totsl 493.79 1,000.00
Note:
Pursuant to the Composite scheme of armang: t and 1 referred in note 48, the immovable propertics of the demerged undertaking (Timeshare & Resorts business) are
transferred to the Company. The Comp has i ble propertics in various states. As per the laws prevalent in the respective stales, stamp duty is applicable on such transfer of
properties.The Company has d and d provision based on independent legal advice.During the year, this litigation is seted through Maharashtra amesty scheme.The Company

had paid the amount as per scheme and adjusted provision accordingly.

Other current liabilitles - Deferred revenue

Contract liability - Deferred income (Refer note 54) 3,388.26 328171
Contract liability - Advance reccived from customers (Refer note 54) 2,146.47 1.691.21
Total Sl'.l'J 513 4.974.92
Other current [tabillties - Others

Salarics, wages, bonus and employee paynbles 762,78 613.85
Statutory liabilities 637,48 588.84
Advance reetived towurds monagement & brand fees 160.23 -
Total 1,560.49 1.202.6




Sterling Holiday Resorts Limited
Notes to the financial statements as at and for the ycar ended March 31, 2023
(All amounts in INR lakhs, unless otherwise stated)

30

a)

b)

31

32

Revenue from operations

Revenue from contract with customers

Income from sale of membership:

- Membership fee/Admission fees (net of provision for cancellation) (refer notes below)
- Annual subscription fees/ Annual smenity charges

Income from resorts:

- Room rentals

- Others

- Management contract income

-Food and beverages

Other operating revenues
Service charges
Interest income on instaliment sales

Total

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers

The Company derives income from sale of membership fee over a period of time and income from resorts at a point in time.

At a point in time
Over a period of time
Total Revenue from contract with customers

Notes:

Year ended Year ended

March 31, 2023 March 31,2022
5.963.01 9,152.97
4,824.21 3,993.99
14,215.47 7,528.39
2,090.95 794.18
445.62 236.75
4,360.04 2,597.98
232.76 15538

50.51 89.11
32,182.57 24,548.75
21,344.84 11,312.68
10,837.73 13.236.07
32,182.57 24,548.75

The Company uses the historical trends/yicld precentage to determine the provision for canccllation of contracts (i.c, the expected number of
contracts which will be eventually cancelled) and accounts this as a reduction in revenue since it is attributable to uncertainty in collection. Based

on this estimate, the Company has made a provision of Rs. 70.70 lakhs (March 31, 2022: Rs. 100.34 lakhs).

During the year, the Company has cancelled certain membership contracts of members who have defaulted in payment of certain EMIs and / or
Annual amenity charges (AAC) / Annual subscription fees (ASF) for past periods. The Company has assessed the contractual terms and on the
basis of legal advice has established their bona fide to cancel these membership contracts. Conscquentially, there has been a write-back of deferred
income (net of receivables) Rs. 1,333.80 lakhs (March 31, 2022: Rs. 4,914.40 lakhs) and write-off of the related unamortised cost Rs. 429.37 lakhs

(March 31, 2022: Rs. 890.37 lakhs). (also refer note 54).

Other income

Interest income on:

- Loans and advances 1o related parties

- Deposits with bank

- Income tax refund

- Others

Profit on sale of property, plant and cquipment (net)
Net gain on financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss
Rental income

Management fees

Income from skill development training
Provision/Liabilities no longer required written back
Gain on variable lease payments

Income from termination of lease contracts
Miscellaneous income

Total

Cost of materials consumed
Inventory at the beginning of the year
Add: Purchases

Less: Inventory at the end of the year
Cost of materials consumed

360.59 340.09
140.43 21.95
- 58.66
80.86 50.54
83.14 -
127.70 63.53
494 .41 214.65
§21.08 757.83
41,72 131.25
171.52 87.35
27.03 17342
- 312
94.77 6.72
2,443.25 1,909.11
36.53 39.57
1,856.57 1,065,00
52,20 36.53
1,840.90 1,068.04
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Employee benefits expense

Yecar ended Year cnded
March 31, 2023 March 31, 2022

Salaries, wages and bonus 9,259.72 6,397.29
Contribution to provident and other funds 54522 426.60
Employee share-based payment expense 118.85 121.24
Compensated absences 83.73 82.67
Staff welfare expenses 747.36 442,63
Total 10,754.88 7.470.43
Finance costs
Interest and finance charges on financial liabilities measured at amortized cost 396.16 516.24
Interest on lease liabilities 557.58 630.46
Bank charges 429.54 265.81
Dividend on OCCRPS 2.53 2.58
Total 1,385.81 1,415.09
Depreciation and amortisation expenses
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 1,895.68 1,967.90
Amortisation of intangible assets 417.78 304.22
Depreciation of right of use assets 1,283.91 1,491.79
Total 3,59737 3,763.91
Other expenses
Consumption of stores and spares 486.82 240.33
Power and fuel 1,731.19 1,217.83
Rent 681.64 216.32
Repairs and maintenance:

-Buildings 384.89 146.84

-Plant and machinery 470.48 260.43

-Others 392.54 358.47
Insurance 77.76 83.61
Business support expenses 527.54 75.69
Rates and taxes 286.08 186.03
Guest supplies 380.97 183.52
Laundry expenses 233.08 153.12
Communication 224,70 195.14
Recruitment and training 37.88 58.33
Travel and tours 534.12 236.88
Legal and professional 672.71 548.85
Directors' sitting fees 18.70 2334
Payment to statutory auditors:
As Auditor:
- Statutory audit 20.46 12.00
- Limited review 22.00 22.00
For other audit services:

- Other services 2.49 -

-Reimbursement of expenses 6.12 1.69
Travel and conveyance 404.17 225.32
Security charges 287.24 248.16
Water charges 125.83 85.71
Sales commission 1,952.63 1,862.97
Sales promotion 671.49 525.02
Provision for doubtful advances 127.30 29.47
Loss on sale of property, plant and equipment (net) - 16.45
Impairment of investment in subsidiary - 281.08
Captial work in progress written off - 6.99
Printing and stationery 58.49 33.22
Miscellaneous expenses 586.76 365.58
Total 11,406.08 7,900.39
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37 Income tax expensecs

a) Amount recognised in profit or loss
Current tax

Current tax for the year

Fringe benefit tax related to prior years
Total

Deferred tax expense

(Increase)/Decrease in deferred tax assets
Increase/(Decrease) in deferred tax liabilities

Total

Total tax cxpensc/(benefit)

b) Reconciliation of tax expense and the accounting profit multiplied by Company's domestic Tax Rate:

Profit before income tax expense

Tax expense computed at Indian Tax rate of 25.168% (Previous year: 25.168%)

Net Tax effects of amount which are deductible in calculating taxable income - other than temporary

differences

Unrecognised deferred tax assets for the year

Deferred tax asset recognised / (derecognised) on brought forward losses
Decrease in deferred tax liability on account of indexation of land

Tax income

Tax losses

Unused tax losses for which no deferred tax asscts have been recognised
Potential tax bencfit at 25.168% (Prcvious year: 25.168%)

Tax losses available

Date of expiry to carry forward
31-Mar-30

31-Mar-29

31-Mar-28

31-Mar-27

31-Mar-26

31-Mar-24

Total

<This space is infentionally left blank>

Year ended Yecar ended
March 31,2023  March 31, 2022
- (72.94)
- (72.94)
100.09 896.15
100.09 896.15
100.09 823.21
5,640.78 4,840,00
1,419.67 1.218.13
(1,419.67) (1,218.13)
100.09 896.15
100.09 896.15
8,632.86 11,380.00
2,172.72 2.864.12
As at As at
March 31, 2023 March 31, 2023
- 183.41
491293 4,912.93
1,423.17 1,44931
2,296.76 4,355.75
- 478.60
8,632.86 11,380.00
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38 TFair value measurements

Financial instruments by category
As at March 31, 2023 As at March 31, 2022
FVTPL FVOCI  Amortised cost FVTPL FYOCI Amortised cost

Financial assets

Investments 3,882.89 - - 2,705.17 - -
Trade receivables - - 3,008.15 - - 3,35541
Loans - > 3,361.89 - - 3,968.32
Interest accrued on Joans and advances to related parties - - 928.50 . . 716.20
Employce advances - - 7.32 - - 6.60
Cash and cash equivalents - - 3.805.05 - - 646.77
Other bank balances - - 5,308.55 - - 1,072.12
Bank deposits with more than 12 months maturity - - 118.39 - - -
Sccurity deposits - = 56543 - - 584.10
Other receivables - - 65.05 - - 71.38
Total financinl assets 3.882.89 = 17.168.33 2,705.17 - 10,420.90
Financial liabilities

Borrowings - - 2,298.92 - - 491435
Tradce payablcs - - 2,633.24 - - 2,269.58
Capital creditors - - 46.71 - - 31.69
Security deposits - - 39.62 - - 75.13
Other liabilities - - 79.53 - - 206.84
Leasc liabilitics - - - - - -
Total financial liabilitles - - 5,098.02 - - 7.491.59

The summary of financial instruments above does not include investments held by the Company in its subsidiaries/associates amounting to Rs. 1975.17 lakhs as on
March 31,2023 (March 31, 2022 Rs. 1975.17 lakhs) which has been measured by applying the principles of Ind AS 27 - Scparate Financial Statements.
‘This summary includes all financial instruments valued based on the principles of Ind AS 109 - Financial Instruments.

(i) Fafr value hlerarchy

This scction explains the judgements and cstimates made in determining the fair values of the financial instruments thet are

(a) recogrised and measured at fair value and
(b) measured at amortised cost and for which fair values are disclosed in the financial statements. To provide an indication about the reliability of the inputs used in
determining fair value, the Company has classified its financial instruments into the threc levels prescribed under the accounting standard.

Financial assets and liabilitles measured at fair value - recurring fair value measurements

As at March 31, 2023 Notes Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Tatal
Financial assets

Investments at FVTPL:

Equity instruments (a) 0.55 - - 0.55
Mutual funds 7(b) 3.882.34 - - ' 3,882.34
Total financial assets 3,882.89 - - 3.882.89

Assets and Jiabflitles which nre measured at amortised cost for which fair values are disclosed same as carrying value

As at March 31,2023 Notes Level | Level 2 Level 3 Total
Financial assets

Loans to subsidiaries 9 - - 3,361.89 3,361.89
Interest accrued on Joans and advances to related parties 9 - - 928.50 928.50
Employee advances 9 - - 7.32 732
Security deposits 10 # = 565.43 565.43
Total financial assets = - 4,863.14 4,863.14
Financlal liabflities

Borrowings 21(a) - - 2,298.92 2,298.92
Total financial liabilities - - 2.298.92 2,298.92
Financial asscts and Habilities measured at falr volue - recurring fair value measurements

As at March 31, 2022 Notes Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Tatal
Financial asscts

Financial investments at FVTPL:

Equity instcuments 7(a} 0.65 - - 0.65
Mutual funds 7(b) 2,704.52 - - 2,704.52

Total financial assets 2,705.17 - - 2,705.17
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Falr value measurements (contd.)
Assets and linbilities which sre measurcd at amortised cost for which fair values are disclosed same as carrying value
As at March 31, 2022 Notes Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Financial assets

Loans to subsidiaries 9 - - 3,968.32 3,968.32
Interest accrued on loans and advances to related partics 9 - - 716.20 716.20
Employec advances 9 - - 6.60 6.60
Security deposits 10 - - 584.10 584.10
Total financial assets % - 527522 5.275.22
Financial Liabllities
Borrowings 21(a) - - 491435 4,91435
Total financial liabilities - - 4.914.35 4.914.35
There are no transfers between levels | and 2 during the year.
(11) Valuation technique used to determine fair value:
Level 1 : Fair value is detcrmined using NAV for mutual funds and market value listed equity shares
Level 3 : Fair value is determined using discounted cash flow method
(3iD) Fair valne of financial assets and liabilitics measured at amortised cost
As at March 31, 2023 As at March 31, 2022
Carrying Fair value Carrying Fair value
amount amount
Financigl assets
Loans
Loans to subsidiaries 3,361.89 3,361.39 3,968.32 3,968.32
Interest accrued on loans and advances to related partics 928.50 928,50 71620 716.20
Employce advances 7.32 7.32 6.60 6.60
Security deposits 565.43 565.43 584.10 584.10
Total financlal assety 486314 486314 527522 527522
Financlal llab{lities
Borrowings 2,298.92 229892  4,914.35 491435
Total financlal lab{litles 2,298.92 2.298.92 4.914.35 491435

The carrying amounts of trade receivables, trade payables, cash and cash equivalents and other current {inancial liabilities approximate their fair values, due to their
short-tcrm nature.

The fair values for security deposits wete calculated based on cash flows discounted using market interest rates. They are classified as level 3 fair values in the fair value
hicrarchy due to the use of unobservable inputs,

The fair values of non-current borrowings are based on discounted cash flows using a current borrowing rate. They arc classificd as level 3 fuir values in the fair value
hierarchy due to the usc of unobservable inputs.

For financial asscts and liabilities that are measured at fair value, the carrying amounts are equal to the fair valucs.

<This space is intentionally lefl blank>
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Financlal risk management

The Company’s activities expose it to market risk, [iquidity risk and credit risk.
This note explains the sources of risk which the entity is exposed to and how the entity manages the risk in the financial statements

Risk Exposure arising [rom Measurement Management
Credit risk Trade receivables, investments, Ageing analysis and credit assessment Diversification of portfalio and
financial assets measured at amortised Assessment of custorner credit
cost. worthiness at inception and through the
credit period
Liguidity risk Borrowings, trade payvables and other Cash flow forecasts Availability of committed credit lines
hiabilities and borrowing (acilities
Market risk.— interest rate Long-term borrowings at vanable rates Sensitivity analysis Analysis of market rates on a real time
besis, pre-closure of loans

The Compuny's risk management is carricd out by & central treesury department under policics approved by the board of directors. The board provides principles for overall risk
as well as policics covering specific arcas, such as intcrest rate risk, credit risk, non-derivative financiel instruments and investment of excess liquidity,

Credit risk
Credit risk arises from cash and cash cquivalents, investments carricd at amortised cost and deposits with banks and financial institutions, as well as credit exposures towards
outstanding receivables.

(1) Credit risk management

Credit risk is managed on a Company basis.

For other financial asscts, thc Company asscsses and manages credit risk based on internal credit rating system. The finance function consists of a separate tcam that assesscs and
maintains ar intemal credit rating system, Internal credit rating is performed on a group basis for cach class of financial instruments with diferent characteristics. The Company
assipns the following credit ratings to cach class of financial asscts based on the assumptions, inputs and factors specific to the class of financial asscts.

C1 : High-quality assets, negligible credit risk
C2 : Doubtful assets, credit-impaired

The Company considers the probability of default upon initial recognition of asset and whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk on an ongoing basis throughout
each reporting period. To assess whether there is a significant increase in credit risk the Company compares the risk of a default occurring on the asset as at the reporting date with

the risk of default as at the date of initial recognition. It iders available ble and supportive forwarding-looking information including the following indicators:
- Intemal credit rating
- Actual or expected significant adverse changes in busi fi ial or cc i ditions that arc expected to causc a significant change 10 the borrower’s ability to mect its

ohligations

- Actual or cxpected significant changes in the operating results of the borrower

- Significant increase in credit risk on other financial instruments of the same borrower

- Significant changes in the d perfc and behaviour of the borrower and customer, including changes in the payment status of borrowers in the Company, expected

F

acceptances of the instruments and changes in the operating results of the borrower.

A defoult on a financial ossct is when the counterparty fails to make contractual payments on the due date. This definition of default is determined by considering the business
cnvironment in which cntity operates and other macro-economic factors. The Manag makes y course corrections and cvaluation of credit loss bused on the
assessment of a default on a continuing basis,

(ii) Provision for expected credit losses
The Company pravides for expeeted credit loss based on the following:

Basis for recognition of evpected credit loss provision

Int: d it rati ' 3
nternnl credit rating Category Description of category Loans and i
Investments Trade receivables
deposits
High quality assets, negligible credit  |Assets where the counterparty has{12 month expected 12 month expected |Lifctime expected
sk strong cepacity to mect the obligationsjeredit losses credit losses credit loss
cl and where the risk of default is
negligible or nil.
C2 Doubtful assets, credit impaired Assets are provided for when there is) Asset is provided for fully

no reasonable expectation of recovery.
The Company categorises a loan or|
receivable for provisioning when the
debtor fails to make the contractual|
|payments for over 12 months, When
the loans or receivables have been
provided for, the Canpany continues|
to cngage in caforcement activity to
attempt lo recover the
receivable/cancel contracts as
appropriate. Wlen recoveries are made
these arc recogmised in profit or loss.
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19 Flnanclal risk management (contd.)
For the year ended March 31, 2023:

(@) Expected credit loss for loans, security deposits and invesiments
The estimated gross carrying amount at default is Nil (March 31, 2022: Nil) for in ,loans and deposits. Co quently there are np expected eredit loss recognised for these

financial asscts.

(h) Expected credit loss for trade receivables iunder simplified approack (including provision for cancellation of contracts)

A significant portion of the Company’s salcs of Sterling Memberships arc by way of deferred payment schemes where the customer is obligated to pay the membership fee in

Equated Monthly Instalments (EMIs) and the cnsuing credit risk is managed by the Company in the following manncr:

(a) preliminary ofc credit worthiness, ensuring realisation of minimum down payment and adherence to intemal KYC norms;

(b) collccting post dated instruments such as cheques, Automated Clearing House (ACH) mandates, standing credit card instructions from the customers at inception to ensurc

security cover.

From an accounting perspective, revenue is recognised anly when it is probable that the ic benefits iated with the transaction will flow ta the Company. The Company

also assesses lifetime expected credit loss by using appropriate models, as prescribed by Ind AS 109, using past trends of collections and historical credit loss experience. The

categorisation of the receivables into its agcing buckets for the purposes of estimating the expected loss allowance has been profiled based on the payments received from the
s, for ple,ifa ber has not paid any amount ot has paid less than Rs. 5,000 in fast 12 months, the customer is treated os overdue. (refer note 25 and note 28).

The allowances for credit loss and for reventte deferred at inception referred to above, carried at the end of every reporting period, are tested for adequacy and appropriately dealt

with,

The credit loss allowance carried by the Cosnpany is as under:
Murch 31,2023 March 31, 2022

Carrying value of reccivables (refer note 8) 3,073.45 3,464.69
Credit loss allowance 65.30 109.28
Loss allowance % 2% 3%

The Company defers revenue at inception and provides for cancellation allowance based on historical trend. The amounts so deferred and the credit loss allowance are adjusted
from the camying value of receivables (refer note ¥ and 30) in the same propartion, cxcept in cases where the allowance is directly attributable to a particular contract.

(itf) (a) Reconclliation of carrying value of recelvables Amount
Recelvables as on April 1, 2021 4,197.11
Sale made during the year 4.523.17
Collections during the year (5,399.56)
Write ofl on account of contracts cancelled during the yeur (250.35)
Adjustment on account of provision 394.32
Reccivables as on March 31, 2022 3,464.69
Sale made during the year 6,466,37
Collections during the year (6,028.79)
Write off on account of contracts cancelled during the year (172.92)
Adjustment on account of provision (655.90)
Recclvables as on March 31, 2023 3,073.45
(iii) (b) Reconcilintion of loss allowance provision Amount
Loss allowance on March 31, 2022 433.33
Allowance for credit loss recognised during the year 111.07
Adjustment on account of contracts cancelled during the year (250.35)
Provision no longer required 31.77)
Amounts written off during the year (153.00)
Loss allowwance on March 31, 2022 109.2R
Allowance for credit loss recognised during the year 130.41
Adjustment on account of contracts cancelled during the year (172.92)
Provision no longer required (1.47)
Amounts written off during the year -
Lass allowance en March 31, 2023 65.30

<This spacc is intentionally left blank>
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39 Financial risk management (contd.)

(B) Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk g implies maintaining suflicient cash and marketable securities and the availability of funding through an adequate amount of committed credit
focilities to meet obligations when due and 1o close out market positions. Duc to the dynamic nature of the underlying businesses, group treasury maintains flexibility in funding by
maintaining availability under committed credit lines. Management monitors rolling forecasts of the company’s liquidity position (comprising the undrawn borrowing facilities
below) and cash and cash equivalents on the basis of expected cash flows and also reviews timing of liquidation of marketable securities,
(i) Financing arrangements
The Company had access to the following undrawn borrowing facilities at the end of the reperting period:

March 31,2023  March 31, 2022
Flosting rate
- Expiring within onc year - -
Marketable securities

2
(including investments held for salc) 3,882.34 2,704.52
The marketable securities can be disposed by the Company at any point of time based on the objects and working capital requirements of the Company.
(ii) Maturities of financial liahilities
The tablcs below analyse the Company’s financial liabilitics into relevant maturity groupings based on their contractual maturitics. There are no derivative financial instruments.
The amounts disclosed in the toble are the contcactuel undiscounted cash flows, including imerest. Balances due within 12 months equal their camrying balances as the impact of
discounting is not significant.
Contractual maturities of financial liabilitles:
Less than 3 3 monthy to 6 6 manths to 1 BRetween 1 and 2
Mareh 31, 2023 Carrying amount months months year years Aboave 2 vears Total
Non-derivatives
Borrowings 2,298.92 807.25 282.26 568.39 372.59 453.92 2,484.42
Trade payables 2,633.24 2,633.24 = - - - 2,633.24
Other financial liobilities 194.68 170.72 - - 23,96 = 194.68
Total non-derivative Jiablilities 5,126.84 361121 282.26 268,30 396.55 45292 531234
Less than 3 3 months to 6 6 monthsto1  Betwcen 1 and 2
March 31, 2022 Carrying amount manths months year yenrs Above 2 years Totsl
Non-derivatives
Bomawings 495118 1,346.00 41575 1,142.05 1,630.02 1,399.59 5.933.40
Trade payables 2,269.58 2,185.06 55.63 7.84 4.14 16.91 2,269.58
Other financial liabilitics 340.67 335.76 - - 491 - 340.67
Total non—derivative labilitles 7.561.43 3,866.82 47138 1,140,489 1,639,07 1, 416,50 8,543.65
C) Market risk - Interest rate risk

The Company’s main interest rate risk arises from long term borrowings with variable interest rates, which cxposes the Company to cash flow interest rate risk.
The Company analyses the market rates on a real time basis and pre- closes/exchanges the variable interest rate instruments for fixed intercst instruments in times of high interest
rates and vice-versa to mitigate the risk. The exposurc of the Company’s borrowings to interest rates arc as below:

March 31,2023 March 31, 2022

Variable rate borrowings 2,253.02 392345
Fixed rate borrowings 2.51 1,566.33
1,255.53 SAR9.T8
M-rrch 31, 2023 March 31, 2022
Welghted average  Balance loan % of total loans Weighted average  Balance loan % of total Joans
Interest rate amount nterest rate amount
Bommowings from banks and others 9.79% 2,253.02 99.89% 9.10% 3,923.45 17.83%

Scnsitlvity analysis
Profitloss is sensitive to higher/lower interest expense from borrowings as a result of change in the interest rates. If the weighted average rate of the variable interest rate

botrowings increase/decrease by 1% the interest exp will i id by Rs, 22.53 lakhs (March 31, 2022: Rs. Rs.39.23 lakhs)

<This space is intentionaily left blank>
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Capital management
Risk management

The Company’s objectives when managing capital are to:

« safeguard their ability to continue as a going concemn, so that they can continue to provide returns for sharcholders and benefits for other
stakeholders, and

» maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Company may adjust the amount of dividends paid to sharcholders, return capital to
sharcholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

Consistent with others in the industry, the Company monitors capital on the basis of the following gearing ratio:

Net debt (total borrowings net of cash and cash equivalents) divided by total ‘equity’ (as shown in the balance sheet)

The Company’s strategy is (o maintain a net debt to equity ratio within 0.5. The ratio is as follows:

As at As at
March 31,2023  March 31, 2022
Total debt 229892 491435
Less: Cash and cash equivalents and other bank balances A (9,113.60) (1,718.89)
Adjusted net debt (6,814.68) 3,195.46
Total equity 46,092.17 40,379.56
Adjusted nct debt to equity ratio (0.15) 0.08

Exemption from preparing consolidated financial statements
Thesc financial statements are the standalone financial statements of the Company. The Company has used the exemption under Paragraph 4(a) of
Ind AS 110 and has elected not to prepare the consolidated financial statements, The consolidated financial statements are prepared by the holding
company, Thomas Cook India Limited, Mumbai. Refer below for the details of subsidiaries/associates of the Company:

% of shares held
March 31,2023  March 31, 2022

Name of the investec

Sterling Holidays (Ooty) Limited 98% 98%
Sterling Holiday Resorts (Kodaikanal) Limited 98% 98%
Nature Trails Resorts Private Limited 100% 100%

Segment information

Description of segments and principal activities

Operating segments are reported in a mauner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the Chief operating decision maker.

The Chairman-Wholc Time Director (CWD) of the Company has been identified as the chief operating decision maker of Sterling Holiday
Resorts Limited who assesses the financial performance and position of the Company, and makes stratcgic decisions, The Company has only one
reportable segment - "Leisure Hospitality and Resorts™

<This space is intentionally left blank>
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() Nature of related party and related party relstlonship

Description of related party
Ultimate Holding Company

Holding Company
Subsidiaries

Key Managerial Personnel

(b) Parent entities
The Company i controlled by following entity:

Name of entity

Fairfax Financial Holdings Limited, Canada
Thomas Cook (India) Limited

(c) Subsidiarier

Name of entlty

Sterling Holidayx (Ooty) Limited (‘Ooty)
Sterling Holiday Resorts (Kodaikanal) Limited (Kodai)
Nature Trails Resorts (Private) Limited (NT?)

{d) Fellow subsidiaries with whom transactions have been entered

Travel Corporation (Indie) Limited (merged with Thomas Cook (India) Limited)
TC Tours Private Limited

SOTC Trave! Services Private Limited (merged with TC Tours Private Limited)
Quess Corp Limited

CentreQ Business Services Ltd (merged with Quess Corp Limited)

Coachieve Solutions Pvt Ltd (merged with Quess Corp Limited)

Allsec Technologies Limited

(e) Key personnel ((

Mr. Ramesh Ramanathan (Chairman-Whole Time Director)*
Short-term cmployec benefits

Post-cmployment benefils

Employee stock options

Tota)

* Mr. Ramesh R han has resigned as Managi

Name of the related party
Fairfax Financial Holdings Limited, Canada

Thomas Cook (India) Limited

Sterling Holiday Resorts (Kodaikanal) Limited
Sterling Holidays (Ooty) Limited
Nature Troils Resorts Private Limited

Ramesh Ramanathan (Resigned as Whole Time Director with effect from Dec 31, 2022)

Vikram Dayal Latvani (Appointed as Managing Director with effect from April 01, 2022)

Anand Raghavan (Ceased to be Independent Director on October 27, 2022 duc to expiry of the term on
October 26, 2022)

Madh, Menon K f
Sumit Maheshwari (Director)
Ravindra Dhariwal (Ceased to be Independent Director on October 27, 2022 due to expiry of the term on
26th October, 2022)

Pravir Kumar Vohra (Independent Director)

Latha Remanathan (Independent Director)

L Krishna Kumar (Chief Financial Officer)
M. Balasub iyan (Company S y Resigned with effect from January 24, 2022)

(Director)

A Muthuk (Company S y with effect from January 24, 2022)
Ownership Interest held by the Groop
Type March 31, 2023 March 31, 2022
Ultimate Holding Company - -
Holding Company 100% 100%
Principal Activities Ownership interest held by the Grou,
March 31, 2023 March 31, 2022
Timeshare & resorts busincss 98% 98%
Timeshare & resorts business 98% 98%
Adventure holiday activities business 100% 100%
March 31, 2023 March 31, 2022
1,740.60 351.07
31.88 1492
296.61 -
2,069.09 365.99

Director with effect from March 31, 2022 and appointed as Whole Time Dircctor with effect from April 01, 2022 and subscquently

resigned from board of director effective from Dec 31, 2022.The Company approved paid a onc time ex-gratia payment amounting 1o INR 15.60 crores to Mr. Ramesh Ramanathan during the

year.

Mr. Vikram Dayal Lelvani (Managing Director)*
Shon-term employee benefity

Post-employment benefits

Total

121.47 2311
6.00 0.53
12747 23.64

* Mr. Vikram Dayal Lalvani is eppointed as Whole Time Directar with effect from January 24, 2022 and then sppointed as Managing Director with effect from April 01, 2022.
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43 Related party transactions (contd.)

Mr. Krishna Kumar (Chief Financial Officer) March 31, 2023 March 31, 2022

Short-term employee benefits 86.83 $2.82
Post-cmployment benefits 2.39 214
Totul 89.22 84.96

Mr. M. Ralasub iyan (Company S y)*

Short-ferm employee benefits - 12.32

*Resigned with effect from January 24, 2022

Mr. Muthuk Audik (Company S v

Short-term employce benefits 17.97 4561

Post-cmployment benefits 0.55 0.15

Total 18.52 4.76

*Appointed as Company Sccretary with effect from January 24, 2022

(0 Sitting fees paid to directors

Latha Ramanathan (Director) 6.50 5.60

Pravir Kumar Vohra (Director) 4.60 1.80

Anand Raghaven (Director) 3.60 430

Ravindra Dhariwal (Director) 4.50 5.60

Sidharth Shankar (Dircctor till 31 August 2021) - 1.50

Total 19.20 18.80

(g) Transactions with related parties

Transaclions wilh related parties are as follows:

Sale of services

TC Tours Private Limited 5§5.13 22.64

Travel Corporation (India) Limited (merged with Thomas Cook (India) Limited) 48.46 -

Total 103.59 22.64

Interest income

Sterling Holidays (Ooty) Limited 50.39 56.06

Sterling Holiday Resorts (Kodaikanal) Limited 11324 120.94

Nature Trails Resorts Private Limited 196.96 163.09

Totsl 160.59 240,09

Rental income

Sterling Holidays (Ooty) Limited 276.32 12296

Sterling Hotiday Resorts (Kodaikanal) Limiled 213.89 94.81

Nature Trails Resorts Private Limited 9.68 5.95

Total 499.89 223,72

Income from usc of brand

Sterling Hofidays (Ooty) Limited 5334 24.04

Sterling Holiday Resorts (Kodaikanal) Limiled 34.4] 24.04

Total 871.75 48.08

Relmbursement of cxpenses

‘Thomas Cook (India) Limited 370,83 -

Rent expense

Thomas Cook {India) Limited 147 -

Sterling Holidays (Ooty) Limited 249.53 46.70

Sterling Holiday Resorts (Kodaikanal) Limited 27801 29.00
529.01 75.70

Manspement fecs

Sterling Holidays (Ooty) Limited 403.49 373,74

Sterling Holiday Resorts (Kodaikanal) Limiled 329.85 336.01

Total 73333 709.75

Income from Business support service

Sterling ITolidays (Ooty) Limited 244.83 =

Sterling Holiday Resorts (Kodaikanal) Limited 204,55 -

Neture Trails Resorts Private Limited 1740 -~

Total 466.79 -
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43 Related party fransactions (contd.)
(g) Transactions with related parties (contd. )

Travel hoaking & other support services
Thomas Cook (India) Limited

Services avalled

Quess Corp Limited

Coachicve Solutions Pvt Ltd

Allsce Technologies Limited

Terrier Security Services (India) Pvt Lid
Go Digit General Insurance Limited
Total

Service charpes pald

Terrier Security Services (India) Pvi Lid
Allsec Technologies Limited

Go Digit General Insurance Limited
Quess Corp Limited

Thomas Cook (India) Limited

Total

Amount recelved towards sale of service

TC Tours Private Limited

SOTC Travel Services Private Limited

Travel Corporation (Indin) Limited (merged with Thomas Cook (India) Limited)
Total

Dividend on OCCPRS
Thomas Cook (India) Limited

Emplnyee stock option expense (ESOP)
Thomas Cook (India) Limited

Advances granted

Sterling Holidays (Ooty) Limited

Sterling Holiday Resorts (Kodaikanal) Limited
Nature Trails Resorts Private Limited

Total

Advances recelved

Sterling Holidays (Ooty) Limited

Sterling Holiday Resorts (Kodaikanal) Limited
Nature Trails Resorts Private Limited

Total

Reimbursement received

Sterling Holidays (Ooty) Limited

Sterling Holiday Resorts (Kodaikanal) Limited
Total

Loan payment received

Sterting Holidays (Ooty) Limited

Sterling Holiday Resorts (Kodaikanal) Limited
Total

(h) Outstanding balances a3 at the year end
Trade payables

Thomas Cook (Indiz) Limited

Go Digit General Insurance Limited

Allsec Technologies Ltd

Total

March 31, 2023

March 31,2022

76.99 54.81
. 159.63
- 002
20,64 26.74
- 774
53.90 17.36
74.53 221.46
- 739
19.86 26.64
56.63 16.25
141,96
62.78 59.15
139.26 25139
5591 3346
41.20 -
97.10 3346
253 258
188.90 187.01
1,993.10 1,378.97
740.83 1.307.03
.03 905,12
174287 3.501.12
325088 1,240.97
1,553.01 1.265.10
56.63 533,10
4.861.52 3,039.17
39.97 46.70
68.87 30.61
108.84 7731
22037 2
123.63 -
344.00 Z
15.20 -
) 191
3.82 3.03
19.02 495




Sterling Holiday Resorts Limited
Notes to the financial statements as at and for the year ended March 31, 2023
(Al amounts in INR lakhs, unless otherwise staled)

March 31, 2023 March 31,2022
Dividend payablc on OCCRPS
Thomas Cook (India) Limiled 12.76 10.23
Advances to suppllers
Go Digit Genernl Insurance Limited 353 =
Trade Receivable
Travel Corporation (India) Limited (merged with Thomas Cook (India) Limited) 727 -
TC Tours Private Limiled 7.68 R.46
Total 14.95 8.46
Advance reccived towards g & brand fees
Sterling Holidays (Ooty) Limited 160.23 =
Totel 160.23 -
(1) Loans to related partles
Loans to subsidiaries
Sterling Holidays (Ooty) Limited - 624.14
Sterling Holiday Resorts (Kodaikanal) Limited 906.95 1,269.20
Nature Trails Resortz Privaie Limited 245404 207498
Total 3.361.89 3,968.32
Interest accrued on loans given
Sterling Holidays (Ooty) Limited 0.19 5.86
Sterling Haliday Resorts (Kodaikanal) Limited 59.79 19.08
Nature Trails Resorts Private Limited 868.52 69126
Total 928.50 928.50

(J) Terms and conditions

The loans to Ooty, Kodai arc given at an intcrest rate of 9.25% p.a. (March 31, 2022: 9.25% p.a) and to Nature Trails at 13.25% pa. (March 31, 2022: 13.25% p.a} and are repayable on
demand. The sccumulated losscs as at March 31, 2023 of Ooty, Kodai and NT are Rs, 7520 lakhs, Rs.1,091.28 lakhs and Rs. 2,150.38 lakhs respectively (Previous year Rs. 683.20 lakhs,
Rs.1,489.84 lakhs and Rs 1.996 38 Inkhs spectively). The future fi jal projections of the subsidiary panics reflect positive cash flows from operations due to higher occupancy/ariffs
from refurbished the Manag is of the view that these loans are good and recoverable.

Lkt 4 ol'
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Sterling Holiday Resorts Limited
Notes to the financial statements as at and for the year ended March 31, 2023

(All amounts in INR lakhs, unless otherwise stated)
As at As at

March 31,2023 March 31, 2022

44 Contingent liabilities and contingent assets
Contingent linbllities
Claims against the Company not acknowledged as debt:

(a) In respect ol income tax matters:

Advance Subscription towards Customer Facilities (ASCF)/Entitlement fee being 55%7/40% of sale value is treated as
deferred income and recogniscd as income over the period of entitlement. In respect of Assessment Years 1997-98 (o 2001-
02, the Income Tax Appellate Tribunal, Chennai (ITAT) has passed orders against the said accounting treatment followed by
the Company and to trcat them as income in the respective year of receipt. The Company has appealed agpinst these Orders
before Honble High Court of Madras and the case is pending.

The ITAT, Chennai has decided in favour of Company's accounting treatment of ASCF for Assessment years 2002-03,
2006-07, 2007-08 and 2008-09 against which department has gone on appeal. There is no tax liability on account of such
order owing to carry forward losses and unabsorbed depreciation available under Income Tax Act.. In respect of Assessment
Years 2010-11 to 2013-14, ITAT, Mumbai has decided in favour of Company's accounting treatment of ASCF/Entitlement
foe and in respect of Assessment Years, for which the department is likely to go on appcals. There is no tax liability on
account of such orders owing to carry forward losses and unabsorbed depreciation available under Income Tax Act.

In respect of A.Y 2009-10 The Assessing officer in this assmt u/s. 143(3) r.w.s 147 of [T Act, {961 has disallowed CWIP - -
expenses of Rs.30.59 crores while calculating the capital gain on sale of land for which we have filed appeals with CIT(A).

CITA Passed ex-party order for non submission of supporting documents. We have preffered appeal against the CITA Order

with the ITAT & ITAT ramanded back the case to CITA for fresh hearing. There is no tax liability on account of such

orders owing to carry forward losses and unabsorbed depreciation available under Income Tax Act.

In respect of Assessment Year 2015-16, the Assessing Officer (AQ) had issued an order with respect to treatment of 2,450.30 2,362.58
ASCF/Entitlement fee and disallowance of brought forward loss of the demerged entity Sterling Holiday Resorts India

Limited and for other disallowances. The Company had filed an appeal before Commissioner of Income Tax (Appeals),

Mumbai and the case is pending as of date. Based on the management’s assessment and the advice of external consultant,

the Cornpany believes the demand is not tenable

The Assessing Officer (AQ) has issucd an income tax demand order for the AY 2017-18. Additions of Rs. 13,805.84 lakhs 6,660.94 6,660.94
have been made . Consequently, a2 demand of Rs. 6,660.94 lakhs was de(ermined as payable. Based on the management’s

assessment and the advice of external consultant, the Company believes the demand is not tenable. The Company had filed

an appcal befare Commissioner of Income Tax (Appeals), Mumbai and the case is pending as of dale.

The Assessing Officer (AO) has issued an income tax demand order for the AY 2001-02 & AY 2006-07. Penalty orders has 694.35 694.35
been issued by the officer for the above years. Based on the management’s assessment and the advice of external consultant,

the Company believes the demand is not tenable. The Company had filed an appeal before Commissioner of Income Tax

(Appeals), Mumbai and the casc is pending as of date.

During the year, the Assessing officer vide this order has disallowed the usual issuc of ESOP expenses and added back the

Deferred income. Further he has disallowed the long term capital loss claimed by the company for Rs. 408 lakhs on sale of 201.84 201.84
land at Kodai and arrived at a long term capital gain of Rs 749 lakhs.

For the A.Y 2014-15 The Principal Commissioner of Incomc Tax passed order U/S 263 of the Income Tax Act dirccting the 723.32 723.32
AO to disallow the brought forward loss claimed U/S 72A in its hands pursuant to merger of Manchanda Resorts Private

Limited. The AQ passed the order U/S 143(3) w.r.t to Scc 263 end uploaded a demand in the ¢ filing portal. we have not

been served with the order. We have filed Appeal against the order U/S 263 of the Pr.CIT with ITAT Mumbai bench and

same is pending. The merger is subject matter of A.Y 2013-14 and AO has nllowed the brought forward losses for the A.Y

2013-14. The revision order of Pr.CIT for the A.Y 2014-15 of the subject matter of A.Y 2013-14 is erroneous and

maintainablc before law, The case is heared by [TAT Mumbai and pending for order.

(b) In respect of service tax matters:
Demand towards service tax matters in respect of which siay order obtained 557.04 557.04
(excludes show cause notices aggregating Rs. 8,642.62 lakhs which have been responded by the Company/ stay order

obtained and against which no demands have been raised as of date)

(¢) Others:

Luxury tax related demands undcr appeal 7.668.21 7.695.37
VAT related matters - 18.75
GST related matters 118.05 113.28
Customer, vendor, employce and property related disputes under appeal 1,726.15 1,726.81
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Contingent linbilities and contingent assets (contd.)

Supreme Court vide their judgement dated February 28, 2018 clarified that Provident fund deduction is to be made on basic salary and on other salary components
which are universally made available to all employees. The Company, based on extemal advice, believes that there are interpretative challenges on the application of
the judgement retrospectively. Pursuant to the ruling, the Company recorded a provision of Rs. 45.33 lakhs in 2018-19, with respect to demands received for Manali
(for the period of April 2007 to December 2015) and Munnar (for periods prior to 2013). Bused on the advice and in the absence of the reliable measurement of the
provision for earlier periods, the Company has not recorded a provision with respect to any period other than as mentioned above. The Company would update the
provision in future based on clarification received from the relevant authorities,

As at As at
Commitments March 31, 2023 March 31, 2022
Capltal commitments
Capital expenditure contracted for at the end of the reporting period but not recognised as liabilities is as follows:
Property, plant and cquipment 90.84 211.09
Intangible Assets 24.97 -

Property related matters

During the financial year 2011-12, pursuant to One Time Settlement (OTS) scheme, the Company had fully scttled the dues of a Financial Institution (FI) and also
obtained a ‘No Due’ certificate. However, the FI has not rcleased the title deeds of the properties given as security for the reason that a Third Party has filed a writ
petition against the FI challenging the cancellation of sale of the said property to them. The Company is also a party to the said writ petition, The said writ petition
was disposcd off by Hon’ble High Court of Madras, against the Company. The Company has prefcrred Special Leave Petition (SLP) before the Hon’ble Supreme
Court of India and the Court has ordered “Status quo’ in all respects conceming the said properties. The net book value of land and building as at March 31, 2023 in
respect of the said praperty aggregates to Rs.7,863.27 lakhs (March 31, 2022: Rs, 7,964.44 lakhs). In view of the management and bascd on the independent legal
opinion obtained, the Company has a fair chance to succeed in the appeal pending before Hon'ble Supreme Court of India.

The Company had in the past transferred a property at Goa and part of the sale consideration amounting to Rs. 527.10 lakhs (March 31, 2022: Rs. 527.10 lakhs)
(included under “Other non-current assets™) was retained by the buyer pending compliance of certain conditions. The Company is confident of recovering this
amount as it has taken effective steps for discharge of its obligations. The Company is also legally advised that it has the right of vendor's lien against the
immovable property sold to the extent of amount due. The Company has filed a suif against the buyer for recovery of the amount. In view of the aforesaid, the above
amount is considered good and recoverable by Management. Application for rcjection of the plaint by the defendant has been dismissed. The Defendant filed a
revision before the High Court at Goa and High Court dismissed the same. The Company expects the trial to start soon.

During the financial year 2015-16, Company had transferred a property of 7.3 acres out of 10.3 acres land parcel at Chail for consideration and with a condition that
the buyer would construct 10 cottages in the 3 acres land retained by the Company and handover the same. However, the buyer had taken the possession of the entire
parcel of land and had not fulfilled the condition. The book value of the land is Rs. 761.70 lakhs (March 31, 2022: Rs. 761.70 lakhs). The title deeds for 3 acres of
land are not available with the Company. There is an arbitration award in favour of the Company which the Company is enforcing in the court of law. The Company
is of the view that it has a fair chance to succeed in its plea. The High Court has ordered 'Status Quo' on the property. The Company has filed an application for
appointment of the recciver.

Other property rclated matters

Net carrying Net carrying
amount as on amount as on
Property March 31,2023  March 31, 2022 Remarks
Kodai Valley View (Revalued - Refer Note 53) 8,331.00 8,331.00 The Company has submitted the original title documents with the
District Magistrate as part of the plaint filed in response (o
litigation for title in 1993.The casc will be heard before the District
Cour Kodaikanal.
Hubli 5.23 5.35 Sale deed was not registered in the name of the Company. The

Company had paid the entire consideration and laken over
possession of the property. Seller Company was liquidated in the
past, accordingly the Company needs to take necessary legal steps
to register the title in its name. The Company has approached the
official liquidators office and is yet to receive next steps from
them.

The Company holds 98% equity sharcs in Sterling Holidays (Ooty) Limited and Sterling Holiday Resons (Kodaikanal) Limited and each subsidiary company is

responsible for maintaining the property pursuant to the property timeshare agreement with the property time share members, However, certain property time share

weeks of these two properties are unsold and retained by the Company. Pursuant to the necessary approvals obtained by the Company and subsidiary companies as

required under the Companies Act, 2013, the subsidiary companics can rent out weeks sold to property timeshare members and unsold weeks retained by the

Company which are vacant and eamn revenue from it. The property time sharc members and the Company shall have no claim on the revenue gencraied from it.

Further, pursuant to the exchange clause under property timeshare agreement, property time sharc members of the said property are alsf»’?!i;al:;lw_ ilize focilities at
ALY
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Disclosure under Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises Development Act, 2006 arc provided as under for the year 2022-23, to the cxtent the Company has
received jntimation from the "Suppliers” regarding their status under the Act

As at As at

March 31,2023 March 31, 2022
Principal amount duc to suppliers registered under the MSMED Act and remaining unpaid as at ycar end 183.17 87.88
Interest due to supplicrs registered under the MSMED Act and remaining unpaid as at year end 27.52 27.53
Principal amounts paid to supplicrs registered under the MSMED Act, beyond the eppointed date during the year 114.58 22378
Interest paid, other than under Section 16 of MSMED Act. to suppliers registered under the MSMED Act. beyond the - -
appointed day during the year
Intcrest paid, under Section 16 of MSMED Act, to supplicrs registered under the MSMED Act, beyond the appointed day - -
during the year
Interest due and payable towards suppliers registered under MSMED Act, for payments already made 4,42 15.15
Further interest remaining duc and payable even in the succeeding years, until such date when the interest dues above are 27.52 8.10

The composite Scheme of Amrangement and Amalgamation (“the Scheme”) between Thomas Cook Insurance Services (India) Limited (now known as Sterling
Holiday Resorts Limited) (“the Company"), Thomas Cook (India) Limited (“TCIL") and erstwhile Sterling Holiday Resorts (India) Limited ("SHRIL") and their
respective shaceholders and creditors has been sanctioned by the High Court of Judicature at Mumbai and the High Court of Judicature at Madras on July 2, 2015
and April 13, 2015, respectively, and made effective on August 18, 2015. In terms of the said Scheme, the Timeshare and Resort business of erstwhile SHRIL
("Demerged Undertaking™) has been demerged and transferred to and vested with the Company as a going concern and the residual SHRIL has been amalgamated
with TCIL. The appointed date of the Scheme is April 1, 2014,

In accordance with the said Scheme :

n) the assets and liabilities of the Demerged Undertaking as on April 1, 2014 have been taken over by the Company and have been recorded at their respective book
values, ignoring revaluations.

b) the Equity Shares (including equity shares acquired afler appointed date) held by the Company in erstwhile SHRIL were cancelled.

¢) the difference of Rs. 22,984.06 lakhs between the book valucs of nct assets of the Demerged Undertaking recorded in the books of the Company as above and the
valuc of investments in crstwhile SHRIL in the books of the Company, has been adjusted against Sccurities Premium Account.

d) an amount of Rs 274 lakhs rclating to current tax provision was reversed and an amount of Rs, 4.2 lakhs relating to deferred tax assct was reversed into retained
earnings consequent to the scheme

€) in consideration {or transfer of Demerged Undertaking into the Company, 116 equity shares of TCIL of Re. | cach has been issued to the sharcholders of
erstwhile SHRIL for every 100 shares of Rs. 10 each held in erstwhile SHRIL.

As at As at
March 31,2023  March 31, 2022

Asscts pledged as securlty

Current
Receivables - 27.47
Inventories & 13.69

Nen-current

Frechold tand (Revalued - Refer Note 52) 9,721.00 9.756.78
Buildings 5,498.08 5,657.82
Movable assets 1,559.27 1,867.41
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Share based payments

Employee option plan
The options outstanding as at March 31, 2023, represent the unvested, vested and exercisable options granted by Thomas Caok India Limited, the holding company, to the
employees of the company. This disclosure is hased an the information relating ta the scheme shared by the holding company.

Sterling Haliday Resorts Limited Employee Stock Optlons Scheme 2012 - (“SHRL ESOS 20127)

As per clause 15,3.2 of the Composite Scheme of Arrang and Amalgamation between Sterling Haliday Resorts (India) Lid. (SHRIL) and Thomas Cook Insurance Services
(India) Ltd (TCISIL), and Thomas Cook (India) Ltd. {TCIL) the SHRIL ESOS 2012 became a part of the holding company's schemes and Stock Options which had been granted
but not exercised as of the Record Date, by such SHRIL employees shall lapse and in lieu of the Lapsed Options of SHRIL, TCIL shall grant 120 options for every 100 options af
SHRIL. The revised Exercise Price for Grant [ was INR 80.00 and for Grant 11 was INR 108.46. Subject to the terms of the Scheme and SEBI ESOP Guidelines, the option holder

will have a period of 5 vears from the date of which the Options have vested, within which the vested options can be exercised.

Thomas Cook Employees Stock Scheme 2015
Under Employec Share Option Scheme 2015 (ESOP 2015) granted by Thomas Cook Indie Limited, the holding Company, 33%, 33% and 34% of the options granted vest in a
period of 12 months, 24 hs and 36 hs respectively from the grant date. Once vested the options remain exercisable for a period of 10 years from the date of grant.

Thomas Cook Employees Stock Sch 2018 - Manag (ESOP 2018 — Management)

Thomas Cook Employces Stock Scheme 2038 - Execom

The Exercisc Price shall be equal to face value of shares i.c Re. | per option.

The objective of the ESOP 2018 - Exccom is to reward the Exccom Employees of the Company for their performance and to motivate them to contribute to the growth and
profitability of the Company. The Company also intends to use this Scheme to retain talent in the organization. The Company views Employce Stock Options as instruments that
would enable the Employees to sharc the value they create for the Company and align individual objectives of employees with objectives of the Company in the years to come.

The Scheme shall be applicable to the Execom and Employces of TCIL, its Subsidiary companices in India and abroad, as determined by the Committee on its own discretion from
time to time.

Options granted undec ESOP 2018 - Execom would Vest anly at the end of § years froin the date of grant of such options. Vesting of options would be subject to continued
cmployment with the Company and certain performance parameters, The specific performance parameters will be decided by the Committee from time to time and will be
communicated to the employees. The attainment of such performance parameters would be determined by the Committee from time to time which shall be a mandatory condition
for vesting of options.

1) Summary of options granted under plan :

March 31,2023 March 31, 2022
TCIL ESOP 2018 Execom Avg exercise price Number of g:f e::r:::erc Number of
per share option optlens L4 o:tlon optlons
Opening balance 1.00 440,000 1.00 553,646
Granted during the year = = - -
Exercised during the year 1.00 178,723 e -
Forfeited during the year 100 60,563 1.00 113,646
1.00 200,714 1.00 440,000
March 31, 2023 March 31, 2022
Avg excrclse price Number of Avy exercise Number of
TCIL ESOP 2018 Management per share oeption aptlons price per share options
option
Opening balance © 12500 60.370 125.10 96,183
Granted during the year = - - -
Excrcised during the year 125.10 400 125,10 250
Forfeited during the year 123510 8,580 125.10 35,562
125.10 51.090 125.10 60,370
March 31, 2023 March 31, 2022
ESOS 2012 (Grant II) Avg exercise price Number of AAVg exercise Number of
per share optlon options priceijishare options
optinn
Opening balance 108.46 7,050 10R.46 7,050
Granted during the year - - - -
Exerciscd during the year - - - -
Forfeited during the year > - - -

108.46 7,050 108.46 7.050
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Share based payments (conld.)

March 31, 2023 March 31, 2022
ESOP 2015 Avg excercise price Number of p‘r\l::’f :::‘:::L Number of
per sharc optlon optilons option options

Opening balance 165.92 63,333 165.92 65.533
Granted during the year - - - -
Exercised during the year 165.92 1,067 165.92 2.200
Forfeited during the year = = - =

165.92 62,266 165.92 63.333

ii) Share aptlans outstanding at the end of yenr have following expiry date and exercise prices
Share options

Grant date Expiry date Exerclse price  March 31, 2023  March 31, 2022
ESOP 2018 - Execom Qctober 5, 2018 September 29, 2043 1.00 200,714 440,000
ESOP 2018 - Management September 1, 2018 August 29, 2031 125.10 51,090 60,370
ESOS 2012 (Grant 11) July 30,2014 July 27, 2024 108.46 7,050 7.050
ESOP 2015 August 25, 2015 August 24, 2025 165.92 62,266 63,333

iti) Modification of share based payment:

On implementation of Composite Scheme of ﬂ'l_nngrn:_m and Demerger of Humen Resonrce Business

The Holding company (TCIL) in a posi of arrang demerged its Human Resources Services Business and transferred it to Quess Corp Limited (Quess). The
scheme was approved by the National Company Law Tribunal (NCLT) with the appointed date as April 1, 2019. The effective date of the scheme was November 25, 2019 when
both TCIL and Quess filed the certified copies of the order with their respective jurisdictional Registrar of Companies.

As a part of the composite scheme, Group Employees whose ESOPs were oulstanding on the effective date will be entitled to the additional shares af Quess on account of the
demerger of Human Resource Business. Instead of altering the exercise price, TCIL provided additional award in form of Quess shares.

The group cmployces arc now entitled to shares of Quess along with those of TCIL in the same share entitlement ratio prescribed in the scheme for the other sharcholders of TCIL
(1889:10,000)

In casc of vested ESOPs, the employecs will be granted sharey of TCIL and Quess only on payment of the cxercise price. In casc of unvested ESOPs, the employees will be granted
shares of TCIL and Qucss on completion of the remaining vesting period and payment of the exercise price.

The options, to the cxtent, which zre settled by shares of Quess do not meet the definition of 4 share-based pay arr t sc the valuc of shares of Quess is not based
on the price or value of TCIL's equity instruments or any of its group entity’s cquity instruments. The options to the c:m:nt which are scttled by shares of Quess will be considered
as an employce benefit within the scope of Ind AS [9, The options settled by shares of TCIL continue to be considered as share based payments and are accounted as per IND AS
102.

Expense arising from share bascd payment transaction

Year ended Year ended
Particulars March 31, 2023 Macch 31, 2022
Employee option plan expenses 118.85 121.24
Employec stock expenses 70.08 65.77
Totsl 188.90 187.01
Revaluation of land
During the financinl year 2018-19, the Company had changed its accounting policy with fespect to ment of freehold and | hold land from the cost model to revaluation

model with effect from April 1, 2018, Freehold and leasehold land will be recognized at fair value based on periodic valuation donc by extemal independent valuers, less
subsequent amortization of leasehold land.

A revaluation surplus will be recorded in OCI and credited to the asset revaluation reserve in equity. However, to the extent that it reverses a revaluation deficit of the same asset
previously recognized in profit or loss, the increase is recognized in profit and loss. A revaluation deficit is recognized in the statement of profit and loss, except ta the extent that it
offsets an existing surplus on the same asset recognized in the assct revaluation reserve.

Fair value of the land assets was determined by an extemal independent valuer using the market comparable method, i.c., the vaiuations perfonmed by the valuer are based on active
market sale prices, adjusted for difference in the nature, location or condition of the specific property,

The carrying amounts as at March 31, 2022 and March 31, 2023 under cost and revaluation models are given below:

Block of asset Revaluation model Cost model
As at As at ) As at Asat
March 31,2023 March 31, 2022 Mareh 31,2023 March 31, 2022
Freehold land 57,029.39 59,65.39 5,439.92 5,606.36
Right of use assct land (Refer note 53) 1,530.09 1,561.97 161.91 161.91

Total 58,559.48 61,427.36 5,601.83 5,768.27




Sterling Holiday Resorts Limited
Notes to the financial statements as at and for the year ended March 31. 2023
{All amounts in INR lakhs, unless otherwise stated)
53 Leases
(a) Movement in right of use asscts and lease Jiabilities as per Ind AS 116 Leases
As a lessee, the company leases many assets including land and building, vehicles and computer equipments

Computer
Right of use assets Land Building YVehicles Lquipments Total
Balance at April 1, 2021 3,351.09 6,768.77 14.11 - 10,133.97
Addition to right of use assets - 108.10 - 110.68 218.78
Amortisation charge for the year (39.82) (1,414.88) 9.37) (27.72) (1,491.79)
Derecognition of right of use assets (1,749.30) (35.59) - e (1,784.89)
Balance at March 31, 2022 1,561.97 5,426.40 4.74 82.96 7,076.06
Addition to right of usc assets - 473.99 - 130.93 604.92
Amortisation charge for the year (21.14) (1,197.97) 4.74) (60.10) (1,283.95)
Derecognition of right of use assets - (27.28) - - (27.28)
Balance at Mar 31, 2023 1,540.83 4,675.14 - 153.79 6,369.75
Lease Liabilities Amount
Balance at April 1, 2021 7,215.91
Additions 218.77
Deletions (33.71)
Finance cost accrued during the period 630.46
Discharge of lease liabilities (1,850.79)
Balance at March 31, 2022 6,175.64
Additions 604.92
Delctions (30.33)
Finance cost accrued during the period 557.57
Discharge of lease liabilities (1,682.98)
Balance at Mar 31, 2023 5,624.82
Current 2,072.78
Non-current 3,552.04
(b) Maturity analysis - contractual undiscounted cash flows
As at As at
March 31,2023  March 31, 2022
Less than one year 1,615.02 1,575.30
1-2Year 1,442.40 1,428.68
2 -3 Year 1,201.97 1,223.45
3-4Year 1,169.28 1,043.12
4-5Yecar 1,023.81 1,050.35
More than five years 603.75 1,586.61
Total 7,056.23 7,907.51
(c) Amounts recogniscd in statement of Profit and Loss
For the year For the year
cnded March 31, ended March 31,
Interest expense on lease liabilities 557.58 630.46
Amortisation of ROU 1,283.91 1.491.79
Expenses relating to short term leases 681.64 216.32
Total 2,523.13 2,338.57
(d) Amounts recognised in Statement of Cash Flows
As at As at
March 31,2023  March 31,2022
Tortal Cash outflow for Leases 1,682.98 1,850.79

The Company has renegotiated with certain lessors on the rent reduction / waiver due to COVID 19 pandemic / Flood which is short term in
nature. Accordingly, the Company in the statement of profit and loss has recognised an amount of Rs 27.03 lakhs (FY 2021-22: Rs 176.54 Lakhs)
as part of Other [ncome.




Sterling Holiday Resorts Limited

Notes to the financial statements as at and for the year ended March 31, 2023

(All amounts in INR lakhs, unless otherwise stated)

54 Ind AS 115 - Revenue from contracts with customers
Movement in deferred acquisition costs and contract liabilitics

(a) Deferred acquisition costs

Opening balance
Additions during the year
Written off due to cancellation of contracts
Amortised during the year
Closing bhalance
(b) Contract liabilitics

Opening balance as at April 1, 2021
Additions during the year (net)
Contracts cancelled during the year
Income recognized during the year
Adjustment on account of provision
Closing balance as at March 31, 2022

Contract liabflities

Opening balance as at Apri] 1, 2022
Additions during the year (net)
Contracts cancelled during the ycar
Income recognized during the year
Adjustment on account of provision
Closing balance as at March 31, 2023

For the year

For the year

ended ended
March 31,2023 March 31, 2022
9,087.43 9,496.18
2,151.46 1,580.52
(667.76) (893.17)
(870.82) (1,096.10)
9,700.31 9,087.43
Other resort
Membership fee AAC/ ASF revenue Total
74,257.54 995.88 683.61 75,937.03
4,567.68 1,407.62 2,607.54 8,582.84
(5,015.57) - - (5,015.57)
(4,240.76) (1,453.95) (2,303.65) 7,998.36)
394.32 - - 394.32
69,963.21 949.55 987.50 71,900.26
Other resort
Membership fee AAC/ ASF revenue Total
69.963.21 949.55 987.50 71.900.26
6.466.37 2,166.66 4.207.23 12.840.26
(1,340.95) - - (1,340.95)
(4,606.71) (1,707.68) (3.793.13) (10,107.52)
(655.90) - - (655.90)
69,826.02 1,408.53 1,401.59 72,636.14

For contract liabilities pertaining to membership fee, services will be provided over the effective membership period and revenue is recognised
over that period. Other contract liabilities pertain to consideration received in advance and are recognized as revenue in the respective period when

the service is rendered.

(c) Revenue expected to be recognised in the future from Deferred Contract Liability

AAC/ASF
<1 Year
1-2 Year

Membership fee
<1 Year

1-2 Year
2-3Year

More than 3 Years

As at As at
March 31,2023 March 31, 2022
945.26 703.71
463.26 245.84
1,408.52 949.55
3,388.26 3,288.01
3,893.07 3,047.92
3,491.48 3.045.02
59,053.19 60.582.25
69,826.00 69,963.20

The deferred contract liability broken year wise shows summary of Membcrship and Annual subscription fee recognisible over the time. Annual
subscription fee being the annual fecs chargeable to the member every year over the life of contract,

(d) Reconciliation of revenue from contract with customer

Revenue from contract with customer as per the contract price
Adjustments made to contract price on account of :-

(1) Discounts / Rebates / Incentives
(ii) Other adjustments

Revenue from contract with customer as per the statement of Profit and Loss

For the year

For the year

ended ended
March 31,2023 March 31, 2022
32,134.22 24.560.45
(119.05) (138.31)
70.70 150.02
32,182.57

24,548.75



10 s2r01dun 5190posd HsU Mo| pue Pl LyB1Y U1 JUauRSIAU] 9,

W0 passafop sIpnyaxa 19ap (ojo] o,

%E %b JUULSIAY] (owoou] eaumulg) Isauau] (% U1) JuaunseAu] uo wmyay
suayedo ssaugng pasasdng o) sap - Anliqery ¥oL parra(] + 193¢ TLi0), +
43K warma uy apew syasd sayBoy Aq 7 fa1 3 0163 pafolduia e ut g %19 wet wiy quOA 19N 21qEAUBY = pakordur oydey S PP ISIME 21020 agurwg (54 uy pakorchu jmude uo umizy
%) %91 %L1 LAY SI T - S K10 = SER Weid 1PN (% u) onus ayoug 1aN
oneL AW [stded poacadur Kgasg i e 0z SINI[Iqu) ALY wnos (soum ur)
uo9Od A4S JULMD J9N13G 3GRUS MUA[RAINDS A Ut Y33 J0 5UT]eq U IE] = 91985¢ UAUM) = [B1ided Fuppiom Ba|S - B3[EE [UI0] = 9T 12N onoy sarowny fonde) 19N
1034 snojaand o) parduion R | wmau aseyamd - saseqauad (soum m)
507224 uarma oys SuLmp ausm uo IoNpPaua 0f wakiked 3o N023T Yo 51 ISEALDUL %L ol ') s31quAcg spuu . aferany AP §5010) = 5I5RY2Nd JIpaLd PN ouRY 19A0Wm | djqeked spei]
" N .
03[0 42481y yBauy 1834 S1y) JaN1aq pAREUBL JQEAINDY %P L ocor 9|qEAIO2Y dprs I 3Brsaay 59[0s ¥paD SSOID) = B_ﬁ_h.vouﬂz oy raAoumL u_natooﬂovm:..whw
Teak waum ayy w1 sa43q paBeurr Kiowuoau) 8,7 6¥'SI 1961 Lioudau) 3Beaay plos spoafi joso)  (sawm u) oneisaaowng Ktajusaug
Anqeigasd 1am3q U0 1BIPIRIY ONTY YT %11 %e Kunbg ¢33 a8 PP £
i i ! 401 1nbg 8, J9pjoqaseys aFeiaay 3153 — S9¥T J3y@ €104 9N (% ut) onws Annbg uo wray
. . Auoweday |udjoaug + Festadis faesado (s w)
wet vee 0T sjuankeyd 9587 P 1SAINU] = 3MAJIS 195Q] HFESUON + K0T} 13yT yord onet 2fe1aA0)) 2914135 393Q
: 19N = 391AI35 1G9p Joj sBunuvy ’ ’
182K 34} BuLInp SUB0 JO juAATAL JO JUNOIIE UD ST OSEURA  %TT- 9b0 90 Ambg s Japjoyareys #393(1 €101, (sawn u) opey Annbg -193q
i S weg 0wt w1 vy joatm) (sou o) of1w wasm)
Paacudun JO NSIX B ST SIOUV|EQ JUBQ PUB YSBD UT ISTIST[ JO NI U0 5 WA
FIVNELITA JOJ MOTEIY .anﬂ_u % LI0Z "I yadupy ETOT ‘1€ Yoy RN TLTTITR Y | dojelaunyy Pty

RUAWIA K pu SEATHE OFoY SS

(pa1oss SN STIUN FYYDL YNY 1} Stunowo )
£207 ‘1€ QIO PIPUI JEIA 2y} 20) POE 38 KT NUIWICIS [B]IUEU]) 3G} O) EICN

PNy S0ty Keplloy Suppag



Sterling Holiday Resorts Limlted
Notes 1o the financlnl statemznts ap at and for fhe year ended March 31, 2023
(Al amounts in INR lakhs, limlers othiersdas stated)

56 Earnings per share As at Morch 31, 2021 Asat March 31, 2022
e AN e I A
Drofit for fle year attributable 1o the equiyy holden af the Company 5,540.69 4,016.79
Weighted uverage number ol equity shures ouistanding (in Inkhs) 24050 290,50
Movle nmd difuted carningy per share 19.07 1343
57 Other Statutory Information
(0The Company dacs not have any Bensmi property, where nny proceeding has been inilisted or pending againdt the Company fior Bolding any Detiami property.
() The Campany has not revalued iy preperty, plant and cquipment (inchiding right-of ot assets) or inlinieble avaets or bath during the current e previois yenr,
it} The Corpainy has not traded o invested in Cryplo enremey o Viusl Chirrency ditrmg the finangial year,
(iv) Tha Compiny Has put ndvimeed ar lonnod of fnvested fumls s ey athier prrsan{s) or entitytios), Inchiding forsign enities (i dinriea) with the wnd ding that the I ary shull:
() directly or indirectly lond or invest in other persuns. or entitics identified in any mamnor whitisever by ar on behnll ol the company (Ullimite Renefeliries) or
(5) previde tiny guaranses, seewrily or the like to or anbshall of the Ullmite Bercficiarics
(v) The Cotrpany has not recsived any fund from any person(s) or entityfies], inclinting furcign entities (Fumding Marty) with the winderstanding (whether recorded in wriling or otherwise) that the Company shall:
(a) dircetly or indlcetly fenl or fnvest in ether persans o ctities identificd In any mannee whatsaever by or on behall of the Funding Pacty (Ullimate Beneficiaricn) or
(b) proville sy guaranice, security or the ke on bahall oF the Uilimate Honeficisries
(vi) The Company hos not any such (ransaction which is not recorded in the rooks of accounts that has been surrendered or disclosed as income during the year in ilie 1ax assessments under the Income Tax Act, 1961 (such as, search
or survey or any other rekevant provisions of the Income Tux Act, 196 1).
(V) The Conmpany fisve been deckised wilfhl defisilter by sy batk or fnumein) dnititition o Fovemment or iy govermment s horivy
(viil) The Company has coniplicd with the iumber of layers preseribed under tlie Comparties Act, 2013,
(%) The Compony hos nat entered imte any seheme of prrangement Which hos i accounting fmpacton cusrent or previos Ganeil yeae.
{x) The Campany does nalhave ary changes or atisfaction whish s yot 10 b ragistered with Registiar of Conpanics (RO} beyond statory period,
58 Tr with Struck off l
Bulance
Nature of transactlons with struek | Tr fons during grsat | Tr lons during Halnnee autstanding ns nt
Name of the struck ofl Company off company the vear March 31, 2023 previous vear Mareh 31, 2022
Eartheque Exquisite [aments Privite Limited TPurchasc of assets {0.62) Nil Nil 0.62
Seogull technalagles private limited Purchesc of asseis 0.05 Nil Nil Nil
Chalagali Muttimedia Private Lindted il'nrcluu af pooddservices 0.04 Nil Nil Nil
59 Subsequent cvents
Thero sre nio significant subsequent cvents, that have occurred nfter the reporting period (il the date of the sighing of these standalone financial statements.
for BS R & Co, LLI For and on behalf of the Board of Dircctors of
Chariered Accountants Sterllng Hollday Resorts Limited
Firm Registration Nuniber: 101248W/WV-100022 CIN: UBIE4ITN1982LLE 114064 ‘f""'
Satish Valdyanethen Vikram Dayal Lafvani Pravir Kumar Vohra
Partner Managing Director Director
Membership No.: 217042 DIN No.: 07115464 DIN No.: 00082545
Place: Chennai Place; Chennai Place: Chennai
Date: May 18, 2023 Date: May 18, 2023 Date: May 3, 2023
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" Chief Financial Officer asmprny Secrvfury
N, Place: Chennai Place: Chemai
Date: May 18, 2023 Date: May 18, 2023
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CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS
1007, RAHEJA CHAMBERS, 213, NARIMAN POINT, MUMBAI 400 021. INDIA

PHONE : (91-22) 6611 6611 FAX : (91-22) 6611 6600

Independent Auditor’s Report
To the Members of BORDERLESS TRAVEL SERVICES LIMITED

Report on Audit of the Standalone Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the accompanying standalone financial statements of BORDERLESS
TRAVEL SERVICES LIMITED (“the Company™), which comprise the Balance Sheet as at
March 31, 2023, the Statement of Profit and Loss (including Other Comprehensive Income),
Statement of Changes in Equity and the Cash Flow Statement for the year then ended, and a
summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information (hereinafter
referred to as “the standalone financial statements™).

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us,
the aforesaid standalone financial statements give the information required by the Companies
Act, 2013 (“the Act”) in the manner so required and give a true and fair view in conformity with
the Indian Accounting Standards prescribed under section 133 of the Act read with the
Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015, as amended, (“the Ind AS™) and other
accounting principles generally accepted in India, of the state of affairs of the Company as at
March 31, 2023, its loss (including other comprehensive income), its changes in equity and its
cash flows for the year ended on that date.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit of standalone financial statements in accordance with the Standards on
Auditing (“the SAs™) specified under section 143(10) of the Act. Our responsibilities under those
Standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Standalone
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance
with the Code of Ethics issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India (“ICAI”)
together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the standalone financial
statements under the provisions of the Act and the Rules made thereunder, and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the Code of Ethics
issued by ICAL We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion on the standalone financial statements.

Information Other than the Standalone Financial Statements and Auditor’s Report
Thereon

The Company’s Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation of the other information.
he other information comprises the information included in report of the board of directors but
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G. M. KAPADIA & CO.

Our opinion on the standalone financial statements does not cover the other information and we
do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the standalone financial statements, our responsibility is to read
the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the standalone financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of
this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this
regard.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Standalone
Financial Statements

The Company's Management and Board of Directors are responsible for the matters stated in
section 134(5) of the Act with respect to the preparation of these standalone financial statements
that give a true and fair view of the financial position, financial performance (including other
comprehensive income), changes in equity and cash flows of the Company in accordance with
the Ind AS and other accounting principles generally accepted in India. This responsibility also
includes maintenance of adequate accounting records in accordance with the provisions of the
Act for safeguarding the assets of the Company and for preventing and detecting frauds and
other irregularities; selection and application of appropriate accounting policies; making
judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and design, implementation and
maintenance of adequate internal financial controls, that were operating effectively for ensuring
the accuracy and completeness of the accounting records, relevant to the preparation and
presentation of the standalone financial statements that give a true and fair view and are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the standalone financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends
to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Board of Directors are also responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting
process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Standalone Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the standalone financial
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with SAs will always

_detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are

*ﬁﬁ@@iﬁ\ered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
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statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with SAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

e Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the standalone financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances. Under section 143(3)(i) of the Act, we
are also responsible for expressing our opinion on whether the company has adequate
internal financial controls system in place and the operating effectiveness of such controls.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.

e Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the standalone
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a
going concern.

* Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the standalone financial
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the standalone financial statements
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with
relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, related safeguards.
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Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

1. As required by the Companies (Auditor’s Report) Order, 2020 (“the Order”), issued by the
Central Government of India in terms of section 143(11) of the Act, we give in the
“Annexure A”, a statement on the matters specified in the paragraphs 3 and 4 of the Order.

2. Asrequired by section 143 (3) of the Act, we report that:

(i)  We have sought and obtained all the information and explanations which to the best of
our knowledge and belief were necessary for the purposes of our audit;

(ii) In our opinion, proper books of account as required by law have been kept by the
Company so far as it appears from our examination of those books;

(iif) The Balance Sheet, the Statement of Profit and Loss (including Other Comprehensive
Income), the Statement of Changes in Equity and the Cash Flow Statement dealt with
by this Report are in agreement with the relevant books of account;

(iv) In our opinion, the aforesaid standalone financial statements comply with the Ind AS
specified under section 133 of the Act, read with relevant rules issued thereunder and
relevant provisions of the Act;

(v)  On the basis of the written representations received from the directors as on March 31,
2023 and taken on record by the Board of Directors, none of the directors is
disqualified as on March 31, 2023 from being appointed as a director in terms of
section 164(2) of the Act;

(vi) With respect to the adequacy of the internal financial controls over financial reporting
of the Company and the operating effectiveness of such controls, refer to our separate
report in “Annexure B”;

(vii) With respect to the other matters to be included in the Auditor’s Report in accordance
with the requirements of section 197(16) of the Act, as amended:

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations
given to us, the Company has not paid remuneration to its directors during the year.
Accordingly, the provisions of section 197 of the Act are not applicable to the
Company;

(viii) With respect to the other matters to be included in the Auditor’s Report in accordance
with rule 11 of the Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014, as amended, in our
opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to
us:

,t\{;;'c-m a) The Company does not have any pending litigations, which would impact the
Ay I o ; i
K - financial position of the Company;
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b) The Company did not have any material foreseeable losses on long-term contracts
including derivative contracts; and

¢) There were no amounts which were required to be transferred to the Investor
Education and Protection Fund by the Company;

d) (@)

(i)

The Management has represented that, to the best of its knowledge and
belief, as stated in note no.24 no funds have been advanced or loaned or
invested (either from borrowed funds or share premium or any other sources
or kind of funds) by the Company to or in any other person or entity,
including foreign entity (“Intermediaries™), with the understanding, whether
recorded in writing or otherwise, that the Intermediary shall, whether,
directly or indirectly lend or invest in other persons or entities identified in
any manner whatsoever by or on behalf of the Company (“Ultimate
Beneficiaries™) or provide any guarantee, security or the like on behalf of
the Ultimate Beneficiaries;

The Management has represented, that, to the best of its knowledge and
belief, as stated in note no.24 no funds have been received by the Company
from any person or entity, including foreign entity (“Funding Parties”), with
the understanding, whether recorded in writing or otherwise, that the
Company shall, whether, directly or indirectly, lend or invest in other
persons or entities identified in any manner whatsoever by or on behalf of
the Funding Party (“Ultimate Beneficiaries”) or provide any guarantee,
security or the like on behalf of the Ultimate Beneficiaries;

(iii) Based on the audit procedures performed by us that have been considered

reasonable and appropriate in the circumstances, nothing has come to our
notice that has caused us to believe that the representations under sub-clause
(1) and (ii) above, contain any material mis-statement;

¢) The Company has neither declared nor paid any dividend during the year.

Place: Mumbai

For G. M. Kapadia & Co.
Chartered Accountants
Firm Registration No. 104767W
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Annexure A to the Independent Auditor’s Report

Referred to in paragraph 1 under “Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements”
of our report on even date to the members of the Company on standalone financial
statements for the year ended March 31, 2023 :

To the best of our information and according to the explanation provided to us by the Company
and the books of account and records examined by us in the normal course of our audit, we state

that:

(i) (a) to (d)
(e)

(i) ()
(b)

(iii) (a) to (f)

(iv)

v)

(vi)

&) \

*| MUMBAI
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The Company does not have any property, plant and equipment and hence
provision of paragraph 3(i)(a) to (d) of the Order is not applicable; and

No proceedings have been initiated during the year or are pending against the
Company as at March 31, 2023 for holding any benami property under the
Benami Transactions (Prohibition) Act, 1988 (as amended in 2016) and rules
made thereunder.

The Company’s nature of operation does not require it to hold inventories.
Consequently, paragraph 3(ii)(a) of the Order regarding physical verification of
inventories and maintenance of records is not applicable; and

According to the information and explanations given to us, at any point of time of
the year, the Company has not been sanctioned any working capital facility from
banks or financial institutions and hence reporting under paragraph 3(ii)(b) of the
Order is not applicable.

During the year, the Company has not made investments in, provided any
guarantee or security or granted any loans or advances in the nature of loans,
secured or unsecured, to companies, firms, Limited Liability Partnerships or any
other parties. Accordingly, reporting under paragraph 3(iii)(a) to (f) of the Order
is not applicable to the Company.

The Company has not granted any loan, made investment or provided guarantee
or security to the parties covered under Section 185 and 186 of the Act.
Therefore, paragraph 3(iv) of the Order is not applicable to the Company.

The Company has not accepted deposits from the public and therefore, the
provisions of section 73 to 76 or any other relevant provisions of the Act and rules
framed thereunder are not applicable to the Company. We have been informed
that no order has been passed by Company Law Board or National Company Law
Tribunal or Reserve Bank of India or any court or any other tribunal in this regard.

The maintenance of cost records has not been specified by the Central
Government under section 148(1) of the Act, for the business activities carried out
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(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

(a)

(®)

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(€)

()

by the Company. Hence, reporting under paragraph 3(vi) of the Order is not
applicable.

The Company is regular in depositing undisputed statutory dues including Goods
and Services Tax, provident fund, employees' state insurance, income-tax,
sales tax, service tax, duty of customs, duty of excise, value added tax, cess, and
any other statutory dues, as applicable, to the appropriate authorities. According to
the information and explanations given to us and based on verification carried out
by us on test basis, there are no arrears of statutory dues outstanding as on the last
day of the financial year concerned for a period of more than six months from the
date, they became payable; and

There are no such statutory dues as referred to in sub- paragraph (a) above which
have not been deposited with the concerned authorities as on March 31,2023, on
account of dispute.

There are no transaction which are not recorded in the books of accounts and have
been surrendered or disclosed as income in the tax assessments under the Income
Tax Act, 1961 (43 of 1961).

The Company has not defaulted in repayment of loans or other borrowings or in the

payment of interest thereon to any lender;

The Company has not been declared wilful defaulter by any bank or financial
institution or government or any government authority;

The Company has not taken any terms loan. Accordingly, reporting under
paragraph 3(ix)(c) of the Order is not applicable to the Company;

The Company has not raised any funds on short-term basis. Accordingly, the
reporting under paragraph 3(ix)(d) of the Order is not applicable to the Company:;

The Company does not have any subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures.

Accordingly, the reporting under paragraph 3(ix)(e) of the Order is not applicable;
and

The Company does not have any subsidiaries, joint ventures or associate
companies. Accordingly, the reporting under paragraph 3(ix)(f) of the Order is not
applicable.

The Company has not raised any moneys by way of initial public offer or further
public offer (including debt instruments) during the year. Accordingly, reporting
under paragraph 3(x)(a) of the Order is not applicable to the Company; and

The Company has not made any preferential allotment or private placement of
shares or convertible debentures (fully, partially or optionally convertible) during

7
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the current financial year. Accordingly, the reporting under paragraph 3(x)(b) of
the Order is not applicable to the Company.

(xi) (a) We have neither come across any instance of fraud by the Company or any
material instance of fraud on the Company by its officers or employees, noticed or
reported during the year;

(b)  No report under section 143(12) of the Act has been filed during the year by the
auditors in Form ADT-4 as prescribed under rule 13 of the Companies (Audit and
Auditors) Rules, 2014 with the Central Government; and

()  There are no whistle blower complaints received by the Company during the year.

(xii) The Company is not a Nidhi Company and hence reporting under paragraph 3(xii)
of the Order is not applicable.

(xiii) In our opinion, the Company is in compliance with section 177 and 188 of the
Act, where applicable, for all transactions with the related parties and the details
of related party transactions have been disclosed in the financial statements etc.,
as required by the applicable accounting standards.

(xiv) (a) & (b)The Company does not have an internal audit system and is not required to have
an internal audit system as per provisions of the Act.

(xv) The Company has not entered into any non-cash transaction with directors. We
have been informed that no such transactions have been entered into with persons
connected with directors.

(xvi) (a) to (c) The Company is not required to be registered under section 45-IA of the Reserve
Bank of India Act, 1934. Hence, reporting under paragraph 3(xvi) (a), (b) and (c)
of the Order is not applicable; and

(d)  The Group does not have any CIC as part of the Group as per definition of Group
contained in the Core Investment Companies (Reserve Bank) Directions, 2016
and hence the reporting under paragraph 3(xvi)(d) of the Order is not applicable.

(xvii) The Company has incurred cash losses amounting to Rs.59 Lakhs during the
financial year covered by our audit and Rs.115 Lakhs in the immediately
preceding financial year.

(xviii) There has been no resignation of the statutory auditors during the year and
accordingly reporting under paragraph 3(xviii) of the Order is not applicable.

On the basis of the financial ratios, ageing and expected dates of realization of
financial assets and payment of financial liabilities, other information
accompanying the financial statements, our knowledge of the Board of Directors
and management plans and based on our examination of the evidence supporting

f
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the assumptions, nothing has come to our attention, which causes us to believe
that any material uncertainty exists as on the date of the audit report that Company
is not capable of meeting its liabilities existing at the date of balance sheet as and
when they fall due within a period of one year from the balance sheet date. We,
however, state that this is not an assurance as to the future viability of the
Company. We further state that our reporting is based on the facts up to the date
of the audit report and we neither give any guarantee nor any assurance that all
liabilities falling due within a period of one year from the balance sheet date, will
get discharged by the Company as and when they fall due.

(xx) Based on the audit procedures performed by us, the provisions of sub-section (5)
and (6) of section 135 of Act are not applicable to the Company. Accordingly, the
reporting under paragraph 3(xx)(a) and (b) of the Order is not applicable to the
Company.

(xxi) The Company does not have subsidiary, associate or joint venture hence is not
required to prepare consolidated financial statements. Accordingly, reporting on
paragraph 3(xxi) of the Order is not applicable.

For G. M. Kapadia & Co.
Chartered Accountants
Firm Registration No. 104767W

Atul Shah
Partner
Place: Mumbai Membership No. 039569

Ditet 43408 35 UDIN:23039569BGURNA 4151
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Annexure B to the Independent Auditor’s Report

Referred to in paragraph 2(vi) under “Report on Other Legal and Regulatory
Requirements” of our report on even date to the members of the Company on standalone
financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2023

Opinion

We have audited the internal financial controls with reference to financial statements of the
Company as of March 31, 2023 in conjunction with our audit of the standalone financial
statements of the Company for the year ended on that date.

In our opinion, the Company has, in all material respects, an adequate internal financial controls
system with reference to financial statements and such internal financial controls with reference
to financial statements were operating effectively as at March 31, 2023 based on the internal
controls with reference to financial statements criteria established by the Company considering
the essential components of internal controls stated in the Guidance Note.

Management’s Responsibility for Internal Financial Controls

The Company’s management is responsible for establishing and maintaining internal financial
controls based on the internal controls with reference to financial statements criteria established
by the Company considering the essential components of internal control stated in the Guidance
Note on Audit of Internal Financial Controls over Financial Reporting (“the Guidance Note™)
issued by the ICAIL These responsibilities include the design, implementation and maintenance
of adequate internal financial controls that were operating effectively for ensuring the orderly
and efficient conduct of its business, including adherence to Company’s policies, the
safeguarding of its assets, the prevention and detection of frauds and errors, the accuracy and
completeness of the accounting records, and the timely preparation of reliable financial
information, as required under the Act.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company's internal financial controls with
reference to financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with
the Guidance Note and the Standards on Auditing specified under section 143(10) of the Act, to
the extent applicable to an audit of internal financial controls, both issued by ICAL Those
Standards and the Guidance Note require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether adequate internal financial
controls with reference to financial statements was established and maintained and if such
controls operated effectively in all material respects.

Our audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the adequacy of the
internal financial controls system with reference to financial statements and their operating
effectiveness. Our audit of internal financial controls with reference to financial statements
(hPAD/intluded obtaining an understanding of internal financial controls with reference to financial
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statements, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the
design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk.

The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks
of material misstatement of the standalone financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our audit opinion on the Company’s internal financial controls system with reference to
financial statements.

Meaning of Internal Financial Controls with reference to Financial Statements

A company's internal financial controls with reference to financial statements is a process
designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of standalone financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles. A company's internal financial controls with reference to
financial statements includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of
records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of
the assets of the Company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as
necessary to permit preparation of standalone financial statements in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles and that receipts and expenditures of the Company are being
made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the Company; and
(3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized
acquisition, use, or disposition of the Company's assets that could have a material effect on the
standalone financial statements.

Inherent Limitations of Internal Financial Controls with reference to Financial Statements

Because of the inherent limitations of internal financial controls with reference to financial
statements, including the possibility of collusion or improper management override of controls,
material misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected. Also, projections of
any evaluation of the internal financial controls with reference to financial statements to future
periods are subject to the risk that the internal financial controls with reference to financial

statements may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of
compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

For G. M. Kapadia & Co.
Chartered Accountants
Firm Registration No. 104767W

APADN
Ve, M“—
bif =
(\2\, M Atul Shah
N - Partner

Place: Mumbai Membership No. 039569

Date: 19 JUN 2023 UDIN:23039569BGURNA 4151
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Borderless Travel Services Limited
Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2023

(Amount in Lacs)

Particulars Notes| Asat March 31, 2023 As at March 31, 2022
ASSETS
Non-Current Assets
Deferred Tax Assets 3 66.0 51.3
Total Non-Current Assets 66.0 51.3
Current assets
Financial Assets
Cash & Cash Equivalents 4.1 3.4 47.2
Other Financial Assets 4.2 - 26.3
Other current assets 5 0.9 0.9
Total Current Assets 4.3 74.4
TOTAL ASSETS 70.3 125.7
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
EQUITY
Equity share capital 6 0.5 0.5
Other equity

-Reserve & surplus 7 (188.0) (144.1)
Total Equity (187.5) (143.6)
LIABILITIES
Non-Current liabilites
Employee Benefit Obligations 8 26.2 26.2
Current liabilities
Financial liabilities
- Loans [} 146.3 150.0
- Other financial liabilities 9 80.7 85.6
Employee Benefit Obligations 8 4.5 4.5
Other current liabilities 10 0.1 3.0
Total current liabilities 231.6 243.1
TOTAL LIABILITIES 257.8 269.3
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 70.3 125.7

The above balance sheet should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

As per our report of even date.

For G. M. Kapadia & Co.
Chartered Accountants

Firm Registration Number 104767W

e
M // BI04 N
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o] e \
Atul Shah 1l “I\ MUMBAU ] :
Partner *\_f-z /; 3 ', /
Membership No. 39569 \7~____~ &/

Date: 19.06.2023
Place: Mumbai

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors

\
Raje ‘ ale

Direétor
DIN: 6775970

Date: 19.06.2023
Place: Mumbai

>

Abraham Alapatt
Director
DIN No. 6809421

Date: 19.06.2023
Place: Mumbai




Borderless Travel Services Limited
Statement of Profit And Loss for the year ended Mar 31, 2023

(Amount in Lacs)
Particulars Notes For the year ended For the year ended
March 31,2023 March 31, 2022
Income
Revenue from Operations & i
Total income 5 =
Expenses
Employee benefits expenses 1 42.2 100.8
Finance Cost 12 14.2 7.4
Other expenses 13 2.3 7.2
[Total expenses 58.7 115.4
Loss before tax (58.7) (115.4)
Less : Tax expense
Current tax 14 - -
Deferred tax 14 (14.8) (32.4)
Total tax expenses (14.8) (32.4)
Loss for the year (A) (43-9) (83.0)
Other comprehensive income
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss
Remeasurements of post-employment benefit obligations - 3.3
Income tax relating to items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss - -
Total other comprehensive income for the year, net of taxes (B) - 3.3
Total comprehensive income for the year (A+B) (43.9) (79.7)
Earnings per equity share ( Face value of INR 10 each)
- Basic earnings per share (In INR) 19 (878.7) (1,659.9)
- Diluted earnings per share (In INR) (878.7) (1,659.9)

The above statement of profit and loss should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

As per our report of even date.

For G. M. Kapadia & Co.
Chartered Accountants

Firm Registration Number 104767W

Atul Shah
Partner
Membership No. 39569

Date: 19.06.2023
Place: Mumbai

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors

\

Rajeev
Directo
DIN: 6775970

Date: 19.06.2023
Place: Mumbai

P
Abraham Alapatt
Director

DIN No. 6809421

Date: 19.06.2023
Place: Mumbai




Borderless Travel Services Limited
Notes to financial statements for the year ended 31st March 2023

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

(A) Equity share capital (Amount in Lacs)
Particulars Amount
Balance as at April 1, 2021 0.5
changes in equity share capital during the year -
Balance as at March 31, 2022 0.5
changes in equity share capital during the year -
Balance as at March 31, 2023 0.5
(B) Other Equity
Reserves & Surplus
Particulars Retained Earnings Total Reserve & Surplus
Balance as at April 1, 2021 (64.4) (64.4)
Profit for the vear (83.0) (83.0)
Other Comprehensive Income 3.3 3-3

Total Comprehensive Income for the year - -

Transaction with owners in their capacity as owners & =

Balance at the March 31, 2022 (144.1) (144.1)

Profit for the year (43.9) (43.9)

Other Comprehensive Income

Total Comprehensive Income for the year - -

Transaction with owners in their capacity as owners - -

Ealam:e as at March 31, 2023 (188.0) (188.0)
The above statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

As per our report of even date. For and on behalf of the Board of Directors
For G. M. Kapadia & Co.
Chartered Accountants

Firm Registration Number 104767W

el

Atul Shah Abraham Alapatt
Partner Director
Membership No. 39569 DIN: 6775970 DIN No. 6809421
Date: 19.06.2023 Date: 19.06.2023 Date: 19.06.2023

Place: Mumbai Place: Mumbai Place: Mumbai




Borderless Travel Services Limited
Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended March 31, 2023

1. The above Cash Flow Statement has been prepared under the "Indirect Method" set out in Indian Accounting Standard

(Ind AS-7) on Statement of Cash Flow as notified under Companies (Acounts) Rules, 2015.
2. The above statement of Cash flow should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

As per our report of even date

For G. M. Kapadia & Co.
Chartered Accountants

Firm Registratign Number 104767W

Atul Shah
Partner
Membership No. 3956

Date: 19.06.2023
Place: Mumbai

\

Rajee v
Direcfor
DIN: 6775970

Date: 10.06.2023
Place: Mumbai

(Amount in Lacs)
Note Year ended Year ended
Particulars March 31, 2023 March 31, 2022
A) Cash flow from operating activities
Loss before income tax (58.7) (115.4)
Operating profit before changes in operating assets and liabilities (58.7) (115.4)
Change in operating assets and liabilities:
Increase/(Decrease) in Other financial Liabilities (4.8) 7.8
Increase/(Decrease) in Other Liabilities (2.9) 1.0
(Increase)/ Decrease in Other Assets 26.3 -
(Increase)/ Decrease in Other Financial Assets - (0.1)
Cash generated from operations (40.1) (106.7)
Income taxes paid - -
Net cash inflow / (outflow) from operating activities (g40.1) (106.7)
B) Cash flow from investing activities:
Loan received/Paid (3.7 138.0
Net cash inflow / (outflow) from investing activities (3.7) 138.0
Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (43.8) 313
Add: Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year 47.2 15.9
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 3.4 47.2
31 March 2023 31 March 2022
Reconciliation of Cash Flow statements as per the cash Jlow statement
Cash Flow statement as per above comprises of the following
Cash and cash equivalents 3.4 47.2
Balances as per statement of cash flows 3.4 47.2
Notes :

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors

el

Abraham Alapatt
Director
DIN No. 6809421

Date: 10.06 2022
Place: Mumbai
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Borderless Travel Services Limited
Notes forming part of the Financial Statements for the year ended March 31, 2023

General Information

Borderless Travel Services Limited was incorporated on August 25th, 2015 The Company is a 100% subsidiary of Thomas Cook (India) Limited

1 Significant Accounting Policies

1.1 Basis of preparation of financial statements

-

(a) Statement of compliance with Ind AS

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Indian Accounting Standards (hereinafter referred to as the 'Ind AS")
In accordance with proviso of the Rule 4A of Companies Accounting Rules, 2014, the terms used in these financial statements are in
accordance with the definitions and other requirements specified in the applicable Accounting standards as notified by Ministry of Corporate
Affairs pursuant to section 133 of the Companies Act, 2013 read with rule 4 of the Companies (Indian Accounting standards) Rules, 2015 that

are notified and effective as at 315t March, 2019,

This financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2023 has prepared under IND AS.

Current V/s Non-Current

All assets and liabilities have been classified as current or non-current as per the Company’s normal operating eycle and other criteria set out
in the Schedule I11 to the Companies Act, 2013. Based on the nature of services and the time between the rendering of services and their
realization in cash and cash equivalents, the Company has ascertained its operating cycle as 12 months for the purpose of current-noncurrent
classification of assets and liabilities.

1.2 Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the entity has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that an
outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount
of the obligation. Provisions are measured at the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the present obligation at the Balance
Sheet date. Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses. A provision is recognized even if the likelihood of an outflow with
respect to any one item included in the same class of obligations may be small. Provisions are measured at the present value of management'’s
best estimate of the expenditure require to settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting period. The discount rate used to
determine the present value is a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
liability. Contingent liabilities are disclosed when there is a possible obligation arising from past events, the existence of which will be
confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the Entity or a
present obligation that arises from past events where it is either not probable that an outflow of resoureces will be required to settle the
obligation or a reliable estimate of the amount cannot be made.

1.3 Cash and Cash Equivalents
In the cash flow statement, Cash and Cash Equivalents includes Cash on Hand, Cheques/Drafts on Hand, Remittances in Transit, Balances
with Bank held in Current Account and Demand Deposits with maturities of three months or less. Bank overdrafts are repayable on demand
and form an integral part of an entity's cash management, and are included as a component of cash and cash equivalents.

1.4 Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share is computed by dividing the net profit for the period attributable to the equity shareholders of the Company by the
weighted average number of equity shares outstanding during the period. The weighted average number of equity shares outstanding during
the period and for all periods presented is adjusted for events, such as bonus shares, and excluding treasury shares other than the conversion
of potential equity shares that have changed the number of equity shares outstanding, without a corresponding change in resources.

For the purpose of calculating diluted earnings per share, the net profit for the period attributable to equity shareholders and the weighted
average number of shares outstanding during the period is adjusted for the effects of all dilutive potential equity shares.

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic earnings per share to take

into account:

+ The after income tax effect of interest and other financing costs associated with dilutive potential equity

shares, and

* The weighted average number of additional equity shares that would have been outstanding assuming

the conversion of all dilutive potential equity shares.

The diluted potential equity shares are adjusted for the proceeds receivable had the equity shares been actually issued at fair value (that is the
average market value of the outstanding equity shares). Dilutive potential equity shares are deemed converted as at the beginning of the
period, unless issued at a later date.

A




Borderless Travel Services Limited
Notes forming part of the Financial Statements for the year ended March 31, 2023

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

1.5
(a)
(b)

1.6

1.7

Empolyee Benefits

Long-term Employee Benefits

The Company operates the following post-employment schemes:
(i) Defined benefit plans such as gratuity
(ii) Defined contribution plans such as provident fund

(i) Defined Contribution Plans

Contribution towards Provident Fund for all employees are made to the regulatory authorities,where the Company has no further obligations.
Such benefits are classified as Defined Contribution Schemes as the Company does not carry any further obligations, apart from the
contributions made on a monthly basis.

Company's contributions to the above funds are charged to the Statement of Profit and Loss for the year for which the contributions are due
for payment.

(ii) Defined Benefit Plans
The Company provides for gratuity, a defined benefit plan (the “Gratuity Plan”) covering eligible employees in accordance with the Payment

of Gratuity Act, 1972. The Gratuity Plan provides a lump sum payment to vested employees at retirement, death, incapacitation or
termination of employment, of an amount based on the respective employee’s salary and the tenure of employment.

Contribution to Gratuity is based on the premium contribution called for by the Life Insurance Corporation of India (LIC) with whom the
Company has entered into an arrangement. The Company’s liability is actuarially determined (using the Projected Unit Credit method) at the
end of each year. The amount of net interest expense calculated by applying the liability discount rate to the net defined benefit liability or
asset is charged or credited in the statement of profit and loss. Any differences between the interest income on plan assets and the return
actually achieved, and any changes in the liabilities over the year due to changes in actuarial assumptions or experience adjustments within
the plans, are recognised immediately in ‘Other comprehensive income’ and subsequently not reclassified to the statement of profit and loss.

Short-term Employee Benefit
Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits that are expected to be settled wholly within 12 months after the end of

the period in which the employees render the related service are recognised in respect of employees services up to the end of the reporting
period and are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled. The liabilities are presented as current employee
benefit obligations in the balance sheet.

Rounding of amounts
All amounts disclosed in the financial statements and notes have been rounded off to the nearest rupees or decimals thereof as per the
requirement of schedule III (division II), unless otherwise stated.

Previous year's figures have been regrouped/rearranged wherever necessary to confirm with current year’s figures.

2 Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgements:

The preparation of Standalone Financial Information requires the use of accounting estimates which, by definition, will seldom equal the actual results.
Management also need to exercise judgment in applying the group’s accounting policies.

This note provides an overview of the areas that involved a higher degree of judgement or complexity, and of items which are more likely to be materially
adjusted due to estimates and assumptions turning out to be different than those originally assessed. Detailed information about each of these estimates
and judgements is included in relevant notes together with information about the basis of calculation for each affected line item in the Restated
Standalone Financial Information.

Critical estimates and Judgements

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated. They are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events
that may have a financial impact on the Company and that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances,




Borderless Travel Services Limited

Notes forming part of the Financial Statements for the year ended March 31, 2023

Note 3: Deferred Tax Assets:

The balance comprises of temporary differences attributable to:

(Amount in Lacs)

Asat
Particulars As at March 31, 2023 | March 31, 2022
Deferred Tax on Business Losses 66.0 51.3
Total Deferred Tax Assets 66.0 51.3

Note 4.1: Financial Assets - Cash and cash equivalents

(Amﬂnt in Lacs)

Particulars As at March 31, 2023 As at
March 31, 2022
Balances with banks :
In current accounts 3.4 46.3
Cash in hand - -
Cheques on hand - 0.9
Total Cash and cash equivalents 3.4 47.2
Note 4.2: Other financials assets
(Amount in Lacs)
Particulars As at March 31, 2023 As at

March 31, 2022

Other Receivables from Related Parties

26.3

Total Cash and cash eguivalents

26.3

Note 5: Other current assets

(Amotgg in Lacs)

Particulars As at March 31, 2023 As at
March 31, 2022
SLA bank Balance 0.7 0.7
Balance with Govt Authorities 0.2 0.2
Total Other Current Assets 0.9 0.9

\




Borderless Travel Services Limited

Notes forming part of the Financial Statements for the year ended March 31, 2023

Note 6: Equity Share Capital

Equity Share capital (Amount in Lacs)
Particulars No of Shares Amount
AUTHORISED

As at April 1, 2021 10 100
Increase during the year - =
As at March 31, 2022 10 100
Increase during the year - -

As at March 31, 2023 10 100

(i) Movement in Equity Share Capital during the Year

Particulars

No of Shares

Amount
As at April 1, 2021 0.1 0.5
Add: No of Shares issued during the vear - -
As at March 31, 2022 0.1 0.5
Add: No of Shares issued during the year -
As at March 31, 2023 0.1 0.5

(ii) Terms and rights attached to shares

The Company has one class of equity shares having a par value of Rs. 10 per share. Each shareholder is eligible for one vote per share held. The dividend
proposed by the Board of Directors is subject to the approval of the shareholders in the ensuing Annual General Meeting, except in case of interim

dividend. In the event of liquidation, the equity shareholders are eligible to receive the residual assets of the Company after distribution to all secured
creditors, if any, of all preferential amounts, in proportion to their dues.

(iii) Shares of the company held by Holding Company

As at March 31, 2023

As at March 31, 2022

g 3 % change
Particulars
No of Shares Amount % cinge duiig No of Shares Amount during the
the year
year

Equity Shares

Thomas cook (India) Limited (Holding Company) and

its Nominees 0.1 0.5 - 0.1 0.5 =

(iv) Shareholdilﬁ Pattern (Shareholders holding 5% or more shares in the Company)

As at March 31, 2023

As at March 31, 2022

Category of Shareholder : % change
ai No of Shares | % of Holding » chta;:: g;ccsll:rmg No of Shares | % of Holding | during the
year
Equity Shares
Thomas cook (India) Limited (Holding Company) and
its Nominees 0.1 100% = 0.1 100% -

(v) Shares held by promoters at the end of the year

As at March 31, 2023

As at March 31, 2022

. % change
Gt gy s Nisxetinlise No of Shares | % of Holding i Cht&::a g;e(;rurmg No of Shares | % of Holding | during the
year
Equity Shares
Thomas cook (India) Limited (Holding Company) and
its Nominees 0.1 100% - 0.1 100% -




Borderless Travel Services Limited
Notes forming part of the Financial Statements for the year ended March 31, 2023

Note 7: Reserves and surplus (Amount in Lacs)
As at March 31, | As at March 31,
Particulars 2023 2022
Retained Earnings (188.0) (144.1)
Total reserves and surplus (188.0) (144.1)
Retained Earnings
As at March 31, | As at March 31,
Particulars 2023 2022
Opening Balance (144.1) (64.4)
Net Profit for the year (43.9) (83.0)
Items of other Comprehensive income recognised directly in retained earnings - 3.3
Closing Balance (188.0) (144.1)
Note 9: Financial Liablities (Amount in Lacs)
Particalars As at March 31, As at March 31,
2023 2022
Loan from Related Party 146.3 150.0
Total (A) 146.3 150.0
Other Financial Liabilities
Interest Payable to Related Party - 0.2
Advance from Related Party 66.2 66.2
Liabilities against expense 14.5 19.2
Total (B) 80.7 85.6
Total Other Financial Liablities (A+B) 227.0 235.6

Note 10: Other Current Liabilities

(Amount in Lacs)

P Sl As at March 31, | As at March 31,

2023 2022
Statutory Dues 0.1 3.0
Total 0.1 3.0




Borderless Travel Services Limited
Notes forming part of the Financial Statements for the vear ended March 31, 2023

Note 8 : Employee Benefit Obligations

(Amount in Lacs)
Particul 31st March 2023 31st March, 2022
=% Non-Current Current Total Non-Current Current Total

Leave Entitlement & 0.7 0.7 - 0.7 0.7
Gratuity 26.2 2.6 28.8 26.2 2.6 28.8
Employee Benefit Payables - 13 1.3 - 1.3 1.3
Total 26.2 4.5 30.8 26.2 4.5 30.
(i)Leave Obligati - Leave Entitl t

The leave obligations cover the Company's liability for earned leave.
The amount of the provision of Rs 65,395 (Previous Period - 65,395) is presented as current, since the company does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement for any of these obligations.
The following amounts reflect leave that is expected to be taken or paid within the next 12 months.

(Amount in Lacs)

31st March,
2022

31st March
2023

Particulars

Current leave obligations expected to be settled within next 12 months 07 0.7

(ii) Post Employment Obligations
Gratuity

The company provides for gratuity for employees in India as per the Payment of Gratuity Act, 1972. Employees who are in continuous service for a period of 5 years are eligible for gratuity. The
amount of gratuity payable on retirement,/termination is the employees last drawn basic salary per month computed proportionately for 15 days salary multiplied for the number of years of service.
(iii) Defined contribution Plans

The company also has certain defined contribution plans. Contributions are made to provident fund in India for employees at the rate of 12% of basic salary as per regulations. The contributions are
made to registered provident fund administered by the government. The obligation of the company is limited to the amount contributed and it has no further contractual nor any constructive

obligation. The expense recognised during the period towards defined contribution plan is INR NIL

Balance Sheet Amounts - Gratuity
The amounts recognised in the balance sheet and the movements in the net defined benefit obligation over the year are as follows:

(Amount in Lacs)

Particulars

Present value of
obligation

Fair value of
plan assets

Net amount

1st April, 2022

Current service cost

Past Service cost

Interest expense/(income)

Total amount recognised in profit and loss
Remeasurements

Return on plan assets, excluding amount included in interest
expense/(income)

(Gain)/loss from change in demographic assumptions
(Gain)/loss from change in financial assumptions
Experience (gains)/losses

Total amount recognised in other comprehensive income
Employer contributions
Benefit payments

28.8

28.8

315t March, 2023

28.8

The net liability disclosed above relates to funded and unfunded plans as follows:

(Amount in Lacs)

Particulars

31st March
2023

31st March,
2022

Present value of unfunded obligations
Fair value of plan assets

Deficit of fanded plan

Unfunded plans

Deficit of gratuity plan

28.8
28.8

28.8

28.8

28.8

28.8




Significant esti Actuarial

tions and sensitivity for gratuity
The sigiﬁcant actuarial assumptions were as follows:

Partionlars 31st March 31st March,
2023 2022
Discount rate - 6.60%
Salary growth rate - 6.00%
(iv) Sensitivity analysis
‘The sensitivity of the defined benefit obligation to changes in the weighted principal assumptions is:
Particulars Impact on defined benefit obligation
Change in Change in Increase in Increase in Decrease in Decrease in
ptions ptions ptions pti ptions ptions
March 31,2023 | March 31,2022 | 315t March 2023| March 31,2022 315;::;"':]' March 31,2022
Discount rate - 50 basis points - -3.39% - 3.57%
Salary growth rate - 50 basis points - 3.57% - -3.43%

The above sensitivity analyses are based on a change in an assumption while holding all other assumptions constant. In practice, this is unlikely to occur, and changes in some of the assumptions
may be correlated. When calculating the sensitivity of the defined benefit obligation to significant actuarial assumptions the same method (present value of the defined benefit obligation calculated
with the projected unit credit method at the end of the reporting period) has been applied as when calculating the defined benefit liability recognised in the balance sheet.

(v) Risk Exposure for gratuity

Through its defined benefit plans, the company is exposed to a number of risks, the most significant of which are detailed below :

Salary growth & Demographic assumptions- The plan is of a final salary defined benefit in nature which is sponsored by the Company and hence it underwrites all the risks pertaining to the plan. In
particular, there is a risk for the company that any adverse salary growth or demographic experience or inadequate returns on underlying plan assets can result in an increase in cost of providing
these benefits to employees in future. Since the benefits are lumpsum in nature the plan is not subject to any longevity risks.

(vi) Defined benefit liability and employer contributions for gratuity
The weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligation is 6.96 years. The expected maturity analysis of undiscounted gratuity is as follows:

(Amount in Laes)

Particulars Less than a year et Eelween 25 Over 5 years Total
years years
31st March, 2023 - Post Employment Obligations = = = = =
31st March, 2022 - Post Employment Obligations 2.6 2.1 6.0 371 47.8




Borderless Travel Services Limited
Notes forming part of the Financial Statements for the year ended March 31,2023

Note 11 : Employee Benefit Expense (Amount in Lacs)
Particulars For the year ended For the year ended March
March 31, 2023 31, 2022
Salaries Wages and Bonus 40.4 94.3
Contribution to Provident and Other Funds 1.8 4.2
Gratuity - 3.0
Leave valuation - (0.7)
Total 42.2 100.8
Note 12 : Finance Costs (Amount in Lacs)
Particulars For the year ended For the year ended March
March 31, 2023 31, 2022
Other Finance Charges 14.2 7.4
Total 14.2 74
Note 13 : Other Expenses
Particulars For the year ended For the year ended March
March 31, 2023 31, 2022
Legal and Professional Charges #(Refer note below "a") 0.3 7.1
IT Expense ; License and Software Maintenance Cost - 0.1
Rent 2.0 =
Total 2.3 i ]

# Legal and Professional charges include auditors remuneration

(a): Details of payments to auditors

Particulars For the year ended For the year ended March
March 31, 2023 31, 2022

Payment to auditors
As auditor:
-Statutory Audit 0.3 0.3
-Tax Audit -
In other capacities
-Re-imbursement of expenses - -
Total payments to auditors 0.3 0.3

Note 14: Income Tax Expense

Particulars For the year ended For the year ended March
March 31, 2023 31, 2022

(a) Income tax expense
Current tax

Current tax on profits for the year = =
Adjustments for current tax of prior periods i 2

Total current tax expense - -
Deferred tax
increase in deferred tax assets (14.8) (32.4)
Total deferred tax credit (14.8) (32-.4)
Income tax expense (14.8) (32.4)
(b) The reconciliation of tax expense and the accounting profit multiplied by India's tax rate :

Particulars For the year ended | For the year ended March

March 31, 2023 31, 2022

Profit from continuing operations before income tax expense (58.7) (115.4)
Tax at the Indian tax rate of 25.17% (PY - 25.17%) (24.8) (29.1)

Tax effect of amounts which are not deductible(taxable) in calculating taxable income:
Interest on shortfall of advance tax -
CSR Expenditure
Buffer tax created
Dividend income -

Sec 14A Disallowance = -
On account of rate difference as compared to previous year - -
Other items - (3.4)
Income tax expense (14.8) (32.4)
e




Borderless Travel Services Limited
Notes forming part of the Financial Statements for the year ended March 31, 2023

Note 15: Fair value measurements
Trade receivables, cash and cash equivalents, other financial assets, trade payables, and other financial liabilities have been carried at
amortised cost. The carrying amounts of these financial assets and financial liabilities are considered to be the same as their fair values due to

their short-term nature. Hence, no fair value disclosures / information for these financial assets and financial liabilities has been disclosed
since the carrying amount is a reasonable approximation of fair value.

Note 16: Financial risk management
Being a non - operating company, the company is not exposed to any kind of risk.

Note 17: Capital management

The Company's objectives when managing capital (consisting of equity capital and unremitted profit in the financial statements) are to
safeguard its ability to continue as a going concern, so it can continue to provide services for the holding company and related entities and to
maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or change the capital structure, the Company may adjust the amount of profits for remittance to holding company,
return equity capital, or require holding company to infuse additional capital to support its operations.

There are no externally imposed capital requirements on the Company.

The Company has not proposed any Dividend for the year ended March 31, 2023 and March 31, 2022.




Borderless Travel Services Limited

Notes forming part of the Financial Statements for the year ended March 31, 2023

Note 18: Related Party Transactions
(a) Parent Entities
The Company is controlled by the following entity:

Ownership Interest (%)
Name Type Place of Incorporation As at March 31, | As at March 31,
2023 2022
Thomas Cook (India) Limited, India ("TCIL") holds 100%
of Equity Shares of the Company. (Fairbridge Capital
(Mauritius) Limited, Mauritius (“FCML") holds 66.94% of 3 :
Equity Shares of TCIL. FCML is wholly owned and Farenk gaiily T o oK
controlled by Fairfax Financial Holdings Limited, Canada,
the ultimate holding company.)

(b) Key Management personnel (Directors)

Particulars

Amit Madhan
Rajeev Kale
Abraham Alapatt

(c) Transactions with related parties
The following transactions occurred with related parties:

Nature of transaction

March 31, 2023

March 31, 2022

(i) Holding Company

Interest Expenses
Thomas Cook (India) Limited

Balance as at the year end
Thomas Cook (India) Limited
Loan Payable (including interest due)
Interest Payable
Outstanding Payable

(ii) Fellow Subsidiaries

Reimbursement of Expenses (Net)
Horizon Travel Services LLC [ATP]

Balance as at the year end
Outstanding Payable
Horizon Travel Services LLC [ATP]
SOTC Travel Limited

14.3

158.4

62.9

7-4

150.0
0.2
65.8

‘4.0

7-4
26.3

T —TE————




Borderless Travel Services Limited
Notes forming part of the Financial Statements for the year ended March 31, 2023

Note 19: Earnings Per Share

Particulars For the year ended For the year ended
March 31, 2023 March 31, 2022

Net Profit attributable to equity shareholders (43.9) (83.0)

Weighted average number of outstanding shares 0.1 0.1

(a) Basic earnings per share

Attributable to the equity holder of the company (878.7) (1,659.9)

(b) Diluted earnings per share

Attributable to the equity holder of the company (878.7) (1,659.9)

(c) Reconciliation of earnings used in calculating earnings per share

Particulars

March 31, 2023

March 31, 2022

Basic earnings per share
Profits attributable to the equity holders of the company used in calculating basic earnings per

share (43.9) (83.0)
Profits attributable to the equity holders of the company used in calculating diluted earnings
per share (43.9) (83.0)

(d) Weighted average number of shares used as the denominator

Particulars

March 31, 2023

March 31, 2022

Weighted average number of equity shares used as the denominator in calculating basic

earning per share 0.1 0.1
Weighted average number of equity shares and potential equity shares used as the
denominator in calculating diluted earning per share 0.1 0.1




Borderless Travel Services Limited
Notes forming part of the Financial Statements for the year ended March 31, 2023

Note 20 : Segmental Reporting

Since the Company has no operations, there are no reportable segments.

Note 21: Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises
There are no Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises, to whom the Company owes dues, which are outstanding as at March 31, 2023. This information as required to be disclosed under the Micro, Small and Medium
Enterprises Development Act, 2006 has been determined to the extent such parties have been identified on the basis of information available with the Company. This has been relied upon by the aunditors.

Note 22

As at March 31, 2023, company has not started its commercial operations. The Company is a 100% subsidiary of Thomas Cook (India) Limited, which has undertook to provide sufficient financial support to the

company to carry on business without curtailment of operations for the period of at least 12 months from the date of signing of the audit report i.e. June 19, 2023 by written support letter.

Note 23
Ratios
Current Ratio FY z022- 23 FY 2021- 22 Variance in % Remarks
Curent Asests 4.3 744 , .
Carreot Liabilit Ratio has decreased due to realisation of

et ilities 231.6 243.1 current assets
Ratio 0.0 03 94%
Debt Equity Ratio FY 2022- 23 FY 2021- 22 Variance in %
Total Debt 146.3 150.0 Variation due to reduction in equity due
Total Equity 187.5 1436 o current year losses
Ratio -0.8 -1.0 25%
Return on Equity Ratio FY 2022-23 FY 2021- 22 Variance in %
Loss after Tax (43.9) (79.7) [Equity in negative due to accumulated
Total Equity (187.5) (143.6) e
Ratio NA NA NA
Net Profit Ratio FY 2022-23 FY 2021- 22 Variance in %
Profit after tax (43.9) (79.7) NA No Revenue from operation during the
e e O - e previous and current year
Ratio NA NA KA
Net Capital Turnover Ratio FY 2022-23 FY 2021- 22 Variance in %
Revenue from Op - = No Revenue from operation during the
Closing Working Capital (227.2) (168.7) previoos and carrant yeer
Ratio NA NA NA
Return on Investment FY 2022- 23 FY 2021- 22 Variance in %
Closing less opening market price NA RA N

No
Opening Market price NA NA
Ratio NA NA NA
Debt Service Coverage Ratio FY 2022- 23 FY 2021- 22 Vari in %
Profit before interest, tax and depreciation (44.5) {108.0) Lossess has been reduced as compared to
Clsoing Debt Service 154.6 150:2 previous year
Ratio -0.3 -0.7 60%
Inventory Turnover Ratio FY 2022-23 FY z021-22 Variance in %
Cost of Goods Sold NA NA
No Inventory

Closing Inventory NA NA
Ratio NA NA KA




e

Trade Receivable Turnover Ratio FY 2022- 23 FY 2021-22 Variance in %

Revenue from Operations B4 ! No Revenue and trade receivables
Closing current Trade NA NA

Ratio NA NA NA

Trade Payable Turnover Ratio FY 2022-23 FY 2021-22 Variance in %

Cost of Goods Sold NA BA No

Closing Trade Payable 14.5 19.2

Ratio KA NA NA

Note 24

No fands have been advanced or loaned or invested (either fram borrowed funds or share premium or any cther sources or kind of fands) by the Company to or in any other person(s) or entity(ies), including foreign
entities (*Intermediaries™) with the und ding, whether ded in writing or otherwise, that the Intermediary shall lend or invest in party identified by or on behalf of the Company (Ultimate Beneficiaries). The
Company has not received any fund from any party(s) (Funding Party) with the understanding that the Company shall whether, directly or indirectly lend or invest in other persons or entities identified by or on
behalf of the Company (“Ultimate Beneficiaries™) or provide any guarantee, security or the like on behalf of the Ultimate Beneficiaries.

Note.25
Additional Regulatory Information detailed in clause 6Y of General Instructions given in Part 1 of Division 1 of the Schedule 111 to the Companies Act, 2013 are furnished to the extent applicable to the Company.
Note 26; Previous year's figures has been regrouped/rearranged wherever necessary to confirm with current year's figure.

Signatures to Notes 1 to 26 form an integral part of the financial statements.

As per our report of even date For and on behalf of the Board of Directors
For G. M. Kapadia & Co.

Chartered Accountants
Firm Registration Number 104767W

P el

Amul Shah Abraham Alapatt
Partner Director
Membership No. 39569 DIN No. 6809421
Date: 10.06.2023 Date: 19.06.2023 Date: 19.06.2023
Place: Mumbai

Place: Mumbai Place: Mumbai




BDC Digiphoto Imaging Solutions Private Limited
Management Accounts
Balance Sheet as at 31st March, 2023

Particulars Notes As at
31st March, 2023
ASSETS:
Non-current assets:
Property, plant and equipment 3 23,140,151
Capital work-in-progress 3 -0
Right-Of-Use Assets 3 18,196,653
Other intangible Assets 4 2,334,063
Financial assets:-
- Non current investments -
- Other financial assets 5 4,200,000
Other non-current assets -
Non Current Tax assets 6 62,876
Deferred tax assets (net) 7 -
Total non-current assets 47,933,743
Current assets:
- Inventories 8 5,245,088
Financial assets:-
- Investment -
- Trade receivables 9(a) 100,716,349
- Cash and cash equivalents 9(b) 12,191,376
- Bank balances other than cash and cash 9(c) -
equivalents
- Loans -
- Other financial assets 9(d) 1,462,420
Current Tax Assets (Net) -
Other current assets 10 46,166,206
Total current assets 165,781,440
TOTAL ASSETS 213,715,184
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
EQUITY
Equity share capital 11(a) 100,000
Other equity
Reserve and surplus 11(b) -202,816,278
Total Equity -202,716,278
LIABILITIES
Non-current liabilities
Financial Liabilities
-Lease liabilities 11,937,971
- Other financial liabilities -
Provisions 12 2,600,569
Total non-current liabilities 14,538,540
Current liabilities
Financial liabilities
-Lease liabilities 6,562,701
- Trade payables 13(a) 367,634,087
- Other financial liabilities 13(b) 5,832,104
Provisions 12 -
Current Tax Liabilities -
Other current liabilities 14 21,864,029
Total current liabilities 401,892,922
TOTAL LIABILITIES 416,431,462
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 213,715,184




BDC Digiphoto Imaging Solutions Private Limited
Management Accounts
Statement of Profit And Loss for the year ended 31st March, 2023

Particulars Notes year ended 31st
March, 2023
Income
Revenue from operations 17 111,340,029
Other income 18(a) 51,622,158
Other gains (net) 18(b) 5,326,992
Total income 168,289,180
Expenses
Cost of services 15,372,457
Revenue share 41,728,958
Employee benefits expense 19 55,699,060
Finance Cost 22 2,163,640
Depreciation and amortisation expense 20 6,548,881
Depreciation - Right of Use Assets - Buildings 2,625,508
Other expenses 21 23,918,591
Total expenses 148,057,095
Profit before exceptional item 20,232,084
Add Exceptional items:
Less Exceptional items: -
(Loss)/Profit before tax 20,232,084
Less : Tax expense -
Current tax 23 -
Deferred tax 23 -
Total tax expenses -
(Loss)/Profit for the year (A) 20,232,084
Other comprehensive income
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss
Remeasurements of post-employment benefit obligations -135,419
Income tax relating to items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss
Total other comprehensive income for the year, net of taxes (B) -135,419
Total comprehensive income for the year (A+B) 20,096,665




Horizon Travel Services LLC
Balance Sheet as at 31st March 2023

Currency - USD

Particulars Notes As at As at
31st March 2023 31st March, 2022

ASSETS
Non-current assets:
Property, plant and equipment 3 24,905.4 52,712.5
Capital work-in-progress 3 - -
Goodwill 4 2,462,283.3 2,462,283.3
Other intangible Assets 4 120,616.9 143,391.6
Right of Use Assets 4(a) 1,203,241.8 1,438,597.8
Intangible assets under development
Investment accounted for using equity method 5 - -
Investment in subsidiaries 5 30,336.8 30,336.8
Financial assets
- Non current investments 5 - -
- Loans
- Other financial assets 6(e) 31,288.0 20,762.2
Other non-current assets 7 10,369.5 26,032.5
Non Current Income Tax assets 9 6,341.0 7,963.7
Deferred tax assets (net) 16 2,085,553.1 2,004,490.5
Total non-current assets 5,974,935.8 6,195,570.9
Current assets:
Inventories
Financial assets
- Investments 6(a) - -
- Trade receivables 6(b) 698,679.0 417,482.8
- Cash and cash equivalents 6(c) 1,396,379.3 1,640,254.0
- Bank balances other than cash and cash equivalents 6(d) - -
- Other financial assets 6(e) 812,385.1 25,000.0
Other current assets 8 1,284,792.9 1,238,807.1
Total current assets 4,192,236.4 3,321,543.9
TOTAL ASSETS 10,167,172.2 9,517,114.8
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
EQUITY
Equity share capital 10(a) 975,000.0 975,000.0
Preference share capital 10(a) - -
Other equity

Share application money pending allotment - -

Reserve and surplus 10(b) (7,878,397.2) (7,527,981.5)
Total Eguity (6,903,397.2) (6,552,981.5)
LIABILITIES
Non-current liabilities
Financial Liabilities
- Borrowings 11(a) - -
- Other financial liabilities 11(c) 1,751,753.7 1,951,269.6
Provisions 14 - -
Employee Benefit Obligations 15 - -
Deferred tax liabilities (net) 16 - -
Other non-current liabilities 12 - -
Total non-current liabilities 1,751,753.7 1,951,269.6
Current liabilities
Financial liabilities
- Borrowings 11(b) 8,270,000.0 9,070,000.0
- Trade payables 11(d) 2,032,702.8 2,662,158.9
- Other financial liabilities 11(c) 1,684,131.1 719,771.5
Provisions 14 - -
Employee Benefit Payable 15 - -
Current Income Tax Liabilities 9 - -
Other current liabilities 13 2,431,982.1 1,666,896.1
Total current liabilities 15,318,816.0 14,118,826.5
TOTAL LIABILITIES 17,070,569.7 16,070,096.1
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIE_S 10,167,172.6 9,517,114.6

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

The above balance sheet should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Horizon Travel Services, LLC

(Rosanna Jacob - CFO)



Horizon Travel Services LLC

Statement of Profit And Loss for the 12 months ended 31st March 2023

Currency - USD

Particulars Notes 12 months ended 31st| 12 months ended 31st
March 2023 March 2022
Income
Revenue from operations 17 43,687,582.7 6,722,700.3
Other income 18(a) 593,450.2 189,597.6
Other gains (net) 18(b) - -
Total income 44,281,032.9 6,912,297.9
Expenses
Cost of services 39,285,677.8 6,290,003.5
Employee benefits expense 19 2,777,404.6 2,323,127.0
Finance Cost 22 853,122.2 574,041.3
Advertisement Expenses 55,379.2 22,705.3
Depreciation and amortisation expense 20 327,004.1 350,961.1
Other expenses 21 1,411,499.9 062,704.7
Total expenses 44,710,087.8 10,523,542.9
Profit before exceptional item (429,054.9) (3,611,245.0)
Add Exceptional items:
Less Exceptional items:
(Loss)/Profit before tax (429,054.9) (3,611,245.0)
Less : Tax expense
Current tax 23 2,422.7 800.0
Deferred tax 23 (81,062.5) (764,828.8)
Total tax expenses (78,639.8) (764,028.8)
(Loss)/Profit for the year (A) (350,415.1) (2,847,216.2)
Other comprehensive income
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss
Foreign exchange translation on consolidation - -
Income tax relating to items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss
Total other comprehensive income for the year, net of taxes (B) - -
Total comprehensive income for the year (A+B) (350,415.11) (2,847,216.2)
Earnings/(Loss) per equity share ( Face value of INR 1 each) 34
- Basic earnings/(loss) per share (0.36) (0.63)

- Diluted earnings/(loss) per share

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

The above statement of profit and loss should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Horizon Travel Services, LLC

(Rosanna Jacob — CFOQ)




G. M. KAPADIA & CO.

(REGISTERED)

CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS
1007, RAHEJA CHAMBERS, 213, NARIMAN POINT, MUMBAI 400 021. INDIA

PHONE : (91-22) 6611 6611 FAX : (91-22) 6611 6600

Independent Auditor’s Report
To the Members of Indian Horizon Marketing Services Limited

Report on Audit of the Standalone Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the accompanying standalone financial statements of Indian Horizon
Marketing Services Limited (“the Company”), which comprise the Balance Sheet as at
March 31, 2023, the Statement of Profit and Loss (including Other Comprehensive Income),
Statement of Changes in Equity and the Cash Flow Statement for the year then ended, and a
summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information (hereinafter
referred to as “the standalone financial statements™).

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us,
the aforesaid standalone financial statements give the information required by the Companies
Act, 2013 (“the Act”) in the manner so required and give a true and fair view in conformity with
the Indian Accounting Standards prescribed under section 133 of the Act read with the
Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015, as amended, (“the Ind AS™) and other
accounting principles generally accepted in India, of the state of affairs of the Company as at
March 31, 2023, its loss (including other comprehensive income), its changes in equity and its
cash flows for the year ended on that date.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit of standalone financial statements in accordance with the Standards on
Auditing (“the SAs”) specified under section 143(10) of the Act. Our responsibilities under those
Standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Standalone
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance
with the Code of Ethics issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India (“ICAI”)
together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the standalone financial
statements under the provisions of the Act and the Rules made thereunder, and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the Code of Ethics
issued by ICAL. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion on the standalone financial statements.

Information Other than the Standalone Financial Statements and Auditor’s Report
Thereon

The Company’s Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation of the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in report of board of directors but
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G. M. KAPADIA & CO.

Our opinion on the standalone financial statements does not cover the other information and we
do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the standalone financial statements, our responsibility is to read
the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the standalone financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of
this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this
regard.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Standalone
Financial Statements

The Company's Management and Board of Directors are responsible for the matters stated in
section 134(5) of the Act with respect to the preparation of these standalone financial statements
that give a true and fair view of the financial position, financial performance (including other
comprehensive income), changes in equity and cash flows of the Company in accordance with
the Ind AS and other accounting principles generally accepted in India. This responsibility also
includes maintenance of adequate accounting records in accordance with the provisions of the
Act for safeguarding the assets of the Company and for preventing and detecting frauds and
other irregularities; selection and application of appropriate accounting policies: making
judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and design, implementation and
maintenance of adequate internal financial controls, that were operating effectively for ensuring
the accuracy and completeness of the accounting records, relevant to the preparation and
presentation of the standalone financial statements that give a true and fair view and are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or eITor.

In preparing the standalone financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends
to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Board of Directors are also responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting
process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Standalone Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the standalone financial
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with SAs will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are

\(J\PAD/ sidered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
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influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these standalone financial
Statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with SAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

* Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the standalone financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

* Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances. Under section 143(3)(i) of the Act, we
are also responsible for expressing our opinion on whether the company has adequate
internal financial controls system in place and the operating effectiveness of such controls.

* Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.

* Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the standalone
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a
going concern.

* Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the standalone financial
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the standalone financial statements
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with
relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, related safeguards.

(V8]
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Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

1.

As required by the Companies (Auditor’s Report) Order, 2020 (“the Order”), issued by the
Central Government of India in terms of section 143 (11) of the Act, we give in the
“Annexure A”, a statement on the matters specified in the paragraphs 3 and 4 of the Order.

As required by section 143 (3) of the Act, we report that:

)

(i)

(iif)

(iv)

)

(vi)

(vii)

We have sought and obtained all the information and explanations which to the best of
our knowledge and belief were necessary for the purposes of our audit;

In our opinion, proper books of account as required by law have been kept by the
Company so far as it appears from our examination of those books;

The Balance Sheet, the Statement of Profit and Loss (including Other Comprehensive
Income), the Statement of Changes in Equity and the Cash Flow Statement dealt with
by this Report are in agreement with the relevant books of account;

In our opinion, the aforesaid standalone financial statements comply with the Ind AS
specified under Section 133 of the Act, read with relevant rules issued thereunder and
relevant provisions of the Act;

On the basis of the written representations received from the directors as on March 31,
2023 and taken on record by the Board of Directors, none of the directors is
disqualified as on March 31, 2023 from being appointed as a director in terms of
section 164(2) of the Act;

With respect to the adequacy of the internal financial controls over financial reporting
of the Company and the operating effectiveness of such controls, refer to our separate
report in “Annexure B”;

With respect to the other matters to be included in the Auditor’s Report in accordance
with the requirements of section 197(16) of the Act, as amended:

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations
given to us, the Company has not paid remuneration to its directors during the year.
Accordingly, the provisions of section 197 of the Act are not applicable to the
Company;

(viii) With respect to the other matters to be included in the Auditor’s Report in accordance

with rule 11 of the Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014, as amended, in our
opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to
us:

a) The Company does not have any pending litigations, which would impact the
financial position of the Company;
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b) The Company did not have any material foreseeable losses on long-term contracts
including derivative contracts :

¢) There were no amounts which were required to be transferred to the Investor
Education and Protection Fund by the Company;

d) (i) The Management has represented that, to the best of its knowledge and
belief, as stated in note no. 24, no funds have been advanced or loaned or
invested (either from borrowed funds or share premium or any other sources
or kind of funds) by the Company to or in any other person or entity,
including foreign entity (“Intermediaries™), with the understanding, whether
recorded in writing or otherwise, that the Intermediary shall, whether,
directly or indirectly lend or invest in other persons or entities identified in
any manner whatsoever by or on behalf of the Company (“Ultimate
Beneficiaries™) or provide any guarantee, security or the like on behalf of
the Ultimate Beneficiaries;

(i) The Management has represented, that, to the best of its knowledge and
belief, as stated in note no. 24, no funds have been received by the
Company from any person or entity, including foreign entity (“Funding
Parties™), with the understanding, whether recorded in writing or otherwise,
that the Company shall, whether, directly or indirectly, lend or invest in
other persons or entities identified in any manner whatsoever by or on
behalf of the Funding Party (“Ultimate Beneficiaries”) or provide any
guarantee, security or the like on behalf of the Ultimate Beneficiaries;

(iii) Based on the audit procedures performed by us that have been considered
reasonable and appropriate in the circumstances, nothing has come to our
notice that has caused us to believe that the representations under sub-clause
(1) and (ii) above, contain any material mis-statement; and

€) The Company has neither declared nor paid any dividend during the year.

For G. M. Kapadia & Co.
Chartered Accountants
Firm Registration No. 104767W

P el

Atul Shah
Partner
Membership No. 039569

UDIN:23039569BGURK 4230

Place: Mumbai

Dated: & 1 MAY 2023
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Annexure A to the Independent Auditor’s Report

Referred to in paragraph 1 under “Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements”
of our report on even date to the members of the Company on standalone financial
statements for the year ended March 31, 2023 :

To the best of our information and according to the explanation provided to us by the Company
and the books of account and records examined by us in the normal course of our audit, we state

that:

(i) (a) to (d)
(e)

(i) (@
(b)

(iif) (a) to (f)

(iv)

(v)

The Company does not have any property, plant and equipment and hence
provision of paragraph 3(i)(a) to (d) of the Order is not applicable; and

No proceedings have been initiated during the year or are pending against the
Company as at March 31, 2023 for holding any benami property under the
Benami Transactions (Prohibition) Act, 1988 (as amended in 2016) and rules
made thereunder.

The Company’s nature of operations does not require it to hold inventories.
Consequently, paragraph 3(ii) (a) of the Order regarding physical verification of
inventories and maintenance of records is not applicable; and

According to the information and explanations given to us, at any point of time of
the year, the Company has not been sanctioned any working capital facility from
banks or financial institutions and hence reporting under paragraph 3(ii) (b) of the
Order is not applicable.

During the year, the Company has not made investments in, provided any
guarantee or security or granted any loans or advances in the nature of loans,
secured or unsecured, to companies, firms, Limited Liability Partnerships or any
other parties. Accordingly, reporting under paragraph 3(iii)(a) to (f) of the Order
are not applicable to the Company.

The Company has not granted any loan, made investment or provided guarantee
or security to the parties covered under section 185 and 186 of the Act. Therefore,
paragraph 3(iv) of the Order is not applicable to the Company.

The Company has not accepted deposits or amounts which are deemed to be
deposits therefore, the provisions of sections 73 to 76 or any other relevant
provisions of the Act and the rules framed there under are not applicable to the
Company. We have been informed by the management that no order has been
passed by the Company Law Board or National Company Law Tribunal or
Reserve Bank of India or any court or any other tribunal in this regard.

The maintenance of cost records has not been specified by the Central

Government under section 148(1) of the Act, for the business activities carried out
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(vii)  (a)

(b)

(viii)

(ix) (a)

(x)

(b)

(©)

(d)

(€ & (O

(a)

by the Company. Hence, reporting under paragraph 3(vi) of the Order is not
applicable.

The Company has generally been regular in depositing with appropriate
authorities undisputed statutory dues such as goods and services tax, income tax,
cess and other applicable statutory dues. According to information and
explanations given to us, no undisputed statutory dues payable were in arrears as
at March 31, 2023, for a period of more than six months from the date they
became payable; and

There are no such statutory dues as referred to in sub- paragraph (a) above which
have not been deposited with the concerned authorities as on March 3 1, 2023, on
account of dispute.

There are no transaction which are not recorded in the books of accounts and
have been surrended or disclosed as income in the tax assessments under the
Income Tax Act, 1961 (43 of 1961).

The Company has not taken any loans or other borrowings from any lender.
Hence reporting under paragraph 3(ix)(a) of the Order is not applicable to the
Company;

The Company has not been declared wilful defaulter by any bank or financial
institution or government or any government authority;

The Company has not taken any terms loan. Accordingly, reporting under
paragraph 3(ix)(c) of the Order is not applicable to the Company;

The Company has not raised any funds on short-term basis. Accordingly, the
reporting under paragraph 3(ix)(d) of the Order is not applicable to the Company;
and

The Company does not have any subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures.

Accordingly, the reporting under paragraph 3(ix)(¢) and (f) of the Order is not
applicable.

The Company has not raised any moneys by way of initial public offer or further
public offer (including debt instruments) during the year. Accordingly, reporting
under paragraph 3(x)(a) of the Order is not applicable to the Company; and

The Company has not made any preferential allotment or private placement of
shares or convertible debentures (fully, partially or optionally convertible) during
the current financial year. Accordingly, the reporting under paragraph 3(x)(b) of
the Order is not applicable to the Company.
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(xi) (a) We have neither come across any instance of fraud by the Company or any
material instance of fraud on the Company by its officers or employees, noticed or
reported during the year;

(b)  No report under section 143(12) of the Act has been filed during the year by the
auditors in Form ADT-4 as prescribed under rule 13 of the Companies (Audit and
Auditors) Rules, 2014 with the Central Government; and

(c) There are no whistle blower complaints received by the Company during the year.

(xii) The Company is not a Nidhi Company and hence reporting under paragraph 3(xii)
of the Order is not applicable.

(xiii) In our opinion, the Company is in compliance with section 177 and 188 of the
Act, where applicable, for all transactions with the related parties and the details
of related party transactions have been disclosed in the financial statements etc.,
as required by the applicable accounting standards.

(xiv)(a) & (b) The Company does not have an internal audit system and is not required to have
an internal audit system as per provisions of the Act.

(xv) The Company has not entered into any non-cash transactions with its directors.
We have been informed that no such transactions have been entered into with
persons connected with directors.

(xvi)(a) to (¢) The Company is not required to be registered under section 45-IA of the Reserve
Bank of India Act, 1934. Hence, reporting under paragraph 3(xvi) (a), (b) and (c)
of the Order is not applicable; and

(d)  The Group does not have any CIC as part of the Group as per definition of Group
contained in the Core Investment Companies (Reserve Bank) Directions, 2016
and hence the reporting under paragraph 3(xvi)(d) of the Order is not applicable.

(xvii) The Company has incurred cash losses amounting to Rs.0.75 lakhs during the
financial year covered by our audit and Rs. 0.78 lakhs in the immediately
preceding financial year;

(xviii) There has been no resignation of the statutory auditors during the year and
accordingly reporting under paragraph 3(xviii) of the Order is not applicable.

(xix) In view of losses incurred by the Company and on the basis of the financial ratios,
ageing and expected dates of realisation of financial assets and payment of
financial liabilities, other information accompanying the financial statements, our
knowledge of the Board of Directors and management plans, in our opinion
though material uncertainty exists as on the date of the audit report that company
is capable of meeting its liabilities existing at the date of balance sheet as and
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when they fall due within a period of one year from the balance sheet date,
management has represented and as stated in the Note 23 to the financial
statements that, the Holding Company has undertaken to provide financial support
that may be required in Company's obligation towards third parties.

(xx) The provisions of section 135(5) and 135(6) of the Act are not applicable to the
Company. Accordingly, the reporting under paragraph 3(xx)(a) and (b) of the
Order is not applicable to the Company

For G. M. Kapadia & Co.
Chartered Accountants
Firm Registration No. 104767W

M

S

Atul Shah
Partner
Membership No. 039569

UDIN:23039569B GURK 4230

Place: Mumbai

Dated: 3 1 MAY 2023
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Annexure B to the Independent Auditor’s Report

Referred to in paragraph 2(vi) under “Report on Other Legal and Regulatory
Requirements” of our report on even date to the members of the Company on standalone
financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2023

Opinion

We have audited the internal financial controls with reference to the standalone financial
statements of the Company as of March 31, 2023 in conjunction with our audit of the standalone
financial statements of the Company for the year ended on that date.

In our opinion, the Company has, in all material respects, an adequate internal financial controls
system with reference to the standalone financial statements and such internal financial controls
with reference to the standalone financial statements were operating effectively as at March 31,
2023 based on the internal controls with reference to the standalone financial statements criteria
established by the Company considering the essential components of internal controls stated in
the Guidance Note.

Management’s Responsibility for Internal Financial Controls

The Company’s management is responsible for establishing and maintaining internal financial
controls based on the internal controls with reference to the standalone financial statements
criteria established by the Company considering the essential components of internal control
stated in the Guidance Note on Audit of Internal Financial Controls over Financial Reporting
(“the Guidance Note™) issued by the ICAI These responsibilities include the design,
implementation and maintenance of adequate internal financial controls that were operating
effectively for ensuring the orderly and efficient conduct of its business, including adherence to
Company’s policies, the safeguarding of its assets, the prevention and detection of frauds and
errors, the accuracy and completeness of the accounting records, and the timely preparation of
reliable financial information, as required under the Act.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company's internal financial controls with
reference to the standalone financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in
accordance with the Guidance Note and the Standards on Auditing specified under section
143(10) of the Act, to the extent applicable to an audit of internal financial controls, both issued
by ICAIL Those Standards and the Guidance Note require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
adequate internal financial controls with reference to the standalone financial statements was
established and maintained and if such controls operated effectively in all material respects.

Our audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the adequacy of the
internal financial controls system with reference to the standalone financial statements and their
operating effectiveness. Our audit of internal financial controls with reference to the standalone
financial statements included obtaining an understanding of internal financial controls with
eference to the standalone financial statements, assessing the risk that a material weakness

10
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exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based
on the assessed risk.

The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks
of material misstatement of the standalone financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our audit opinion on the Company’s internal financial controls system with reference to
the standalone financial statements.

Meaning of Internal Financial Controls with reference to Financial Statements

A company's internal financial controls with reference to financial statements is a process
designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles. A company's internal financial controls with reference to financial
statements includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records
that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the
assets of the Company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as
necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles and that receipts and expenditures of the Company are being made only in
accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the Company; and (3) provide
reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use,
or disposition of the Company's assets that could have a material effect on the financial
statements.

Inherent Limitations of Internal Financial Controls with reference to the standalone
Financial Statements

Because of the inherent limitations of internal financial controls with reference to the standalone
financial statements, including the possibility of collusion or improper management override of
controls, material misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected. Also,
projections of any evaluation of the internal financial controls with reference to the standalone
financial statements to future periods are subject to the risk that the internal financial controls
with reference to the standalone financial statements may become inadequate because of changes
in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
For G. M. Kapadia & Co.
Chartered Accountants

Firm Registration No. 104767W

e

d—

Atul Shah
Partner
Membership No. 039569

UDIN:23039569BGURKJ4230
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Place: Mumbai

Dated: 3 1 MAY 2023




Indian Horizon Marketing Services Limited

Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2023

(Amount in Thousands)
Particulars Notes As at As at
March 31, 2023 March 31, 2022

ASSETS
Non-Current Assets
Deferred Tax Assets (Net) g 49 10
Total Non-Current Assets 49 10
Current Assets
Financial Assets

- Cash & Cash Equivalents 4 52 52
Other current assets 5 2 7
Current Tax Assets 6 9 9
Total Current Assets 68 68
TOTAL ASSETS 117 78
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
EQUITY
Equity Share Capital 7 500 500
Other Equity - Reserve & Surplus 8 (550) (514)
Total Equity (50) (14)
LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities
Financial Liabilities

- Other financial liabilities ) 167 92
Other Current Liabilities 10 - -
Total Current Liabilities 167 g2
TOTAL LIABILITIES 167 92
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 117 78

The above balance sheet should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

As per our report of even date.

For G. M. Kapadia & Co.
Chartered Accountants

Firm Registration Number 104767W

Atul Shah
Partner
Membership No. 39569

Date: May 31, 2023
Place: Mumbai

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors

Date: May 31, 2023

Rambhau Kenkare
Director
DIN No. 01272743

Place: Mumbai

L

Debasis Nandy
Director
DIN No. 06368365

Date: May 31, 2023

Place: Mumbai
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Indian Horizon Marketing Services Limited

Statement of Profit And Loss for the Year Ended March 31, 2023

(Amount in Thousands)
Particulars Notes For the For the
Year Ended March | Year Ended March 31,
31, 2023 2022
Income
Other income 11 B =
Total income - -
Expenses
Finance Cost 12 - -
Other expenses 13 75 78
Total expenses 75 78
Loss before tax (75) k (78)
Less: Tax expense 14
Current tax - -
Deferred tax (39) =
Total tax expenses (39) -
Loss for the year (A) (36) (78)
Other comprehensive income
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss
Remeasurements of post-employment benefit obligations - -
Income tax relating to items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss - =
Total other comprehensive income for the year, net of taxes (B) - -
Total comprehensive income for the year (A+B) (36) (78)
Earnings per equity share ( Face value of INR 10 each) 19
- Basic earnings per share (In INR) (0.73) (1.57)
- Diluted earnings per share (In INR) (0.73) (1.57)

As per our report of even date.

For G. M. Kapadia & Co.

Chartered Accountants

Firm Registration Number 104767W———

2ot

-—

Atul Shah
Partner
Membership No. 39569

Date: May 31, 2023
Place: Mumbai

The above statement of profit and loss should be read in eonjunction with the accompanying notes.

Rambhau Kenkare
Director
DIN No. 01272743

Date: May 31, 2023
Place: Mumbai

S

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors

Debasis Nandy
Director
DIN No. 06368365

Date: May 31, 2023
Place: Mumbai
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Statement of Cash Flows for the Year Ended March 31, 2023

(Amount in Thousands)
Particulars For the For the
Year Ended Year Ended
March 31, 2023 March 31, 2022
A) Cash flow from operating activities
Loss before income tax (75) (78)
Adjustments for:

Interest income on bank deposit = -
Operating Loss before changes in operating assets and liabilities (75) (78)
Change in operating assets and liabilities:

Increase/(Decrease) in Other financial Liabilities 75 38

Increase/ (Decrease) in Other Current Assets - (2]
Cash generated from operations - (47)

Income taxes paid = (0)
Net cash inflow / (outflow) from operating activities - (48)

B) Cash flow from investing activities: - -
C) Cash flow from financing activities - -
Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents - (48)
Add: Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year 52 99
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 52 52
Reconciliation of Cash Flow statements as per the cash flow statement For the For the
Year Ended Year Ended

March 31, 202 March 31, 2022
Cash Flow statement as per above comprises of the following i . .
Cash and cash equivalents 52 52
Bank Overdrafts - -
Balances as per statement of cash flows 52 52
Notes :

1. The above Cash Flow Statement has been prepared under the "Indirect Method” set out in Indian Accounting Standard
(Ind AS-7) on Statement of Cash Flow as notified under Companies (Acounts) Rules, 2015,
2. The above statement of Cash flow should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

As per our report of even date

For G. M. Kapadia & Co.
Chartered Accountants

Firm Registration Number 104767W

oY

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors

—-
M i
Atul Shah Rambhau Kenkare Debasis Nandy
Partner Director Director

Membership No. 39569 DIN No. 01272743

Date: May 31, 2023
Place: Mumbai

Date: May 31, 2023
Place: Mumbai

A&

DIN No. 06368365

Date: May 31, 2023
Place: Mumbai
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Indian Horizon Marketing Services Limited

Statement of Changes in Equity for the Year Ended March 31, 2023

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

share capital

Particulars

Amount

Balance as at April 1, 2021

500

changes in equity share capital during the year

Balance as at March 31, 2022

500

changes in equity share capital during the year

Balance as at March 31, 2023

500

Other Equity

Reserves and Surplus

Particulars

Capital Contribution

Retained Earnings_

Total Other Equity

Balance as at April 1, 2021

(435)

(435)]

Loss for the vear

(78)

(78)

Other Comprehensive Income

Transaction with owners in their capacity as owners

Employee Stock Option Expense

Balance as at March 31, 2022

(514)

(514)

Loss for the year

(36)

(36),

Other Comprehensive Income

Balance as at March 31, 2023

{550)

(550)

The above statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

As per our report of even date. For and on behalf of the Board of Directors
For G. M. Kapadia & Co.
Chartered Accountants \_Qr

Firm Registration Number 104767W

A \-——-
Atul Shah Rambhau Kenkare Debasis Nandy
Partner Director Director
Membership No. 39569 z DIN No. 01272743 DIN No. 06368365

Date: May 31, 2023
Place: Mumbai

e

SEE. o

Date: May 31, 2023
Place: Mumbai Place: Mumbai

A

Date: May 31, 2023
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Indian Horizon Marketing Services Limited

Notes forming part of the Financial Statements for the year ended March 31, 2023

General Information

Indian Horizon Marketing Services Limited was incorporated on December 26th, 1989 The Company is a 100% subsidiary of Thomas Cook (India) Limited

1 Significant Accounting Policies
1.1 Basis of preparation of financial statements

(a) Statement of compliance with Ind AS
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Indian Accounting Standards (hereinafter referred to as the 'Ind AS")
In accordance with proviso of the Rule 4A of Companies Accounting Rules, 2014, the terms used in these financial statements are in
accordance with the definitions and other requirements specified in the applicable Accounting standards as notified by Ministry of Corporate
Affairs pursuant to section 133 of the Companies Act, 2013 read with rule 4 of the Companies (Indian Accounting standards) Rules, 2015 that
are notified and effective as at 31st March, 2019.

These financial statements for the year ended 31st March, 2023 has prepared under Ind AS.
Current V/s Non-Current

All assets and liabilities have been classified as current or non-current as per the Company’s normal operating cycle and other criteria set out
in the Schedule III to the Companies Act, 2013. Based on the nature of services and the time between the rendering of services and their
realization in cash and cash equivalents, the Company has aseertained its operating cycle as 12 months for the purpose of current-noncurrent
classification of assets and liabilities.

1.2 Other Income
Interest income is recognised on a time proportion basis taking into account the amount outstanding and the rate applicable.

Dividend income is recognized when the right to receive dividend is established.

1.3 Taxes on Income

Income Tax:

The income tax expense or credit for the period is the tax payable on the current period’s taxable income based on the applicable income tax
rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to temporary differences and to unused tax
losses.

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period in
the countries where the company operate and generate taxable income. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns
with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions where appropriate on the
basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities,

Deferred Tax:

Deferred tax is recognised using the liability method on taxable temporary differences between the tax base and the accounting base of items
included in the Balance Sheet of the Company.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses only if it is probable that future taxable
amounts will be available to utilise those temporary differences and losses. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.

A deferred tax liability is recognised based on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of assets and
liabilities, using tax rates enacted, or substantively enacted, by the end of the reporting period. A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the
extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the asset can be utilised. However, deferred tax lizbilities
are not recognised if they arise from the initial recognition of goodwill. Certain temporary differences arising on initial recognition of assets
or liabilities that affect neither accounting nor taxable profit are not recognised.

Current tax assets and current tax liabilities are offset when there is alegally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts and thereis
an intention to settle the asset and the liability on a net basis. Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset when there is a legally

enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities; and the deferred tax assets and the deferred tax lizbilities relate to
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority.

8- sl




Indian Horizon Marketing Services Limited

Notes forming part of the Financial Statements for the year ended March 31, 2023

1.4

1.5

1.6

1.7

1.8

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the entity has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that an
outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount
of the obligation. Provisions are measured at the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the present obligation at the Balance
Sheet date. Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses. A provision is recognized even if the likelihood of an outflow with
respect to any one item included in the same class of obligations may be small. Provisions are measured at the present value of
management’s best estimate of the expenditure require to settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting period. The discount rate
used to determine the present value is a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the liability. Contingent liabilities are disclosed when there is a possible obligation arising from past events, the existence of which
will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the Entity
or a present obligation that arises from past events where it is either not probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligation or a reliable estimate of the amount cannot be made.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

In the cash flow statement, Cash and Cash Equivalents includes Cash on Hand, Cheques/Drafts on Hand, Remittances in Transit, Balances
with Bank held in Current Account and Demand Deposits with maturities of three months or less. Bank overdrafts are repayable on demand
and form an integral part of an entity's cash management, and are included as a component of cash and cash equivalents.

Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is computed by dividing the net profit for the period attributable to the equity shareholders of the Company by the
weighted average number of equity shares outstanding during the period. The weighted average number of equity shares outstanding during
the period and for all periods presented is adjusted for events, such as bonus shares, and excluding treasury shares other than the conversion
of potential equity shares that have changed the number of equity shares outstanding, without a corresponding change in resources.

For the purpose of caleulating diluted earnings per share, the net profit for the period attributable to equity shareholders and the weighted
average number of shares outstanding during the period is adjusted for the effects of all dilutive potential equity shares.

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic earnings per share to take

into account:

+ the after income tax effect of interest and other financing costs associated with dilutive potential equity

shares, and

« the weighted average number of additional equity shares that would have been outstanding assuming

the conversion of all dilutive potential equity shares.

The diluted potential equity shares are adjusted for the proceeds receivable had the equity shares been actually issued at fair value (that is
the average market value of the outstanding equity shares). Dilutive potential equity shares are deemed converted as at the beginning of the
period, unless issued at a later date.

Rounding of amounts
All amounts disclosed in the financial statements and notes have been rounded off to the nearest rupees or decimals thereof as per the
requirement of schedule I (division IT), unless otherwise stated.

Previous year's figures have been regrouped/rearranged wherever necessary to confirm with current year’s figures.

2 Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgements:

The preparation of Standalone Financial Information requires the use of accounting estimates which, by definition, will seldom equal the actual results.
This note provides an overview of the areas that involved a higher degree of judgement or complexity, and of items which are more likely to be materially
adjusted due to estimates and assumptions turning out to be different than those originally assessed. Detailed information about each of these estimates
and judgements is included in relevant notes together with information about the basis of calculation for each affected line item in the Standalone
Financial Information. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected.

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated. They are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events
that may have a financial impact on the Company and that are helieved to be reasonable under the eireumetances.




Indian Horizon Marketing Services Limited

Notes forming part of the Financial Statements for the year ended March 31,2023

Note 3: Deferred Tax Assets (Net)

The balance comprises of temporary differences attributable to:

s Asat As at
Particilars March 31, 2023 March 31, 2022
Deferred Tax on Business Losses 49 10

rl\i:t Deferred Tax Assets 49 10
Note 4: Financial Assets - Cash and Cash Equivalents:

R Asat As at
Particulars March 31, 2023 March 31, 2022
Balances with banks - In current accounts 52 52
Total Cash and cash equivalents 52 52
Note 5:0ther current assets:

tcul Asat Asat
i % Match 31, 2023 March 31, 2022
Balances receivables from government authorities ¥ 7
Total Cash and cash equivalents 7 7
Note 6: Current Tax Assets

3 Asat As at
Partenlats March 31, 2023 March 31, 2022
Advance Tax 9 9
Closing Balances - Current Tax Asset/(Liabilities) Q 9




Indian Horizon Marketing Services Limited
Notes forming part of the Financial Statements for the vear ended March 31, 2023

Note 7: Equity Share Capital

Equity Share capital (Amount in Thousands)

- No of Shares (In
Particulars Thousands) Amount
AUTHORISED
As at April 1, 2021 3,000 30,000
Increase during the year = -
As at March 31, 2022 3,000 30,000
Increase during the year - 5
As at March 31, 2023 3,000 30,000
(i) Movement in Equity Share Capital during the Year
Particulars N‘,’ng]s"‘“? n Amount
As at April 1, 2021 50 500
Add: No of Shares issued during the year - -
As at March 31, 2022 50 500 |
Add: No of Shares issued during the year i B
As at March 31, 2023 50 500

(ii) Terms and rights attached to shares

The Company has one class of equity shares having a par value of Rs. 10 per share. Each shareholder is eligible for one vote per share held. The dividend proposed by the Board of Directors is subject to the
approval of the shareholders in the ensuing Annual General Meeting, except in case of interim dividend. In the event of liquidation, the equity shareholders are eligible to receive the residual assets of the
Company after distribution to all secured creditors, if any, of all preferential amounts, in proportion to their dues.

(iii) Shares of the company held by Holding Company

As at March 31, 2023 As at March 31, 2022
Particulars No of Shares (In No of Shares (In
Thousands) Amount Wotsandy Amount
E-E_xritv Shares
omas cook (India) Limits olding Company]) and its Nominees 50 500 50 500

(iv) Shareholding Pattern (Shareholders holding 5% or more shares in the Company)

As at March 31,2023 As at March 31, 2022

Cat
egory of Shareholder No_;l:]il;shm’ (In % of Holding No of Shar e E’-ﬂ % of Holding

Equity Shares :

Thomas cook (India) Limited(Holding Company) and its Nominees 50 100% 50 100%
Total Other Financial Assets 50 100% 50 100%
(v) Shares held by the promoters at the end of the vear

As at March 31, 2023
Name of Promoter No of Shares (In % of Holding % Change during
Thousands) thevear
| Equity Shares
Thomas eook (India) Limited(Holding Company) and its Nominees 50 100% =
As at March 31, 2022
Ni f i i
ame of Promoter No of Sh % of Holding % Change during
theyear
Equity Shares
Thomas cook (India) Limited{Holding Company) and its Nominees 50 100% -
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Notes forming part of the Financial Statements for the year ended March 31, 2023

Note 8: Reserves and surplus (Amount in Thousands)

Pl As at March 31, As at March 31,
2023 2022

Retained Earnings (550) (514)

Total reserves and surplus (550) (514)

Retained Earnings

Particalais As at March 31, As at March 31,

: 2023 2022
Opening Balance (514) (435)
Net Profit for the year (36) (78)
Items of other Comprehensive income recognised directly in retained earnings -
Closing Balance (550) (514)
Note 9: Other Financial Liablities
Particiilaie As at March 31, As at March 31,

2023 2022
Liabilities against expense 166 g2
Total Other Financial Liablities 166 92
Note 10: Other Current Liabilities
Partealics As at March 31, As at March 31,
2023 2022
Statutory Dues = =
Total Other Current Liabilities - -

i

T
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Notes forming part of the Financial Statements for the year ended March 31, 2023

Note 11: Other Income

(Amount in Thousands)
3 For the year ended For the year ended
Partidnlars March 31, 2023 March 31, 2022
Other Miscellaneous Income - -
Total a %
Note 12: Finance Costs
i For the year ended For the year ended
paEticulary March 31, 2023 March 31, 2022
Other Finance Charges - -
Total . =

Note 13: Other Expenses

Particulars

For the year ended
March 31, 2023

For the year ended
March 31, 2022

Legal and Professional Charges #(Refer note below "a")

73

78

Miscellaneous Expenses

Total

75

78

# Legal and Professional charges include auditors remuneration

(a): Details of payments to auditors

Particulars

For the year ended
March 31, 2023

For the year ended
March 31, 2022

Payment to auditors

As auditor:

-Statutory Audit

12

12

-Tax Audit

Total payments to auditors

12

12

Note 14: Income Tax Expense

Particulars

For the year ended
March 31, 2023

For the year ended
March 31, 2022

(a) Income tax expense

Current tax

Current tax on profits for the year

Adjustments for current tax of prior periods

Total current tax expense

| Deferved tax

increase in deferred tax assets

(39)

Total deferred tax credit

(39)

Income tax expense

(39)

(b) The reconciliation of tax expense and the accounting profit multiplied

by India's tax rate :

Particulars

For the year ended
March 31, 2023

For the year ended
March 31, 2022

Profit from continuing operations before income tax expense

(75)

(78)

Tax at the Indian tax rate of 25.17% (PY -25.17%)

(9)

(20)

Tax effect of amounts which are not deductible(taxable) in calculating taxable
income:

On Carried Forward Losses

19

Other items

20

Income tax expense

\




Indian Horizon Marketing Services Limited
Notes forming part of the Financial Statements for the year ended March 31, 2023

Note 15: Fair value measurements

Trade receivables, cash and cash equivalents, other financial assets, trade payables, and other financial lizbilities have been carried at
amortised cost. The carrying amounts of these financial assets and financial liabilities are considered to be the same as their fair values
due to their short-term nature. Hence, no fair value disclosures / information for these financial assets and financial liabilities has been
disclosed since the carrying amount is a reasonable approximation of fair value.

Note 16: Financial risk management
Being a non - operating company, the company is not exposed to any kind of risk.

Note 17: Capital management

The Company's objectives when managing capital (consisting of equity capital and unremitted profit in the financial statements) are to
safeguard its ability to continue as a going concern, so it can continue to provide services for the holding company and related entities and
to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or change the capital structure, the Company may adjust the amount of profits for remittance to holding company,
return equity capital, or require holding company to infuse additional capital to support its operations.

There are no externally imposed capital requirements on the Company.

The Company has not proposed any Dividend for the year ended March 31, 2023 and March 31, 2022.

" il
G
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Notes forming part of the Financial Statements for the year ended March 31, 2023

Note 18: Related Party Transactions
(a) Parent Entities
The Company is controlled by the following entity:

Ownership Interest (%)

Name Type Place of Incorporation  [Ag at March 31,|As at March 31,

2023 2022
Thomas Cook (India) Limited, India ("TCIL") holds 100%
of Equity Shares of the Company. (Fairbridge Capital
(Mauritius) Limited, Mauritius (“FCML") holds 72.34% of ’ ;
Equity Shares of TCIL. FCMLis a stepdown subsidiaryof |  2rententity e ek 0
Fairfax Financial Holdings Limited, Canada, the ultimate
holding company.)

(b) Key Management personnel

Particulars

Debasis Nandy

R R Kenkare

Abraham Alapatt

* There are no transaction with the related parties for the year ended March 31, 2023 (March 31, 2022: NIL).
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Notes forming part of the Financial Statements for the year ended March 31, 2023

Note 19: Earnings Per Share

Particulars

March 31, 2023

For the vear ended For the year ended
Particulars March 31, 2023 March 31, 2022
Net Profit attributable to equity shareholders (36) (78)
Weighted average number of outstanding shares 50 50
(a) Basic earnings per share
Attributable to the equity holder of the company (0.73) (1.57)
(b) Diluted earnings per share
Attributable to the equity holder of the company (0.73) (1.57)
(c) Reconciliation of earnings used in calculating earnings per share
= For the year ended For the year ended
March 31, 2023 March 31, 2022
Particulars
Basic earnings per share
Profits attributable to the equity holders of the company used in calculating basic earnings (36) (78)
er share
l}::oﬁts attributable to the equity holders of the company used in calculating diluted earnings
per share (36) (78)
(d) Weighted average number of shares used as the denominator
= For the year ended For the year ended

March 31, 2022

Weighted average number of equity shares used as the denominator in calculzting basic

earning per share 50 50
Weighted average number of equity shares and potential equity shares used as the
denominator in calculating diluted earning per share 50 50

\
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Notes forming part of the Financial Statements for the year ended March 31, 2023

Note 20: Segmental Reporting

Since the Company has no operations, there are no reportable segments.

Note 21: Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises
There are no Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises, to whom the Company owes dues, which are outstanding as at March 31, 2023. This information as required to be disclosed under the Micro, Small and Medium
Eaterprises Development Act, 2006 has been determined to the extent such parties have been identified on the basis of information availzble with the Company. This has been relied upon by the auditors.

Note 22: Key Fi izls Ratio's
Ratio Analysis Numerator Denominator For the year ended | For the year ended |Variance Remark
31March 2023 31 March 2022
Current Ratio Total Current Assets Total Current Liabilities 041 0.74 -45% | Decrease attributed to provision
for expenses for the current year
Return on Equity Ratio Profir After Tax Closing Shareholders Equity NA NA NA|Losses incurred for the year and
Equity is in negative.
Trade Receivables turnoverratio | Net Credit Sales Average Accounts Receivable = - o
Trade payables turnover ratio Net Credit Purchases Average Trade Payable 0.15 0.27 -46% | Trade Payable increase on
account of provsion for expenses
Net capital turnover ratio Net Sales Net Working Capital = -
Net profit ratio Profit after tax Revenue from operations NA NA NA|No revenue from operations
Return on Capital employed Profit before tax and Finance |Total Equity NA NA NA|Losses incurred for the year and
Cost Equity is in negative.
Return on investment Net Profit Cost of the Investment = - -
Debt-Equity Ratio Debt Equity = - =
Debt Service Coverage Ratio Net Operating Income Debt Service - = i
Inventory turnover ratio Cost of Goods Sold Average Inventory - -

Note 23 Dunng the Financial Year 2022-2023, the Company has not carried out any commercial operations. The Company is 2 100% subsidiary of Thomas Cook (India) Limited, which has undertook 1o provide

1] tto the C

to carry on b

Jetter.

Note 24:

without curtailment of operations for the period of at least 12 months from the date of signing of the audit report i.e. May 31, 2023 by written support

No funds have been advanced or loaned or invested (either from borrowed funds or share premium or any other sources or kind of funds) by the Company to or in any other person(s) or entity(ies), including foreign

entities ("~ diaries”) with the und

ding, whether

in writing or otherwise, that the Intermediary shall Jend orinvest in party identified by ar on behalf of the Company (Ultimate Beneficiaries).

The Company has not received any fund from any party(s) (Funding Party) with the understanding that the Company shall whether, directly or indirecly lend or invest in other persons or entities identified by or
on behalf of the Company ("Ultimsate Beneficiaries”) or provide any guarantee, security or the like on behalf of the Ultimate Beneficiaries.

Note 25: Additional Regulatory Information detailed in clause 6Y of General Instructions given in Part I of Division II of the Schedule I1I to the C

to the Company.

Note 26: Previous year's figures has been regrouped/rearranged wherever necessary to confirm with current year's figure.

Signatures to Notes 1 to 26 form an integral part of the financial statements.

As per our report of even date

For G. M. Kapadia & Co.
Chartered Accountants

Firm Registration Number 104767W

Atul Shzh
Partner
Membership No. 39569

Date: May 31, 2023
Place: Mumbai

Act, 2013 are fu

ished to the extent

For and on behalf of

S —

23

the Board of Directors

lhmbhaa Kenkare Debasis Nandy

Director DII ector
DIN No. 06368365

DIN No. 01272743

Date: May 31, 2023
Place: Mumbai

AL

Date: May 31, 2023
Place: Mumbai




Jardin Travel Solutions Limited
Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2023

( All amounts in Rs. Thousands,unless otherwise stated )

Particulars Notes © Asat As at
31 March 2023 31 March 2022
| 2 ASSETS
(1) Non-current assets
(a) Property, plant and equipment 2 - -
(b) Deferred tax assets (net) a = -
(c) Other tax assets 4 236.9 228.2
(d) Other non-current assets 5 - -
Total non current assets 236.9 228.2
(2) Current assets
(a) Financial assets
(i) Trade receivables 6 201.2 201.2
(ii) Cash and cash equivalents 7 69.9 1,615.2
(b) Other current assets 8 1,509.9 1,470.0
Total current assets 1,870.9 3,376.4
TOTAL ASSETS 2,107.8 3,604.6
II. EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
(1) Equity
(a) Equity share capital o] 10,000.0 10,000.0
(b) Other equity 10 (12,763.0) (11,971.3)
Total equity (2,763.0) (1,971.3)
(2) Currentliabilities
(a) Financial liabilities
(i) Borrowings 11 3,600.0 5,000.0
(ii) Trade payables 12 595.8 345.2
(iii) Other financial liabilities 13 675.0 213.6
(b) Other current liabilities 14 - 17.1
Total current liabilities 4,870.8 5.575.9
Total liabilities 4,870.8 5.575.9
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 2,107.8 3,604.6
Significant accounting policies 1
The notes from 1to 32 form an integral part of the financial statements
As per our report of even date. For and on behalf of the Board of Directors
For G. M. Kapadia & Co.
Chartered Accountants
Firm's Registration No: 1p4767
Abhishek Singh Amit Madhan
Partner Director
Membership No: 407549 [DIN:06775970] [DIN:06646076]

Date: June 23, 2023
Place: New Delhi

Date: June 23, 2023
Place: Mumbai

Date: June 23, 2023
Place: Mumbai




Jardin Travel Solutions Limited

Statement of Profit And Loss for the year ended March 31, 2023

( All amounts in Rs. Thousands,unless otherwise stated )

Particulars Note | For the year ended | For the year ended
31st March 2023 31 Mar 2022

(1) Revenue

(a) Revenue from operations 15 - 530.6

(b) Other income 15(a) - 489.4

Total income - 1,020.0

(2) Expenses

(a) Emplovee benefits expense 16 - 456.0

(b) Finance costs 17 446.4 683.0

(¢) Depreciation and amortization expenses 2 - 19.9

(d) Other expenses 18 345.3 173.4

Total expenses 791.7 1,332.2

(3) Loss before tax (791.7) (312.2)

(4) Tax expense:

(a) Current tax 3 - -

(b) Short / (excess) tax provisions net for earlier years 3 - -

Less : Mat credit entitlement 3

Net current tax - -

(a) Deferred tax 3 - 3,359.7

(5) Loss after tax (791.7) (3,672.0)

(6) Other comprehensive income (OCI)

Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss

(1) Remeasurements of defined benefit liability (asset) - -

(ii) Income tax expense on remeasurements of defined benefit

liability > <

Other comprehensive income (net of tax) (i-ii) - -

(7) Total comprehensive income for the year (791.7) (3,672.0)

(8) Earnings per equity share 19

(i) Basic (0.8) =7

(if) Diluted (0.8) (3.7)

Significant accounting policies

The notes from 1 to 32 form an integral part of the financial statements

As per our report of even date attached.
For G. M. Kapadia & Co.
Chartered Accountants

Firm's Registration No: 104767W

Abhishek Singh
Partner
Membership No: 407549

Date: June 23, 2023
Place: New Delhi

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors

h

RajeevKale

Direcjdr

[DIN:06775970]

Date: June 23, 2023
Place: Mumbai

Amit Madhan
Director
[DIN:06646076]

Date: June 23, 2023
Place: Mumbai



Jardin Travel Solutions Limited
Notes to financial statements for the vear ended Mar 31, 2023
( All amounts in Rs. Thousands,unless otherwise stated )

Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended March 31, 2023

For the period
Particulars Note ended 31st Mar For the year ended
31 March 2022
2023
A) Cash flow from operating activities
Profit / (Loss) before income tax (791.7) (312.2)
Adjustments for:
Depreciation 2 - 19.9
Interest Expense 17 443.8 672.6
(347.9) 380.3
Change in operating assets and liabilities
Increase /(Decrease) in Trade Payables 12 250.5 (451.2)
Increase /(Decrease) in Other current liabilities 13814 166.8 (987.5)
Decrease / (Increase) in Other Non Current Assets 5 - 234.5
(Increase) /Decrease in Financial assets 6 - 5,272.7
(Inerease) /Decrease in Other current assets 8 (39.8) 214.8
Cash generated from operations 29.5 4,663.5
Income taxes paid (8.8) (48.9)
Net Cash inflow/(outflow) from operations 20,7 4.614.6
B) Cash flow from investing activities: - -
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from investing activities - -
C) Cash flow from financing activities
Loan taken / (repaid) to Holding Cormpany 11 (1,400.0) (2,600.0)
Interest paid (166.1) (672.6)
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from financing activities (1,566.1) (3,272.6)
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and Bank Balance (1,545.4) 1,341.9
Add: Cash and bank balance at the beginning of the financial vear/period d 1,615.2 273.3
Cash and bank balance at the end of the year 69.9 1,615.2
Reconciliation of Cash Flow statements as per the cash flow
statement
Cash Flow statement as per above comprises of the following
Cash and cash equivalents 69.9 1,615.2
Bank Overdrafts =
Balances as per statement of cash flows 69.9 1,615.2
Notes:

. The above Cash Flow Statement has been prepared under the "Indirect Method" set out in Indian Accounting Standard (Ind AS-7) on
Statement of Cash Flow as notified under Companies (Acounts) Rules, 2015.

2. The notes from 1 to 32 form an integral part of the financial statements

As per our report of even date attached.
For G. M. Kapadia & Co.

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of

Chartered Accountants x !
Jrai Travel Solutions Ltd.

Firm's Registration No: 104767W

Amit Madhan
Director

Partner

Membership Nao: 407549

Date: June 23, 2023
Place: New Delhi

[DIN:06775970]

Date: June 23, 2023
Place: Mumbai

[DIN:06646076]

Date: June 23, 2023
Place: Mumbai



Jardin Travel Solutions Limited
Notes to financial statements for the year ended Mar 31, 2023
( All amounts in Rs. Thousands,unless otherwise stated )

Statement of Changes in Equity (SOCIE)

(a)

(b)

Equity share capital
31 March 2023 31 March 2022

No. of Shares Amount No. of Shares Amount
At the commencement of the vear 1,000.0 10,000.0 1,000.0 10,000.0
Changes in equity share capital during the year
At the end of the year 15000.0 mgeno.n igneo.o mgooo.o
Other equity

Other equity Items of Other comprehensive Total
income
Particulars Retained Earnings Remeasurements of the net attributable to
defined benefit Plans equity shareholders

Balance at 1 April 2021 (8,267.1) (32.2) (8.299.3)
Profit /(Loss) for the year (3.672.0) (3,672.0)
Transfer to retained earnings (32.2) 32.2 =
Other comprehensive income for the year - = -
Total comprehensive income for the year (3.704.2) 32.2 (3,672.0)
Ralance at 31 Mar 2022 (11.971.3) - (11,071.3)
Profit /(Loss) for the year (791.7) (791.7)
Transfer to retained earnings - * -
Other comprehensive income for the year - -
Total comprehensive income for the year (791.7) 3 (791.7)
Balance at 3ist Mar 2023 (12,763.0) 3 (12.763.0)
The notes from 1 to 32 form an integral part of the financial statements
As per our report of even date attached. For and on behalf of the Board of Directors
For G. M. Kapadia & Co.
Chartered Accountants

Firm's Registration No: 104767W,

Abhishek Singh Amit Madhan
Partner Director
Membership No: 407549 [DIN:06646076]
Date: June 23, 2023 Date: June 23, 2023 Date: June 23, 2023

Place: New Delhi Place: Mumbai Place: Mumbai



Jardin Travel Solutions Limited

Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 March 2023

1B

1B.1

1B.2

Company overview

Jardin Travel Solutions Limited (the Company) is incorporated on 1% September 2015 as a
public company limited by shares under the provisions of Companies Act, 2013. The
Company is incorporated as Tour operator (Destination management) & back end
information technology service provider. The Company is mainly engaged in the business
of providing back end information technology services. Pursuant to the Composite Scheme
of Arrangement and Amalgamation amongst TC Forex Services Limited (Formerly known
as Tata Capital Forex Limited), TC Travel Services Limited (Formerly known as TC
Travel and Services Limited), SOTC Travel Management Private Limited (formerly
known as SITA Travels and Tours Private Limited), Travel Corporation (India) Limited
(TCI), Quess Corp Limited and Thomas Cook (India) Limited (TCIL) and their respective
shareholders (*Composite Scheme of Arrangement and Amalgamation’) effective from
25th November, 2019, Jardin Travel Solutions Limited has become direct wholly owned
subsidiary of TCIL with effect from 25" November 2019.

Significant accounting policies

Basis of preparation of financial statements

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Indian Accounting
Standards (Ind AS) as per the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015
notified under Section 133 of Companies Act, 2013 (the ‘Act’) and other relevant
provisions of the Act. In accordance with proviso to the Rule of the Companies (Accounts)
Rules, 2014 the terms used in these financial statements are in accordance with the
definitions and other requirements specified in the applicable Accounting Standards.

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for certain
financial instruments which are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period,
as explained in the accounting policies below.

The financial statements were authorized for issue by the Company’s Board of Directors
on 23™ June 2023

The financial statements are presented in Indian Rupees (‘INR’) or (‘Rs”) which is also the
Company’s functional currency and all values are rounded off to nearest thousand (‘000)
except where otherwise indicated.

Use of estimates

The preparation of these financial statements in conformity with the recognition and
measurement principles of Ind AS required the management of the Company to make
estimates and judgements that affect the reported balances of assets and liabilities,
disclosures relating to contingent liabilities as at the date of the financial statements and
the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reported period. The estimates
and assumptions used in the accompanying financial statements arc based upon

anagement’s evaluation of facts and circumstances as at the date of the financial
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assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Any revision to accounting estimates is
recognised prospectively in current and future periods.

Judgements

Information about judgments made in applying accounting policies that have the most
significant effects on the amounts recognized in the standalone financial statements is
included in the following notes.

Note 20-Determining the amount of expected credit loss on financial assets (including
trade receivables).

1B Significant accounting policies (Continued)

I1B.2  Use of estimates

Assumptions and estimation uncertainties

Information about assumptions and estimation uncertainties that have a significant risk of
resulting in a material adjustment in the financial statement is included in the following
notes:

Note 24 - Measurement of defined benefit obligations: key actuarial assumptions;

Note 6-Recognition and measurement of provisions and contingencies: key assumptions
about the likelihood and magnitude of an outflow of resources,

Note 20-Impairment of financial assets,

1B.3  Current/ non-current classification

All assets and liabilities are classified into current and non-current.
Assets
An asset is classified as current when it satisfies any of the following criteria:

a) itis expected to be realised in, or is intended for sale or consumption in, the company’s
normal operating cycle;

b) itis held primarily for the purpose of being traded;
¢) 1t is expected to be realised within 12 months after the reporting date; or

d) It is cash or cash equivalent unless it is restricted from being exchanged or used to
settle a liability for at least 12 months after the reporting date.

Current assets include the current portion of non-current financial assets. All other assets [N
are classified as non-current.
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1B

1B.3

1B.4

b) it is held primarily for the purpose of being traded;
¢) itisdue to be settled within 12 months after the reporting date; or

d) the Company does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability
for at least 12 months after the reporting date. Terms of a liability that could, at the
option of the counterparty, result in its settlement by the issue of equity instruments do
not affect its classification.

Current liabilities include current portion of non-current financial liabilities. All other
liabilities are classified as non-current.

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Current / non-current classification (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are classified as non-current assets and liabilities on net
basis.

Operating cycle

Operating cycle is the time between the acquisition of assets for processing and their
realisation in cash or cash equivalents. Based on the above definition and the nature of
services provided, the Company has ascertained its operating cycle as 12 months for the
purpose of current - non-current classification of assets and liabilities.

Property Plant and Equipment’s

Measurement at recognition:

Property, plant and equipment is measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and
accumulated impairment losses, if any. Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s
carrying amount or recognized as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable
that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Company and the
cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance is charged to
the Statement of Profit and Loss during the period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation:

Depreciation is provided pro-rata to the period of use, under the straight line method, over
the estimated useful lives of the assets. The Company believes that the existing useful lives
represents the best useful estimated lives of the assets and are at the rates which
corresponds to the useful lives as prescribed under Part C of Schedule II of the Companies

~ Act, 2013.
Assets Estimated useful life (in years)
Office Building 60
Fumiture & Fixtures 10

Office equipment’s (including air conditioners)

5
8
uters 3
6
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Leasehold Improvements are amortized over the period of the lease or useful life of the
asset whichever is lower,

Property, plant and equipment not ready for the intended use on the date of Balance Sheet
are disclosed as “Capital work-in-progress",

The residual values, useful lives and method of depreciation of property, plant and
equipment is reviewed at each financial year end and adjusted prospectively, if
appropriate. The residual values are not more than 5% of the original cost of the asset. The
asset’s residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end
of each reporting period. An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable
amount.

IB.4  Property Plant and Equipment’s (Continued)

De-recognition:

The carrying amount of an item of property, plant and equipment is derecognized on
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Gains
and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount.
These are included in profit or loss within other gains / (losses).

IB.5  Fair value measurement

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in

an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value

measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer

the liability takes place either:

- In the principle market for the asset or liability, or

- In the absence of a particular market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or
liability

The principle or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the Company.

The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market

participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants

act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s

ability to generate economic benefit by using the asset in its highest and best use or by

selling it to another market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Company uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for

which sufficient data are available to measure fair value, maximizing the use of relevant

observable inputs and minimizing the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial

statements are categorized within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on

the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

- Level 1- Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities

- Level 2- Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the

fair value measurement is directly or indirectly observable P

evel 3- Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the 7

T value measurement is unobservable
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1B

I1B.6

For assets and liabilities that are recognized in the financial statements on a recurring basis,
the Company determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy
by re-assessing categorization (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.

For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Company has determined classes of assets
and liabilities on the basis of the nature characteristics and risk of the asset or liability and
the level of the fair value hierarchy as explained above.

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a
financial liability or equity instrument of another entity.

i. Financial assets
Classification:

The Company shall classify financial assets as subsequently measured at amortised
cost, fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) or fair value through
profit or loss (FVTPL) on the basis of its business model for managing the financial
assets and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset.

Initial recognition and measurement » a financial asset is classified as measured at

- Amortised Cost;
- FVOCI - debt investment;

- FVOCI - equity investment; or
-  PBFVIPL

All financial assets are recognised initially at fair value plus, in the case of financial
asscts not recorded at FVTPL, transaction costs that are attributable to the acquisition
of the financial asset. Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of
assets within a time frame established by regulation or convention in the market place
(regular way trades) are recognised on the trade date, i.e.. the date that the Company
commits to purchase or sell the asset.

Subsequent measurement

A financial asset is subsequently measured at amortised cost if it is held within a
business model whose objective is to hold the asset in order to collect contractual cash
flows and the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principle and interest on the principle amount
outstanding.
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1B Significant accounting policies(Continued)

IB.6  Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

De-recognition:

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a Company
of similar financial assets) is primarily derecognised (i.e. removed from the
Company’s balance sheet) when:

The rights (o receive cash flows from the asset have expired, or

The Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has
assumed an obligation to pay the received cash flows in full without material delay
to a third party under a ‘pass-through’ arrangement; and either (a) the Company
has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the
Company has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or
has entered into a pass-through arrangement, it evaluates if and to what extent it
has retained the risks and rewards of ownership. When it has neither transferred
nor retained substantially all of the risks and rewards of the asset, nor transferred
control of the asset, the Company continues to recognise the transferred asset to
the extent of the Company’s continuing involvement. In that case, the Company
also recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated

liability arc measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the
Company has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferr
asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and the
maximum amount of consideration that the Company could be required to repay.
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IB  Significant accounting policies(Continued)

I1B.6  Financial instruments (Continued)

i. Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets:

In accordance with Ind-AS 109, the Company applies expected credit loss (ECL)
mode] for measurement and recognition of impairment loss on the following financial
assets and credit risk exposure:

a) Financial assets that are debt instruments, and are measured at amortised cost e.g.,
bank balance

b) Trade receivables

The Company follows ‘simplified approach® for recognition of impairment loss
allowance on:

* Trade receivables which do not contain a significant financing component.

The application of simplified approach does not require the Company to track changes
in credit risk. Rather, it recognises impairment loss allowance based on lifetime ECLg
at each reporting date, right from its initial recognition.

For recognition of impairment loss on other financial assets and risk exposure, the
Company determines that whether there has been a significant increase in the credit
risk since initial recognition. If credit risk has not increased significantly, 12-months
ECL is used to provide for tmpairment loss. However, if credit risk has increased
significantly, lifetime ECL is used. If, in a subsequent period, credit quality of the
instrument improves such that there is no longer a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, then the entity reverts to recognising impairment loss
allowance based on 12-months ECL.

ii. Financial liabilities
Classification:

Financial liabilities are classified as measured at amortised cost or FVTPL. A financial

liability is classified as at FVTPL if it is classified as held-for-trading, or it is a
derivative or it is designated as such on initial recognition. Financial liabilities at

FVTPL are measured at fair value and net gains and losses, including any interest
expense, are recognized in profit or loss. Other financial liabilities are subsequent]

measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Interest expense an%)\/
foreign exchange gain and losses are recognized in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on
derecognition is also recognized in profit or loss.
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1B Significant accounting policies(Continued)

IB.6  Financial instruments (Continued)

ii. Financial liabilities (Continued)
De-recognition:

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is
discharged or cancelled or expires. When an existing financial liability is replaced by
another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an
existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is
treated as the derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new
liability. The difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the
statement of profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments:

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the balance
sheet where there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and
there is an intention to settle on a net basis or realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously

I1B.7 Revenue recognition

The Company recognises revenue when the amount of revenue can be reliably measured
and it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to the Company.

Revenue from providing back end information technology services related to “Passion
software” is recognised as per the terms of the contract with customer on progressive basis
as monthly accrual.

Revenue does not include taxes viz. service tax (ST) / goods and service tax (GST)
collected on behalf of Government, since no economic benefit flowing to the Company.

1B.8  Cost recognition

Costs and expenses are recognised when incurred and have been classified according to
their primary nature. The costs of the Company are broadly categorised in Employee
benefit expenses, finance cost and other operating expenses. Employee benefit expenses
majorly include employee compensation, allowances paid, contribution to various funds
and staff welfare expenses. Finance Cost majorly include interest charges towards loa
taken from Group Company. Other operating expenses majorly include legal and
professional fees, IT Communication expenses, operating lease rentals, Security expenses
and repairs & maintenance charges etc.
WPAD 4 ¢
: (4
o
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1B

1B.9

1B.10

(a)

)

Significant accounting policies(Continued)

Cash and Cash Eguivalents

Cash and Cash equivalents for the purpose of Cash Flow Statement comprise cash and
bank balances. To be classified as cash and cash equivalents, the financial asset must:

* bereadily convertible into cash;
¢ have an insignificant risk of changes in value; and

* bave a maturity period of three months or less at acquisition.

Employee benefits

Shori-term employce benefirs

Short term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are
expensed as the related service is provided. A liability is recognized for the amount
expected to be paid, e.g. salaries, short term bonus, if the Company has a present legal or
constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service provided by the
employee, and the amount can be estimated reliably.

Post-employment benefits

Defined contribution plan

The Company’s provident fund contribution paid / payable under the recognised providen
fund scheme and the employees' state insurance contribution is recognised as an expense in
the Statement of profit and loss during the period in which the employee renders the
related service.
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1B

IB.10

(b)

Significant accounting policies(Continued)

Employee benefits (Continued)

Post-employment benefits (Continued)
Defined benefit plan
Gratuity

The Company’s gratuity benefit scheme is a defined benefit plan. The Company’s net
obligation in respect of the gratuity benefit scheme is calculated by estimating the amount
of future benefit that employees have earned in return for their services in the current and
prior periods. The benefits are discounted to determine its present value.

The present value of the obligation under such defined benefit plans is determined based
on actuarial valuation by an independent actuary at each balance sheet date, using the
Projected Unit Credit Method, which recognises each period of service as giving rise to an
additional unit of employee benefit entitlement and measures each unit separately to build
up the final obligation. The obligations are measured at the present value of the estimated
future cash flows. The discount rates used for determining the present value of the
obligations under the defined benefit plan are based on the market yields on government
bonds as at the balance sheet date. When the calculation results in a benefit to the
Company, the recognised asset is limited to the net total of any unrecognised actuarial
losses and past service costs and the present value of any future refunds from the plan or
reductions in future contributions to the plan.

Remeasurements of the net defined benefit liability, which comprises actuarial gains and
losses are recognized in OCI. The Company determines the net interest expense (income)
on the net defined benefit liability (asset) for the period by applying the discount rate used
to measure the defined benefit obligation at the beginning of the annual period to the then
net defined benefit liability (asset) taking into account any changes in the net defined
benefit liability (asset) during the period as a result of contributions and benefit payment
Net interest expense and other expenses related to defined benefit plans are recognized in\
profit and loss.
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1B.11

I1B.12

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Foreign currency transactions

Foreign currency transactions are recorded into Indian rupees using the exchange rates
prevailing on the date of the respective transactions. Exchange difference arising on
foreign currency transactions, between the actual rate of settlement and the rate on the date
of the transactions, is charged or credited to the Statement of profit and loss.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies as at the balance sheet
date are translatec at the exchange rates prevailing on the balance sheet date and the
overall net exchange gain or loss on such conversion, if any, is credited / charged to the
Statement of profit and loss. Non monetary assets are recorded at the rates prevailing on
the date of the transactions. Non-monetary foreign currency items are carried at historical
cost. A foreign currency monetary item is classified as long-term if it has original maturity
of one year or more.

Taxation

Income tax expensc comprises current and deferred tax. It is recognised in profit or loss
except to the extent that it relates to a business combination, or items recognised directly in
equity or in OCI.

Current tax

Current tax comprises the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss
for the year and any adjustment to the tax payable or receivable in respect of previous
years. It is measured using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.

Current tax assets and liabilities are offset only if, the Company:
a) has a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts; and

b) intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liabi
simultaneously.
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1B.12

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for
taxation purposes (1ax bases).

Deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits
will be available against which they can be used. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each
reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax
benefit will be realised; such reductions are reversed when the probability of future taxable
profits improves.

Unrecognized deferred tax assets are reassessed at each reporting date and recognised to
the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profits will be available against
which they can be used.

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary
differences when they reverse, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the
reporting date.

The measurement of deferred tax reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Company expects, at the reporting date, to recover or settle the
carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax asset / liabilities in respect of temporary differences which originate and
reverse during the tax holiday period are not recognised. Deferred tax assets / liabiliti
respect of temporary differences that originate during the tax holiday period but revexge
after the tax holiday period are recognised.
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1B Significant accounting policies(Continued)

1B.13 Earnings per share ('EPS .

Basic EPS is computed by dividing the net profit or loss for the period attributable to
equity shareholders by the weighted average number of equity shares outstanding during
the period. Diluted EPS is computed using the weighted average number of equity and
dilutive equity equivalent shares outstanding during the period except where the results
would be anti-dilutive. The dilutive potential equity shares are deemed to be converted as
of the beginning of the period, unless they have been issued at a later date,

1B.14 Provisions and Contingent liabilities

A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event, the Company has a present
obligation that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required to settle the obligation. Provisions are recognised at the best
estimate of the expenditure required to settle the present obligation at the balance sheet
date. The provisions are measured on an undiscounted basis.

Provision in respect of loss contingencies relating to claims, litigation, assessment, fines,
penalties, etc. are recognised when it is probable that a liability has been incurred and the
amount can be estimated reliably.

A contingent liability exists when there is a possible but not probable obligation, or a
present obligation that may, but probably will not, require an outflow of resources, or a
present obligation whose amount cannot be estimated reliably. Contingent liabilities do
not warrant provisions, but are disclosed, unless the possibility of outflow of resources is
remote.

Contingent assets are neither recognised nor disclosed in the financial statements.
However, contingent assets are assessed continually and if it is virtually certain that an
inflow of economic benefits will arise, the asset and related income are recognised in the
period in which the change occurs.

IB.15 Application of New Indian Accounting Standards

All the Ind AS issued under section 133 of the Companies Act 2013 and notified by
Ministry of Corporate Affairs (MCA) under the Companies ( Indian Accounting Standar
Rules,2015 (as amended) till the financial statement approved have been considered in
preparation of these financial statements.
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2 Property, plant and equipment

Particulars Computer

Hardware
Gross carrying value as of 31 March 2021 5,746.8
Additions during the year -
Disposals during the year -
Gross carrying value as of 31 March 2022 5,746.8
Additions during the vear -
Disposals during the year -
Gross carrying value as of 3: March 2023 5.746.8
Closing acecumulated depreciation as of 31 March 2021 5,726.9
Depreciation charge during the year 2021-22 19.9
Closing accumulated depreciation as of 31 March 2022 5,746.8
Depreciation charge during the year 2022-23 -
Closing accumulated depreciation as of 31 March 2023 5.746.8
Carrying value as of 31 March 2022 =
Carrying value as of 31 March 2023
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3 Income taxes

Fortheyear  Forthe vear
ended 31 ended 31
March 2023 March 2022

A. The major component of Income tax expenses are as under:

(i) Income tax recognised in Statement of profit and loss

Current tax

In respect of current year -

In respect of earlier years 5

Deferred tax
In respect of current year £ 3:359.7
Income Tax expense recognised in Statement of profit and loss - 3,359.7

(ii) Amounts recognised in other comprehensive income
Deferred tax expense on remeasurements of defined benefit plans " .

Income tax expense recognised in OCI 2 £
B. Reconciliation of tax expense and the accounting profit for the year is as under :

Profit/(Loss) before tax (791.7) (312.2)
Tax using the Company’s domestic tax rate* = =

Tax effect of:
Others . %
Tax expense as per Statement of profit and loss
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3

Income Taxes ( Continued)

The major component of defferd tax (liabilities)/Assets arising on account of timing difference are as follows:

-to ather comprehensive income
As at March 31, 2022
charged/(credited)

-to profit or loss

-to other comprehensive income
As at March 31, 2023

" Asat As at
i March 31,2023 March 31, 2022
Deferred Tax Liabilities - kS
Deferred Tax Assets ~ %
Praperty, plant and equipment - ~
Business Loss -
MAT Credit 3, -
Employee benefits - -
Net Deferred Tax Assets . y
. Property, plant and " 2 Employee -
Peptlprig bt Business Loss MAT Credit benefits Total
As at March 31, 2021 3176 2,284.6 698.5 59.1 3,359.7
charged/(credited) kS
-to profit or loss (317.6) (2,284.6) (698.5) (59.1)

(3.359.7)

In the absence of reasonable certainty of availability of future taxable profits against which the deferred tax assets can be adjusted, the Company has recognised deferred tax assets to the extent of

deferred tax liability available, if any.

Expiry schedule of deferred tax assetsnot recognised is as under:

Particulars 2026-27 Beyond 5 vears Indefinite Total
Business losses 7:364.3 2,380.9 - 9,745.2
Tax Losses:
Unabsorbed depreciation - . = -
MAT Credit = 706.8 - 706.8
On WDV of assets - - 44.8 744.8
Total 7:364.3 3,087.7 744.8 13,1968
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4 Other tax assets

Particulars

31 Mar 2023 31 Mar 2022
Advance tax 236.9 228.2
Total tax asscts 236.9 228.2
Other non-current assets
Particulars 31 Mar 2023 31 Mar 2022

Advance paid to gratuity fund

Total Other non-current assets

Trade receivables

Particulars

31 Mar 2023

31 Mar 2022

Trade receivables 2912 2012
Less: Allowance for doubtful debts - -
Total recievables 291.2 201.2
Break up of Security Details

'~ Considered good 2912 201.2
- Considered doubtful

Total 291.2 291.2
Less Impairment loss

Total Trade Recievables 291,2 201.2

Trade receivables Ageing Schedule
As at gist March, 2023

Balance with banks :

In current aceount 69.9 1,615.2
Total Cash and cash equivalents 69.9 1,615.2

Other current assets

Particulars

3ist March 2023

31 Mar 2022

Balances with Government Authorities (Cenvat / Service tax credit

receivable) 2/0511 s
Less: Proyision for ITC (541:2) (541.2)
Total Other current financial assets 1,509.9 1,470.0

Pasidealis fesa th 6 Month -1 CE _ More than
s than 6 Month Tarh 1-2 Year | 2-3 Year a2 Years Total

Undisputed Trade Receivables - Considered Good 2012 2912
Undisputed Trade Receivables - Which have significant increase in credit
risk A
Undisputed Trade Receivables - Credit Impaired =
Disputed Trade Receivables - Considered Good M
Disputed Trade Receivables - Which have significant increase in eredit
risk -
Disputed Trade Receivables - Credit Impaired =
Total - 201.2 = = 201.2
As at 31 March 2022

Particular Lessthan 6 Month | OMomth-1 | .4, ~ Mare than

Yo 1-2Year |2-3Year 3 Vears Total

Undisputed Trade Receivables - Considered Good 2912 2912
Undisputed Trade Receivables - Which have significant increzse in credit
risk =
Undisputed Trade Receivables - Credit Impaired ‘
Disputed Trade Receivables - Considered Good -
Disputed Trade Receivables - Which have significant increase in credit

risk =
Disputed Trade Receivables - Credit Impaired A
Total 291,2 - - - 201.2
Cash and cash eguivalents

Particulars 31st March 2023 31 Mar 2022
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9 Equity share capital
Authorised equity share capital

Particulars Number of m———
shares
As at April 1, 2021 1,000,000 10,000.0
Increase during the year - -
As at March 31, 2022 1,000,000 10,000.0
Increase during the year - -
As at March 31, 2023 1,000,000 10,000.0
(i) Movement in Equity Share Capital (Issued, Subscribed and Fully Paid up)
Particulars Number of Equity Share
shares Capital
(par value)
As at April 1, 2021 1,000,000 10,000.0
Add: No of Shares issued during the year - -
As at March 31, 2022 1,000,000 10,000.0
Add: No of Shares issued during the year - -
As at March 31, 2023 1,000,000 10,000.0

Terms and rights attached to Equity Shares
The Company has one class of equity shares having a par value of Rs. 10 per share. Each shareholder is eligible for
one vote per share held. The dividend proposed by the Board of Directors is subject to the approval of the
shareholders in the ensuing Annual General Meeting, except in case of interim dividend. In the event of liquidation,
the equity shareholders are eligible to receive the remaining assets of the Company after distribution to secured
creditors if any, of all preferential amounts, in proportion to their shareholding.

(ii) Shares of the company held by Holding Company

As at As at
Category of Shareholder March 31, 2023 March 31, 2022
Number of | _ " Number of i "
P S % of Holding gy % of Holding
Thomas Cook India Limited (Holding
company) & its nominees 1,000,000 100.0 1,000,000 100.0
(iii) Details of Shareholders holding 5% or more shares in the Company
As at As at
Category of Shareholder March 31, 2023 March 31, 2022
Number of | | : Number of E
F o % of Holding g hoestcer % of Holding
Thomas Cook India Limited (Holding
company) & its nominees 1,000,000 100.0 1,000,000 100.0

Pursuant to the the Composite Scheme of Arrangement and Amalgamation amongst TC Forex Services Limited
(Formerly known as Tata Capital Forex Limited), TC Travel Services Limited (Formerly known as TC Travel and
Services Limited), SOTC Trave! Management Private Limited (formerly known as SITA Travels and Tours Private
Limited), Trax el Cm‘poratmn (I nd]a) lelted QUESS Corp Limited and Thomas Cook (Indla] meed (TCIL) and
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10 Reserves and surplus

. As at As at
Particulars
March 31, 2023 March 31,2022
Retained Earnings (12,763.0) (11,971.3)
Total reserves and surplus (12,763.0) (11,971.3)
Retained Earnings
Particulars Agat A4 5t
March 31, 2023 March 31, 2022
Opening Balance (11.971.3) (8,299.3)
Net Profit/(loss) for the year (791.7) (3,672.0)
Other comprehensive income for the year - -
Closing Balance (12,763.0) (11,971.3)
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11

12

13

14

Other current liabilities

Particulars | 31 March 2023 ] z:Mar 2022
Statutory dues | 21

Total Other current lizbilities

17.1

Borrowings
Particulars 31st March 2023 31 Mar 2022
Unsecured
-Loans and gancos from related parties (ICD) 3,600.0 5.000.0
Total Borrowings 3,600.0 5.000.0
Terms of repayment:
ICD has been given for the tenure of 6 months and renwable for the simillar term if unpaid. Above ICD's have been partly repaid to Thomas Cook (India) Limited during the year.
Trade payables
Particulars 31st March 2023 31 Mar 2022
Due to micro, small and medium enterprises (Refer note 21) - -
Due to others 595.8 345.2
Total Trade and other payables 5925.8 345.2
Trade Payable Ageing Schedule
As at 315t March, 2023
Particulars Less' than 1 j-avears 2-3 years More than 3 Total
Year years
Tatal outstanding dues of micro enterprises and small enterprises
Total cutstanding dues of creditors other than micro enterprises and 2598 336.0 595.8
small enterprises
Disputed dues of micro enterprises and small enterprises
Disputed dues of creditors other than micro entarprises and small
enterprises
Total Trade Pavables 259.8 336.0 = 595.8
As at 31st March, z022
Particulars Les;than 1 1B yeais 2.3 years More than 3 Total
ear yvears
Total outstanding dues of micro enterprises and small enterprises
Tatal outstanding dues of creditors ather than micro enterprises and 1602 185.0
small enterprises a45.2
Disputed dues of micro enterprises and small enterprises
Disputed dures of creditors other than micro enterprises and small
enterprises
Total Trade Payables 160.2 185.0 = 345.2
Current - other financial liabilities
Particulars 31 March 2023 31 Mar 2022
Other financial liability 675.0 213.6
Total Current - other financial liabilities 675.0 213.6
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15

15(a)

16

17

18

Revenue from operations

Particulars

For the year ended
31st March 2023

For the year ended
31 Mar 2022

Sales and services

Income from IT Software - 284.5
Income From Chargeback or Call Centre - 246.0
TOTAL g 530.6
Other income
Particulars For the year ended For the year ended

31st March 2023 31 Mar 2022
Sales and services
Unclaimed credit balances no longer required, written back 375.3
Exchange gain (net) - 56.4
Miscellaneous Income - = 57.8
TOTAL - 489.4

Employee benefit expense

Particulars

For the year ended
31st March 2023

For the year ended
31 Mar 2022

Salaries and other allowances - 395.1
Contribution to provident fund and other funds @ 43.6
Gratuity a B
Staff welfare = 17.3
TOTAL - 456.0
Finance costs
Particulars For the year ended For the year ended
31st March 2023 31 Mar 2022
Interest expenses 443.8 672.6
Other finance charges 2.6 10.3
TOTAL 446.4 683.0

Other expenses

Particulars

For the year ended
31st March 2023

For the year ended
31 Mar 2022

Legal and professional charges 237.4 76.6
Repairs and maintenance — others 2.1 2.1
Auditors' remuneration 90.0 90.0
Rates and taxes = 4.7
Rent 15.7 =
TOTAL 345-3 173.4
Auditor's Remuneration
Particulars For the year ended For the year ended
31st March 2023 31 Mar 2022
As auditor
- Statutory audit 90.0 90.0
TOTAL 90.0 90.0
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19 Earnings per share (EPS)

Particulars 31 March 2023 31 March 2022
A. Net Profit/(Loss) for the year (791.7) (3,672.0)
B. Weighted average number of equity shares outstanding during the
year 1,000,000.0 1,000,000.0
C. Weighted average number of preference shares outstanding during the
vear = -
D. Basic earnings per share (A/B) (0.8) (3.7)
E. Diluted earnings per share (A/B+C) (0.8) (3.7)
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20 Financial instruments - Fair values and risk management

A, Accounting classification and fair values

Carrying amountsand fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities, including their levels in the fair value hierarchy, are presented below,

31 March 2023 Carrying amount Fair value
Financial Financial Total Level1- Level2- Level 3 - Total
instruments instruments Financial Quoted price  Significant Significant
measured at fair  measured at fair instruments inactive observable unobservable
value through value through measured at markels inputs inputs
profit orloss comprehensive amortized cost
(FVTPL) income (FVTOCI)
Financial assets measured at Fair value
Investment in Mutual Funds - - - - - - -
Financial assets not measured at fair value
Trade receivables = - 2012 2912 - - - -
Cash and cash equivalents - - 69.0 609 - - = -
Other financial assets -
- Nen-carrent * b - - - " -
- Current - - 1,509.9 1509.9 - - - -
- < 1,870.9 1,870.9 - - - -
Financial liabilities measured at Fair value
Derivative Liability - = = - - = - -
Financial liabilities not measured at fair
value
Trade payables — = 595.8 595.8 - - - -
Borrowings - - 3,600.0 3:600.0 - 3.600.0 - 3.600.0
Other financial liabililties
- {urrent - - 675.0 675.0 - - - -
Total financial liabilities = - 4,870.8 4.870.8 - 3,600.0 - 3.600.0
31 March 2022 Carrying amount Fairvalue
Financial Financial Finaneial Total Level 1- Level 2 - Level 3- Total
instruments instruments instruments Quoted price  Significant Significant
measuredatfair  measured at fair measured at in active observable unohservable
value through value through amortized cost markets inputs inputs
profitorloss comprehensive
(FVTPL) inecame (FVTOCI)
Financial assets measured at Fair value
Investment in Mutual Funds - - - - - 5 -
Financial assetsnot measured at fair value
Trade receivables - - 2912 2912 - - - -
Cashand cash equivalents = - 1,615.2 1,615.2 - - = <
Other financial assets 2
- Non-current - - 2 = 2 5 N
- Current < = 1.470.0 1,470.0 - - - -
% 4 3,376.5 3.376.5 ‘ . 2 ¥
Finaneial liabilities not measured at fair
value
Trade payables = = 3452 345.2 = = - =
Borrowings - - 5,000.0 5000.0 . 5,000.0 - 5,000.0
Other financial liabililties 213.6 2136
~Current = - - 3 = - s =
Total financial liabilities - - 5.555.8 5.558.8 - 5,000.0 - 000.0
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20 Financial instruments — Fair values and risk management (Continued)
B. Measurement of fair values
Valuation techniques and significant unobservable inputs
The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair values:
a) The carrying amounts of receivables and pavables which are short term in nature such as trade receivables, other bank balances, deposits, loans to
employees, trade payables, payables for acquisition of non- current assets,and cash and cash equivalents are considered to be the same as their fair values.

b) The fair values of long term security deposits taken and non-current borrowings are based on discounted cash flows using a current borrowing rate. They
are classified as level 2 fair values in the fair value hierarchy due to the use of observable inputs,

c) For financial assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value, the carrying amounts are equal to the fair values.

Transfers between Levels
There were no transfers in either direction in any of the reporting periods.

C. Financial risk management
The Company has exposure to the following risks arising from financial instruments:
+ Liquidity risk ;
» Credit risk ; and
» Currency risk

i. Risk management framework
The Company’s board of directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Company’s risk management framework. The board of
directors has established the Risk Management Committee, which is responsible for developing and menitoring the Company’s risk management policies,
The committee reports regularly to the board of directors on its activities.

The Company’s risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the Company. to set appropriate risk limits and controls
and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk management policies and syvstems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and the
Company’s activities. The Company, through its training and management standards and procedures, aims to maintain a disciplined and constructive control
environment in which all employees understand their roles and obligations.

The audit committee oversees how management monitors compliance with the company’s risk management policies and procedures, and reviews the
adequacy of the risk management framework in relation to the risks faced by the Company. The andit committee is assisted in its oversight role by internal
audit. Internal audit undertakes both regular and ad hoc reviews of risk management controls and procedures, the results of which are reported to the audit
committee,

ii. Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations associated with its financial liabilities that are settled by
delivering cash or another financial asset. The Company's approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will have sufficient liquidity
to meet its liabilities when they are due, under hoth normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the
Company’s reputation.

The company’s principal source of liquidity are cash and cash equivalents and the cash flow that is generated from operations. The company has an
outstanding bank borrowings of Rs Nil. As of March 2023 the company has working capital of Rs (29,09.866) including cash and cash equivalents of Rs
69,854 and current investments of Rs Nil. As of March 2022 company had working capital of Rs (20,37,567) including cash and cash equivalent of Rs
16,15,246 and current investement of Rs NIL. The Company does not perceive any liquidity risk on support from holding Company.

Exposure to liquidity risk
The following are the remaining contractual maturities of financial liabilities at the reporting date. The amounts are gross and undiscounted, and include
estimated interest payments and exclude the impact of netting agreements.

Contractual cash flows

31 March 2023 Carrying Total Less than 6 6-12 1-2years  2-5years More
amount months months than 5
years
Non-derivative financial liabilities
Loans and advances from related parties 3.600.0 3,600.0 3,600.0 - - B
Trade and other payables 595.8 595.8 595.8 - - - -
Other financial liabilities 675.0 675.0 675.0 - - - -
Contractual cash flows
31 March 2022 Carrying Total Less than 6 6-12 1-2 years 2-5 years More
amount months months than 5
vears
Non-derivative financial liabilities
Loans and advances from related parties 5,000.0 5,000.0 5,000.0 - -
Trade and other payables 345.2 345.2 345.2 - - -

Other financial liabilities 213.6 213.6 213.6 = = - i
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20 Financial instruments — Fair values and risk management (Continued)
C. Financial risk management (Continued)
iii. Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Company if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual
obligations, and arises principally from the Company's receivables from customers.

The carrying amount of following financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure:

Trade receivables

The Company's exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics customer. However, management also
considers the factors that may influence the credit risk of its customer base, including the default risk of the industry and country in
which customer operate.

The Risk Management Committee has established a credit policy under which each new customer is analysed individually for
creditworthiness before the Company’s standard payment and delivery terms and conditions are offered.

The average credit period on sales of services is less than 30 days. Credit risk arising from trade receivables is managed in accordance
with the Company’s established policy, procedures and control relating to castomer credit risk management.

The Company establishes an allowance for impairment that represents its estimate of expected losses in respect of trade and other
receivables.

Movement in impairement on trade receivables 31 March 2023 31 March 2022
Balance at the beginning of the year . "
Impairment - -
Balance at the end of the year 2 3

Cash and cash equivalents
The Company held cash and cash equivalents of Rs. 69,854 as at 31 March 2023 (Rs. 16,15,241.79 as at 31 March 2022). The cash and
cash equivalents are held with bank and financial institution counterparties, which are rated AA-to AA+

Impairment on cash and cash equivalents has been measured on the 12-month expected loss basis and reflects the short maturities of the
exposures. The Company considers that its cash and cash equivalents have low credit risk based on the external credit ratings of the
counterparties.
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20 Financial instruments - Fair values and risk management (Continued)

c

Financial risk management (Continued)

Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices — such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates — will affect the Company’s income or the value of
its holdings of financial instruments Market risk is attributable to all market risk sensitive financial instruments including foreign currency receivables
and payables and Tong term debt. We are exposed to market risk primarily related to foreign exchange rate risk, interest rate risk and the market value
of our investments. Thus, our exposure to market risk is a function of investing and horrowing activities and revenue generating and operating
activities in foreign currency. The objective of market risk management is to avoid excessive exposure in our foreign currency revenues and costs,

Currency risk
The Company is exposed to currency risk on account of its borrowings and other payables in foreign currency. The functional curreney of the Company
is Indian Rupee.

Exposure to currency risk (Exposure in dfferent currencies converted to functional currency)
The currency profile of financial assets and financial liabilities as at 31 March 2023 and 31 March 2023 are as below:

Particulars 31 March 2023 31 March 2023 31 March 2023 31 March 2023
UsD EUR JPY GBP

Financial assets

Trade and other receivables 201.2 - " .

Total 291.2 - = 5

Net exposure in  respective 291.2 - - =

currencies

Particulars 31March 2022 31 March 2022 31 March zo22 31 March 2022
UsD EUR JPY GBP

Financial assets

Trade and other receivables 291.2 - e

Total 291.2 - - e

Net exposure in respective 291.2 - & i

currencies

Currency risk (Continued)

Exposure to currency risk (Exposure in dfferent currencies converted to functional currency) (Continued)
The following significant exchange rates have been applied during the year.

2 Average rate Year-end spot rate
Particulars
31 March 2023] 31 March 2022 31 March 2023] 31 March 2022
USD 79.0 74.4 822 75.8
Sensitivity analysis

A reasonably possible strengthening (weakening) of the Indian Ru
2022 would have affected the measurement of financial instrun
amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular interest rates,
transactions to be held in the foreign currencies.

pee against various currencies as mentioned above at 31 March 2023 and 31 March
ients denominated in the respective currencies and affected profit or loss by the
remain constant and ignores any impact of forecast

Particulars Profit or loss Equity, net of tax

Effect in INR Strengthening Weakening Strengthening Weakening

31 March 2023

1% movement

UsD 2.9 (2.9) = S
2.9 (2.9) = -

Particulars Profit or loss Equity, net of tax

Effect in INR Strengthening Weakening Strengthening Weakening

31 March 2022

1% movement

UsD 2.9 (2.9) - N
2.9 (2.9) - LT
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21 Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises
Under the Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises Development Act, 2006 which eame into foree from 2 October, 2006, certain disclosures are

Particulars 31 March 2023 31 March 2022

The amounts remaining unpaid to micro and small suppliers as at the end of the year.

-~ Principal - -
-- Interest - -
The amount of interest paid by the buver in terms of section 16 of the Micro Small and B -
Medium Enterprises Development Act, 2006 (MSMED Act, 2006') along with the

amount of the payment made to the supplier beyond the appointed day during each

accounting vear.

The amounts of the payments made to micro and small suppliers beyond the appointed & =
day during each accounting year.

The amount of interest due and payable for the period of delay in making payment - -
(which have been paid but beyond the appointed day during the vear ) but without
adding the interest specified under MSMED Act, 2006.

The amount of interest accrued and remaining unpaid at the end of each accounting year - -

The amount of further interest remaining due and payable even in the succeeding years, - -
until such date when the interest dues as above are actually paid to the small enterprise

for the purpose of disallowance as a deductible expenditure under section 23 of the

MSMED Act, 2006.

22 Segment reporting
The Company is in the business of providing IT Software services to its customers which is considered by management as the only reportable

business segment taking into account the nature of the business, the risk and returns, the organisation structure and internal reporting

system.

23 Capital management
The Company's objectives when managing capital (consisting of equity capital and unremitted profit in the financial statements) are to
safeguard its ability to continue as a going concern, so it can continue to provide services for the related entities and ta maintain an optimal
capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or change the capital structure, the Company may adjust the amount of profits for remittance to holding company, return
equity capital, or require holding company to infuse additional capital to support its operations.
There are no externally imposed capital requirements on the Company.

The Company has not proposed any Dividend for the year ended March 31, 2023 and March 31, 2022,

Ce N L



Jardin Travel Solutions Limited
Notes to financial statements for the year ended Mar 31, 2023
( All amounts in Rs. Thousands,unless otherwise stated )

24 Employee benefits

A. The Company contributes to the following post-employment defined benefit plans in India.

(i) Defined contribution plans:
The Company makes contributions, determined as a specified percentage of employee salaries, in Tespect of qualifying employees towards
Provident Fund, and Labour Welfare Fund which is a defined contribution plan. The Company has no obligations other than to make the
specified contributions. The contributions are charged to the Staterment of profit and loss as they accrue.

Amount contributed to defined contribution plan and recognised as an expense in the Statement of profit and loss are as under:

Particulars 31 March 31 March
2023 2022
Employer’s contribution to provident - 28.6
fund
Employee's State Insurance Corporation B 4.5
National Pension Scheme - 10.4
Labour welfare fund - 0.1
NPS Contribution - -

(ii) Defined Benefit Plan:
The Company provides for gratuity using the Projected Unit Credit Method, with actuarial valuations being carried out at each halance sheet
date, based on legislations as enacted up to the balance sheet date. Actuarial gains and losses are recognised in full in the Statement of profit
and loss in the period in which they occur. Past service cost is recognised immediately to the extent that the benefits are already vested.

Gratuity is payable to all eligible employees of the Company on superannuation, death and permanent disablement, in terms of the provisions
of the Payment of Gratuity Act,1972 or as per the Company’s scheme, whichever is more beneficial.

Company has transferred all its employees to its holding company Thomas Cook (India) Ltd in May 2021, Accordingly, funds have been
transferred to holding company.

Based on the actuarial valuation obtained in respect of gratuity, the following table sets out the status of the gratuity plan and the amounts
recognised in the Company’s financial statements as at balance sheet date:

24 Employee benefits (Continued)

B. Movement in net defined benefit (asset) liability
The following table shows a reconciliation from the opening balances to the closing balances for net defined benefit (asset) liability and its
components:

Particulars Defined benefit obligation Fair value of plan assets Net defined benefit
31 March 2023 31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March
2022 2023 2022 2023 2022

Opening balance - 213.9 - 448.4 - (234.5)
Current service cost - - = = = -
Adjustment to opening fair value of plan assets e - - « 2
Interest cost (income) - - - = & N

Included in OCI

Experience adjustment = 3 = = _ ~
Effect of asset ceiling . . - " 5 ~
Return on plan assets excluding interest £ = - s s
income

Other
Contributions paid by the employer - - - - -

Liabilities assumed / (settled) - (213.9) i (448.4) & 234.5
Benefits paid - - = s

Closing balance ] - & - > 5
Represented by i

Net defined benefit asset - o
Net defined benefit liability = "

C. Plan assets
Plan assets comprise the following:

Particulars 31-Mar-23  31-Mar-22
Investment in Gratuity _Fund(LlC) = R

./u‘r',’«[h’.q\

—
J* NEW\DELHI *
fs) g



24 Employee benefits (Continued)

ii.

Defined benefit obligations

Actuarial assumptions

The following were the principal actuarial assumptions at the reporting date (expressed as weighted averages).

Particulars 31 March 31 March

2023 2022

Discount rate - 0.00%

Salary escalation rate 2 0.00%

Mortality rate - IALM (2012-
14) Ult

Employee Attrition Rate

Upto Age 30 - 0.00%

Age 31-40 - 0.00%

Age 41-50 & 0.00%

Age 51 and above - 0.00%

Assumptions regarding future mortality have been based on published statistics and mortality tables, The current longevities underlying the
values of the defined benefit obligation at the reporting date were as follows.
As on 31st March, 2023 company had no employees because of which no actuarial valuation was done as per Indas 19.

Sensitivity analysis
Reasonably possible changes at the reporting date to one of the relevant actuarial assumptions, holding other assumptions constant, would
have affected the defined benefit obligation by the amounts shown below.

Although the analysis does not take account of the full distribution of cash flows expected under the plan, it does provide an approximation of
the sensitivity of the assumptions shown.
As on g1st March, 2023 company had no employees because of which no actuarial valuation was done as per Ind AS 19.
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25 Transfer pricing
The Company's international transactions with associated enterprises are at arm's length as per the independent accountant's report in this regard,
for the period ended 31 March 2023. Maragement believes that the Company's international and domestic transactions with associated enterprises
post 31 March 2023 continue to be at arm's length and that the transfer pricing legislation will not have any impact on the financial statements,
particularly on the amount of the tax expense for the period and the amount of the provision for taxation at the period end.

26 Going Concern Assumption

The company has incurred a net loss of Rs 791.7 thousand during the year ended March 31,2023and as of the date has accumulated losses of Rs.
12,763 thousand and companies liablities exeeced its total asset by Rs. 2,763 thousand.

The Company has obtained support letter from its holding company Thomas Cook (India) Limited o safeguard its ability to continue as a going
concern.The Company continues to provide services for its holding company The Company is also planning to set up a training academy and various
other related services to support the holding company and its subsidiaries/ group companies.

Based on aforesaid assessment, management believes that the Company will continue as a going concern.
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27  Related party transactions
(A) Names of related parties by whom control exists

Name of the parties Relationships

Thomas Cook (India) Limited Holding Company w.e.f 25th Nov 2019

(B) Other related parties with whom transactions have taken place during the year

Name of the parties Relationships

Quess Corp Ltd Fellow Subsidiary of the company
Desert Adventures Tourism LLC Fellow Subsidiary of the company
Asian Trail Holdings Ltd Fellow Subsidiary of the company

(C) Key Management Personnel

Name of the parties Name of the key management personnel
Directors of the Company Amit Madhan*

Rajeev Kale*

Abraham Alapatt*

(D) Related parties with whom transactions have taken place during the year

Particulars Year Ultimate Fellow Other Related Total
cholding Subsidary Party
Company/
Holding
Company
Sale of services 2023 - - - -
2022 246.0 284.5 - 530.6
Purchase of services 2023 15.7 - - 15.7
2022 " ¢ - "
Loan Taken 2023 - = = -
2022 15,000.0 - - 15,000.0
Loan Repaid 2023 1,400.0 - - 1,400.0
2022 17,600.0 - - 17,600.0
Interest on loan taken 2023 443.8 - - 443.8
2022 672.6 - - 672.6




27  Related party transactions (Continued)

(E)
Particulars Year Holding Fellow Other Related Total
Company Subsidary Party
Balance as at 31 March
Receivable 2023 234.5 56.7 - 291.2
2022 234.5 56.7 291.2
Payables 2023 4.275.0 - - 4,275.0
2022 5,213.6 - - 5.213.6
(F)
Particulars Holding Company 2023 2022
Sale of Servies Thomas Cook (India) Limnited - 246.0
Purchase of Servies Thomas Cook (India) Limited 15.7 -
Interest on loan taken Thomas Cook (India) Limited 443.8 672.6
Transactions during the vear:
Loan Repaid Thomas Cook (India) Limited 1,400.0 17,600.0
Loan Taken Thomas Cook (India) Limited - 15,000.0
Balance as at 31 March
Net Receivable Thomas Cook (India) Limited 234.5 234.5
Payables:
Loan Payable Thomas Cook (India) Limited 3,600.0 5,000.0
Interest payable on Loan Thomas Cook (India) Limited 491.4 213.6
Other Payable Thomas Cook (India) Limited 15.7 110.1
((e3)
Particulars Fellow Subsidary 2023 2022
Sale of Services Desert Adventures Tourism LLC - -
Sale of Servies Asian Trail Holdings Ltd - 284.5
Balance as at 31 March
Receivable Desert Adventures Tourism LLC 56.7 56.7
Receivable Asian Trail Holdings Ltd - -
Pavahle Quess Corp Limited - .

* These KMPs have not drawn any remuneration from the company during the vear.
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28  Ration Analysis

Sr.No. |Financial performance Numerator Denominator 31 March | 31 March | Variance in Reasons
ratios 2023 2022 %

1 Current ratio (in times) | Total Current Assets Total Current Liabilities 0.4 0.6 -86.6% |Liabilities increased on account
of Interest accruals and Cash
utilised to repay debt.

2 Debt equity ratio (in times) | Debt consists of borrowi ngs  |Total Equity -1.3 -2.5 -48.6%| Debt partly repaid during the

and lease liabilities vear. Networth is negative.

3 Debl service coverage ratio | Profit / (Loss) before interest, |Borrowings principal payments, Interest and Na = Na = NA

(in times)* after tax and Depreciation and |Jease payment
amortisation
4 Return on Net Worth Profit / (Loss) after tax Average total equity = (Opening total equity + Na "™ NA * NA*
(RONW) or Return on Closing total equity)/2
Equity (ROE) (in
percentage) *
5 Trade receivable turnover |Revenue from operations Average trade receivables = (Opening trade - 1.8 -100.0% | No operating revenue during
(in times) receivable + Clasing trade receivable)/2 the year

6 Trade payable turnover Cost of services Average trade payable = (Opening trade - - - [Nocost of eales during the year

ratio {in times) payable + Closing trade payable)/z

7 Net Capital turnover ratio [Revenue from operations Average working capital = (Opening net = -0.2 -100.0% | No operating revenve guring

(in times) current assets + Closing net current the vear
assets)/am"

8 Net Profit Ratio (in Profit / (Less) after tax Revenue from operations - -692.1% -100.0% |No opersting revenue during

percentage) * the year

9 Return on capital Profit / (Loss) before interest |Closing capital employed = Tangible net NA** NA ** NA =

employed * (in percentage) |and tax worth# + Total borrowings + Jease Hiabilities

10 Return oninvestment {(in [Income Generated from Average invested funds in market = (Opening NA NA Na

percentage) s« invested fundsin market funds invested in market + Closing funds
invested in market)/2

** Since the company has incurred Josses.
*** Net current assets = Total current assets - Total current liability
# Tangible net worth = Total net worth - Intangible assats (including intangible asset under development and goodwill).

29  Other Statutory Information
(i) The Company does not have any Benami property, where any proceeding has been initiated oris pending against the Company, for holding any Benami property.
(i1) The Company does not have any charges or satisfoction of such tharges which are yet to be registerad with the Registrar of Companies (ROC) beyond the statutary period.

(iif) The Company has not traded or invested in Crypio currency or Virtual Currency during the financial year.
(iv) The Company has not advanced or loaned or investad funds to any other person(s) or entity(ies), including foreign entities (Intermediaries) with the understanding that the Intermediary shall:

(a) directly or indireetly lend or invest in other persons or entities identified in any manner whatsoever by oron behalf of the company (Ultimate Beneficiaries) or
(b) provide any guarantee, security or the like to or on behalf of the Ultimate Beneficiaries

(v) The Campany has not received any fund from any person(s) or entityfies), including foreign entities (Funding Party) with the understanding (whether recorded in writing or otherwise) that the
Company shall:

(2) directly or indirectly lend or invest in other persons or entities identified in any manner whatsoever by or on behalf of the Funding Pary (Ultimate Beneficiaries) or
(b) provide any goarantee, security or the like on behalf of the Ultimate Beneficiaries,

(vi) The Company does not have any transaction whic is not recorded in the books of account that have been surrendered or disclosed as income during the yearin the tax assessmentsunder the
Income Tax Act, 1961 (such as, search or survey) orany sther relevant provisions of the Income-tax Act, 1981
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Code on Social Security, 2020

The Indian Parliament has approved the Code on Social Security, 2020 which would impact the contributions by the Company towards provident fund and gratuity. The effective date from which
the changes are applicabe is yet to be notified and the rules for quantifying the financial impact are yet to be framed. As the Company do not have any employees on its payroll, there will be no

financial impact on the Company.

Regrouping

The figures for the previous perinds have been regrouped/ rearranged wherever necessary to confirm to the current period classification in order to comply with the requirements of the amended
Schedule I11 to the Companies Act, 2013,

Disclosure under sec 115BAA in The Income Tax act , 1961

In view of insertion of new Section 115 BAA in the Income Tax Act, 1061, as introduced by the Government of India, vide Taxation (Amendment) Ordinance, 2019 dated 20th of September 2019,
domestic companies have been given an option to pay tax at reduced rate of 22%, effective from financial year 2019-20 (assessment year 2020- 21) & onwards, sithject to their adhering to certain
conditions specified therein.

The Management of the company has not exercisec such option till the 2020-21 (assessment year 2021- 22) and further it continues to evaluate the benefit of exercising the option for a lower

corporate tax rate vis-2-vis the existing provisions, 2021-22 (assessment year 2032- 23) onwards and the Company has an option for the same till the filing of return of income for such Year,
Pending exercising of the option, the company has ~ecognized the taxes on income for the year ended March 33, 2023 as per the earlier provisions.

The notes from 1 to 32 form an integral part of the financial statements

As per our report of even date attached.

For G. M. Kapadia & Co. For and on behalf of the Board of Directors
Chartered Accountants

Firm's Registration No: 104767W

\ &

Rajeev
Abhishek Si Director Director
Partner [DIN:#6775570] [DIN:06646676)

Membership No: 407549

Date: June 23, 2023
Place: New Delhi

Date: June 23,2023 Date: June 23, 2023
Place: Mumbai Place: Mumbai
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Members of Jardin Travel Solutions Limited
Report on the Audit of the Standalone Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the Standalone Financial Statements of Jardin Travel Solutions Limited (“the
Company™), which comprise the Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2023 and the Statement of Profit
and Loss (including Other Comprehensive Income). Statement of Changes in Equity and
Statement of Cash Flows for the year then ended. and notes to the Standalone Financial
Statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory
information (hereinafter referred to as = the Standalone Financial Statements™)

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us,
the aforesaid Standalone FFinancial Statements give the information required by the Companies
Act, 2013 (“the Act™) in the manner so required and give a true and fair view in conformity with
the Indian Accounting Standards prescribed under section 133 of the Act read with Companies
(Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015. as amended (*Ind AS™) and other accounting
principles generally accepted in India. of the state of affairs of the Company as at March 31, 2023
and its loss, the changes in equity and its cash flows for the year ended on that date.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with the Standards on Auditing (SAs) specified under
section 143(10) of the Act. Our responsibilities under those Standards are further described in the
“Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Standalone Financial Statements” section of our
report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the *Code of Ethics™ issued by the
Institute of Chartered Accountants of India (“the ICAI™) together with the ethical requirements
that are relevant to our audit of the Standalone Financial Statements under the provisions of the
Actand the Rules thereunder, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with these requirements and the ICAI’s *Code of Ethics’. We believe that the audit evidence we
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion on the Standalone
Financial Statements.

Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern

We draw attention to Note 26 of the Standalone Financial Statements. which indicates that the
Company incurred a net loss of Rs. 7.91.677 during the vear ended March 31. 2023 and as of date.
the Company’s total liabilities exceeded its total assets by Rs. 27.62.982. These cvents or
conditions as set forth in Note 26. indicate that material uncertainty exists that may cast significant
doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, W bt

MUMBAI NEW DELHI CHENNAI BENGALURU HYDERABAD JAIP
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However. it is further stated in Note 26 that, the Company's Holding Company-Thomas Cook
(India) Limited have committed to provide the necessary level of support. to enable the Company
to continue as a going concern in view of cash losses incurred by the Company in past few vears
including current year. and as has been done during the year and in the earlier years.

Our opinion on the Standalone Financial Statements is not modified in respect of these matters.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment. were of most significance
in our audit of the Standalone Financial Statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the Standalone Financial Statements as a whole. and in
forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

We have determined that there are no key audit matters to communicate in our report.

Information Other than the Standalone Financial Statements and Auditor’s Report Thereon

The Management and the Company’s Board of Directors are responsible for the preparation of the
other information. The other information comprises the information included in report of board of
directors but does not include the Standalone Financial Statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the Standalone Financial Statements does not cover the other information and we
do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the Standalone Financial Statements. our responsibility is to read
the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the Standalone Financial Statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If. based on the work we have performed. we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Standalone
Financial Statements

The Management and the Board of Directors of the Company are responsible for the matters stated
in section 134(5) of the Act with respect to the preparation of these Standalone Financial
Statements that give a true and fair view of the financial position. financial performance, changes
in equity and cash flows of the Company in accordance with the accounting principles generally
accepted in India, including the Ind AS. This responsibility also includes maintenance of adequate
accounting records in accordance with the provisions of the Act for safeguarding the assets of the
Company and for preventing and detecting frauds and other irregularities: selection and
application of appropriate accounting policies: making judgments and estimates that are
reasonable and prudent: and the design. implementation and maintenance of adequate internal
financial controls. that were operating effectively for ensuring the accuracy and completeness of
the accounting records. relevant to the preparation and presentation of the Standalone Financial
Statements that give a true and fair view and are free from material misstatement. whether due to
fraud or error.

Ll ',xid.,

) -
el
In preparing the Standalone Financial Statements. the Board of Directors is* X sponc;lblt, ;
assessing the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing. as ap athers
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related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Board of
Directors either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The Board of Directors are also responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting
process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Standalone Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the Standalone Financial
Statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with SAs will always detect
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate. they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these Standalone Financial
Statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with SAs. we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also

* lIdentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the Standalone Financial Statements.
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks.
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion. forgery. intentional omissions.
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances. Under section 143(3)(i) of the Act. we are
also responsible for expressing our opinion on whether the company has adequate internal
financial controls system in place and the operating effectiveness of such controls.

* Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

* Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting
and. based on the audit evidence obtained. whether a material uncertainty exists related to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists. we are required to draw
attention in our auditor s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or. if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However. future events or conditions
may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern.

* FEvaluate the overall presentation. structure and content of the financial statements. including
the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Materiality is the magnitude of misstatements in the Standalone Financial Statements that.
individually or in aggregate, makes it probable that the economic decisions of a reasonably
knowledgeable user of the Standalone Financial Statements may be mﬂucmcd We consider
quantitative materiality and qualitative factors in (i) planning the scope of our ork and in
evaluating the results of our work: and (ii) to evaluate the effect of any ide
in the Standalone Financial Statements.
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We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters. the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with
relevant ethical requirements regarding independence. and to communicate with them all
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence. and
where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance. we determine those matters
that were of most significance in the audit of the standalone financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when. in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

I~ As required by the Companies (Auditor’s Report) Order. 2020 (“the Order™). issued by the
Central Government of [ndia in terms of Section 143(1 1) of the Act. we give in the “Annexure
A", a statement on the matters specified in the paragraph 3 and 4 of the Order, to the extent
applicable.

[E]

As required by Section 143 (3) of the Act. we report that:

a) We have sought and obtained all the information and explanations which to the best of our
knowledge and belicf were necessary for the purposes of our audit:

b) Inour opinion proper books of account as required by law have been kept by the Company
so far as it appears from our examination of those books:

¢) The Balance Sheet, the Statement of Profit and Loss. (including other comprehensive
income), the Statement of Changes in Equity and the Statement of Cash Flows dealt with
by this Report are in agreement with the books of account;

d) In our opinion, the aforesaid Standalone Financial Statements comply with the Ind AS,
under section 133 of the Act. read with specified Companies (Indian Accounting
Standards) Rules 2015, as amended:

o
~—

On the basis of the written representations received from the directors as on March 31.2023
taken on record by the Board of Directors, none of the directors is disqualified as on March
31. 2023 from being appointed as a director in terms of Section 164(2) of the Act:

) With respect to the adequacy of the internal financial controls over financial reporting of
the Company and the operating effectiveness of such controls. refer to our separate Report
in "Annexure B™;

g¢) The Company has not paid any remuneration to its directors during the year; accordingly.
no reporting is required with respect to the other matters to be included in the Auditor's
Report in accordance with the requirements of section 197(16) of the Act: and

h) With respect to the other matters to be included in the Auditor's Report in cprdance with
Rule 11 of the Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014. as amen g

and to the best of our information and according to the explanations giveif to ubg
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i.  The Company does not have any pending litigations which would impact its financial
position.

il The Company did not have any long-term contracts including derivative contracts for
which there were any material foreseeable losses: and

iii. There were no amounts required to be transferred to the Investor Education and
Protection Fund by the Company.

iv.  (a) The Management has represented that, to the best of its knowledge and belief, no
funds have been advanced or loaned or invested (either from borrowed funds or share
premium or any other sources or kind of funds) by the Company to or in any other
person(s) or entity(ies). including foreign entities (“Intermediaries™). with the
understanding, whether recorded in writing or otherwise, that the Intermediary shall.
directly or indirectly lend or invest in other persons or entities identified in any manner
whatsoever by or on behalf of the Company (“Ultimate Beneficiaries™) or provide any
guarantee, security or the like on behalf of the Ultimate Beneficiaries:

(i1) The Management has represented that. to the best of its knowledge and belief. no
funds have been received by the Company from any persons or entities including
foreign entities (“Funding Parties™), with the understanding. whether recorded in
writing or otherwise that the Company shall. directly or indirectly. lend or invest in
other persons or entities identified in any manner whatsoever by or on behalf of the
Funding Party (“Ultimate Beneficiaries™) or provide any guarantee, security or the like
on behalf of the Ultimate Beneficiaries; and

(iii) Based on the audit procedures performed by us that have been considered
reasonable and appropriate in the circumstances, nothing has come to our notice that
has caused us to believe that the representations under sub-clause (i) and (ii) above.
contain any material misstatement:

v. The Company has neither declared nor paid any dividend during the year.

vi.  Proviso to Rule 3(1) of the Companies (Accounts) Rules. 2014 for maintaining books
of account using accounting software which has a feature of recording audit trail (edit
log) facility is applicable to the Company w.e.f. April 1. 2023, and accordingly.
reporting under Rule 11(g) of Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules. 2014 is not
applicable for the financial year ended March 31, 2023,

For G.M. Kapadia & Co.
Chartered Accountants
sistration No. 104767 W

Place: New Delhi Membership No. 407549
Date: 23 June 2023 UDIN: 224671599 B £Y6 Q<9228
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Annexure A to the Independent Auditor’s Report on Standalone Financial Statements of

Jardin Travel Solutions Limited

(Referred to in paragraph 1 under “Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements™ of our

i

(a)

(b)

(d)

(e)

(a)

(b)

to

("

report of even date)

A. The Company is maintaining proper records showing full particulars. including
quantitative details and situation of Property. plant and equipment:

B. The Company did not have any intangible assets, therefore reporting under the
clause 3(i)(a)(B) of the Order, regarding maintenance of records of intangible
assets not applicable to the Company:

As represented by the management, all the property, plant and equipment were
physically verified by the management once in two years in a phased manner. In our
opinion, the frequency of verification followed by the management is reasonable
having regard to the size of the Company and the nature of the assets. As informed
to us, no discrepancies observed in the course of such verification by the Company:

The Company does not hold any immovable properties and the properties where the
Company is lessee. Accordingly. the reporting under clause 3(i)(¢) of the Order
regarding title deeds of immovable properties is not applicable to the Company:

According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our
examination of records. the Company has not revalued its property, plant and
equipment (including Right of Use assets) and intangible assets during the year.
Accordingly. reporting under clause 3(i)(d) of the Order is not applicable to the
Company;

According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our
examination of records. there are no proceedings initiated or are pending against the
Company for holding any benami property under the Benami Transactions
(Prohibition) Act, 1988 (45 of 1988) (as amended in 2016) and rules made
thereunder;

The Company did not have any inventories of finished goods, stores, spare parts and
raw materials, therefore reporting under the clause 3(ii)(a) of the Order is not
applicable to the Company:

During the year under audit, the Company has not been sanctioned any working
capital limits in excess of five crore rupees. in aggregate. from banks or financial
institutions on the basis of security of current assets. Accordingly. reporting under
clause 3(ii)(b) of the Order is not applicable to the Company:

During the year under audit, the Company has not made investments in. provided
any guarantee or security or granted any loans or advances in the nature of loans.
secured or unsecured, to companies, firms, Limited Liability Partnerships or any
other partics, therefore reporting under the clauses 3(iii)(a) to 3(ii)(f) of the Order
is not applicable to the Company;

Based on the audit procedures applied by us, during the year under audit. the
Company has not granted loans, guarantee and security or made investments which
require compliance in terms of the provisions contained in the section 185 or section
186 of the Act. In such circumstances. reporting under the clause 3(iv) of the Order
is not applicable to the Company:
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Vv

Vi

vii

viii

(b)

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

(H

(a)

In our opinion and according to the information and explanation given to us. the
Company has not accepted deposits from the public and therefore, the provisions of
sections 73 to 76 or any other relevant provisions of the Act and the rules framed
there under are not applicable to the Company. We have been informed by the
management that no order has been passed by the Company Law Board or National
Company Law Tribunal or Reserve Bank of India or any court or any other tribunal
in this regard:

The Central Government has not specified the maintenance of cost records under
sub-section (1) of section 148 of the Companies Act, 2013. for services rendered by
the Company:

The Company has generally been regular in depositing with appropriate authorities
undisputed statutory dues such as income tax. goods and services tax. and other
applicable statutory dues. According to information and explanations given to us.
no undisputed statutory dues payable were in arrears as at March 31, 2023, for a
period of more than six months from the date they became payable:

In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us. there
are no dues payable by the Company on account of any dispute in case of statutory
dues referred to in sub-clause(a) above as on March 31. 2023

According to the information and explanation provided to us, there are no
transactions that are not recorded in the books of accounts which have been
surrendered or disclosed as income during the year in the tax assessments under the
Income Tax Act, 1961 (43 of 1961). Accordingly, reporting under clause 3(viii) of
the Order is not applicable to the Company:

Based on our audit procedure and according to the information and explanations
given to us. the Company has not defaulted in repayment of loans or other
borrowings including interest thereon. if any. to any lender:

According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our
audit procedures, we report that the Company has not been declared wilful defaulter
by any bank or financial institution or any other lender:

The Company has not taken any terms loan. Accordingly, reporting under clause
3(ix)(c) of the Order is not applicable to the Company;

According to the information and explanations given to us, and the procedures
performed by us. and on an overall examination of the financial statements. the
Company has not used any funds raised on short-term basis for long term purposes:

According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our
audit procedures. we report that the Company has not taken any funds from any
entity or person on account of or to meet the obligations of its subsidiaries.
associates or joint ventures;

The company has not raised loans during the year on the pledge of securities.
Accordingly, the reporting under clause 3(ix) (f) is not applicable.

The Company has not raised any moneys by way of initial public offer or further
public offer (including debt instruments) during the year. Accordingly, reporting
under clause 3(x)(a) of the Order is not applicable to the Company:;
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Xi

xii

Xiii

Xiv

Xy

XVL

Xvil

XViii

(b)

(a)

(b)

(c)

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

The Company did not have made any preferential allotment or private placement of
shares or convertible debentures (fully, partially or optionally convertible) during
the year, therefore. reporting under clause 3(x)(b) of the Order is not applicable to
the Company;

To the best of our knowledge and belief and according to the information and
explanations given to us. no fraud by the Company or on the Company has been
noticed or reported during the year:

No report under sub-section (12) of section 143 of the Act has been filed by us in
Form ADT-4 as prescribed under rule 13 of Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules.
2014 with the Central Government, during the year and up to the date of this report;

As represented to us by the management. the whistle blower policies is not mandated
for the Ccompany under the Act. therefore reporting under the clause 3(xi)(c) of the
Order is not applicable to the Company:

In our opinion and according to information and explanation given to us, the
Company is not a Nidhi Company. Accordingly, reporting under clause 3(xii) of the
Order is not applicable to the Company;

In our opinion. transactions with the related parties are in compliance with section
188 of the Act where applicable and details of such transactions have been disclosed
in the financial statements as required by the applicable accounting standards.
Further provision of Section 177 of the Act is not applicable to the Company:

The Company does not have an internal audit system and is not required to have an
internal audit system as per the provisions of the Act:

In our opinion, during the year the Company has not entered into any non-cash
transactions with its directors or persons connected with them and hence provisions
of section 192 of the Act are not applicable to the Company:

The Company is not required to be registered under section 45 1A of the Reserve
Bank of India Act, 1934;

[n our opinion and on the basis of our audit procedure. the Ccompany has not
conducted any Non-Banking Financial or Housing Finance activities without a valid

Certificate of Registration (CoR) from the Reserve Bank of India as per the Reserve
Bank of India Act. 1934;

In our opinion, according to the information and explanations provided to us, the

Company is not a Core Investment Company (CIC) as defined in the regulations
made by the Reserve Bank of India;

In our opinion. according to the information and explanations provided to us. the
Group does not have any CIC as part of the Group as per definition of Group
contained in the Core Investment Companies (Reserve Bank) Directions. 2016:

The Company has incurred cash losses of Rs.1.41.683/- in the current vear and there
were cash losses 0f Rs.5.47.411/- in the immediately preceding financial year;

There has been no resignation of the statutory auditors during the year. Accordingly.
reporting under clause 3(xviii) of the Order is not applicable to the Company:




G. M. KAPADIA & CO.

Xix In view of losses incurred by the Company and on the basis of the financial ratios.
ageing and expected dates of realisation of financial assets and payment of financial
liabilities, other information accompanying the financial statements. our knowledge
of the Board of Directors and management plans, in our opinion though material
uncertainty exists as on the date of the audit report that company is capable of
meeting its liabilities existing at the date of balance sheet as and when they fall due
within a period of one year from the balance sheet date, management has represented
and as stated in the Note 26to the financial statements that, the Holding Company
has undertaken to provide financial support that may be required in Company’s
obligation towards third parties:

XX. In our opinion and based on our examination. the company is not required to comply
with section 135(5) of the Act.

XXI. The Company does not have subsidiary. associate or joint venture hence is not
required to prepare consolidated financial statements. Accordingly, reporting on
paragraph 3(xxi) of the Order is not applicable.

For G.M. Kapadia & Co.
Chartered Accountants
Firm's Registration No:104767W

k Singh
Partner
Place: New Delhi Aembership Number: 407549
Date: 23 June 2023 UDIN: 23657549 B6 Y8 Q99224
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Annexure B to the Independent Auditor’s Report

The Annexure referred to in Paragraph 2(f) under the heading “Other Legal and Regulatory
Requirements™ of our report of even date., on the Internal Financial Controls under Clause (i) of
Sub-section 3 of Section 143 of the Act

We have audited the internal financial controls with reference to standalone financial
statements of Jardin Travel Solutions Limited (“the Company™) as of March 31, 2023 in
conjunction with our audit of the financial statements of the Company for the year ended on
that date.

Opinion

[n our opinion. the Company has, in all material respects, an adequate internal financial controls
system over financial reporting and such internal financial controls with reference to standalone
financial statements were operating effectively as at March 31. 2023, based on the internal control
over financial reporting criteria established by the Company considering the essential components
of internal control stated in the Guidance Note on Audit of Internal Financial Controls Over
Financial Reporting issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India.

Management’s Responsibility for Internal Financial Controls

The Company’s management is responsible for establishing and maintaining internal financial
controls based on the internal control over financial reporting criteria established by the Company
considering the essential components of internal control stated in the Guidance Note on Audit of
Internal Financial Controls over Financial Reporting issued by the Institute of Chartered
Accountants of India (the "ICATI"). These responsibilities include the design. implementation and
maintenance of adequate internal financial controls that were operating effectively for ensuring
the orderly and efficient conduct of its business. including adherence to Company’s policies. the
safeguarding of its assets. the prevention and detection of frauds and errors, the accuracy and
completeness of the accounting records, and the timely preparation of reliable financial
information. as required under the Companies Act. 2013.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal financial controls with
reference to standalone financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in
accordance with the Guidance Note on Audit of Internal Financial Controls over Financial
Reporting (the “Guidance Note™) and the Standards on Auditing, issued by the ICAI and deemed
to be prescribed under section 143(10) of the Companies Act, 2013, to the extent applicable to an
audit of internal financial controls, both applicable to an audit of Internal Financial Controls and.
both issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India. Those Standards and the Guidance
Note require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether adequate internal financial controls with reference to
standalone financial statements was established and maintained and if such controls operated
effectively in all material respects.

Our audit involved performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the adequacy of the
internal financial controls system over financial reporting and their operating effectiveness. Our
audit of internal financial controls with reference to standalone financial statements included
obtaining an understanding of internal financial controls with reference to standalone financial
statements, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design
and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. The procedures selected
depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of m
of the standalone financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.
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We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is suftficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our audit opinion on the Company’s internal financial controls system over financial
reporting.

Meaning of Internal Financial Controls with reference to standalone financial statements

A company's internal financial controls with reference to financial statements is a process designed
to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation
of standalone financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles. A company's internal financial controls with reference to financial
statements includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records
that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets
of the Company: (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to
permit preparation of standalone financial statements in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles and that receipts and expenditures of the Company are being made only in
accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the Company: and (3) provide
reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the Company's assets that could have a material effect on the standalone financial
statements.

Inherent Limitations of Internal Financial Controls with reference to standalone financial
statements

Because of the inherent limitations of internal financial controls with reference to standalone
financial statements. including the possibility of collusion or improper management override of
controls, material misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected. Also.
projections of any evaluation of the internal financial controls with reference to standalone
financial statements to future periods are subject to the risk that the internal financial control with
reference to standalone financial statements may become inadequate because of changes in
conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

For G.M. Kapadia & Co.
Chartered Accountants
Firm's Registration Number: 104767W

Abhishek Singh
Partner

Place: New Delhi Membership Number: 407549

Date: 23 June 2023 UDIN: 2340749 PEYe g ¢ g 212£
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THOMAS COOK LANKA (PVT) LIMITED

STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the year ended 3 1st March,

Revenue

Administrative and other operating expenses
Other expenses

Loss from operations

Other income

Net finance income

Operating loss before impairment losses
Impairment charge for other losses

Share of loss of equity accounted investee, net of tax
Loss before tax

Income tax reversal/(charge)

Loss for the year

Other comprehensive income, net of tax

Items that will never be reclassified to profit or loss

Remeasurement of defined benefit liability

Less: Deferred tax charge on actuarial (loss)/gains
Net actuarial loss on defined benefit plans
Total other comprehensive income for the year

Total comprehensive income for the year

Loss per share

The annexed Notes to the Financial Statements form an integral part of these Financial Statements.

Figures in the brackets indicate deductions.

Note

6

~1

10

16

11

12

Company
2023 2022
Rs. Rs.
125,927.885 101,419,343

(184,102,676)

(90,792,814)

Group
2023 2022
Rs. Rs.
125,927,885 102,341,912

(197,583.843)

(130,961,542)

- : . 1,413,212
(58,174,791) 10,626,529  (71,655,958)  (27,206,418)
786.752 211,994 786,752 217,343
(942,585)  (44,769,949)  (3,577,576)  (57,127,241)
(58,330,624)  (33,931,426)  (74,446,782)  (84,116,316)
(37.231,420)  (144,295.145) (187.701)  (58,968,342)
: > (109,294)  (1,694.948)
(95,562,044) (178,226,571)  (74,743,777)  (144,779,606)
136.662 286.987 124,093 818,107
(95,425,382)  (177,939,584) _ (74,619.684) _(143,961,499)
455,540 1,195,779 455.540 1,195,779
(136,662) (286,987) (136,662)  (1,010,162)
318,878 908,792 318,878 185,617
318,878 908,792 318,878 185,617
(95,106,504) (177,030,792) __ (74,300,306) (143,775,882)
(8.86) (16.52) (6.93) (13.37)




THQOMAS COOK LANKA (PVT) LIMITED

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
Company Group

As at 31st March, 2023 2012 2023 2022

Note Rs. s, Rs. s,
ASSETS
Property, plant and equipiment 1 18,708,206 18,674,857 25,117,422 21.279.128
Intangible Assels 14 . 23,405 499.715
Investment in subsidioy 15 . - .
Equity-gccounted investee 16 . . .
Qther investments - Non current nssets 17 . 43,927.345 . 43,927,345
Amount due from related companies 18 c x =

18,708,206 62,602,202 20,140,827 65,706,245

Non-current asscts

Current Assets

Amount duc from related companies 18 . - 93,000 -

Current taxativn 19 1.343.491 1,343,491 1.198.309 1.210,878

‘Trade and other receivables 20 2.703.431 5.314.630 2,705,431 5.314.630

Prepayments 4.915.735 4,921,066 4.915.735 4,921.066

Other investments - Currenl asscts 17 108126920 96,863,792 108.663.249 97.363,742
21 55.505.585 62,789,311 36614792 67.6B5.670

Cash and cash cquivalents
Total Current assels

172,595,162 171,232,240 174,188,516 176.495,986
194,329,343 242,202,231

191,303,368 233,814,442

Total assets

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Equity

Stated capital 22 107,679,780 107,679,780 107.679.780 107,679,780
Accumulated losses (199.688.276)  (104.581,772) _ (301.522.997) {227.222,186)
Total Equity {(92,008,496) 3008008 (193.843.212)  (119,542.406)
LIABILITIES

Employce benefits 23 5022273 4,684.191 5,022,273 8.297.318
Deferrcd Tax Liability 24 . - . i
Long term Joans from related partics 25 78,861,473 61.438,310 78,861,473 61.438.310
Leasc Liability 27 1.663.419 1.327.980 1.661.419 1.327.980
Non-current liabilities 85,547,168 67,450,481 85,547,165 71,063,608

139.359,164 130.930,348 172,929.164 144,300,348

Amount duc ta eelated companies 26

Leasc Liability 27 1.832.323 2,0198.296 1,832,323 2.098.296
Loans and Borrowings 28 - = 3.150,993 2.377.060
Trade and other payables .29 9.751,633 7.338,010 87.364,702 83.395.362
Bank overdralt 21 26,821.579 22,919,299 37,348.208 58.309,963
Current liabillties 197,764,699 163,285,953 302,625,390 290,681,029
Total liabilities 283,311,864 130,736,434 388,172,555 361,744,637

Total Equity and Liabilities 191,303,368 233.834,442 194,329,343 242.202.231

The Notes to the Financial Statements form an integral part of these Financial Statements.
These Financial Statements are in compliance wilh the requirements of the Company Act No 07 of 2007.

@ju Noir A
Head - Foreign Exchange

The Board of Dircctors ix responsible lor the preparation aad presentation of these Financial Statements,
Approved and signed for and on behalf of the Board:

Aravinda De &
Director

Dcbasis Nandy S
Director

04 Augusi 2023
Colombo

1%




THOMAS COOK LANKA (PVT) LIMITED

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31st March,
Company

Balance as at Ist April 2021

Loss for the ycar
Other comprehensive income
Total Comprehensive Income for the year

Balance as at 31st March 2022

Balance as at 1st April 2022

Loss for the year
Other comprehensive income
Total Comprehensive Income for the year

Balance as at 31st March 2023

Group

Balance as at 1st April 2021

Loss for the year
Other comprehensive income
Total Comprehensive Income for the year

Balance as at 31st March 2022
Balance as at 1st April 2022

Loss for the year
Other comprehensive income
Total Comprehensive Income for the year

Balance as at 31st March 2023

Stated
Capital
Rs.

107.679,780

Retained Earnings /
(Accumulated Losses)
Rs.

72,449,020

(177,939.584)

Total

Rs.
180,128,800

(177,939,584)

- 908,792 908,792
- (177,030,792) (177,030,792)
107,679,780 (104,581,772) 3,098,008
107,679,780 (104,581,772) 3,098,008
- (95,425.382) (95,425,382)
- 318.878 318,878
= (95,106,504) (95,106,504)
107,679,780 (199,688,276) (92,008,496)
Stated Accumulated Total
Capital Losses
Rs. Rs. Rs.

107,679,780

(83,446,304)

24,233,476

(143,961.499) (143,961.499)
185.617 185,617
2 (143,775,882) (143,775,882)
107,679,780 (227,222,186) (119,542,406)
107,679,780 (227,222,186) (119,542,406)
(74,619,684) (74,619,684)
318,878 318,878
" (74,300,806) (74,300,806)
107,679,780 (301,522,992) (193,843,212)

The notes to the Financial Statements form an integral part of these Financial Statements.

Figures in bracket indicate deductions.




THOMAS COOK LANKA (PVT) LIMITED
STATEMENT OF CASHFLOWS

For the year ended 31st March,

Cash flows from Operating Activities
Profit / (loss) before taxation

Adjustment for :

Depreciation of Property, plant and equipment
Amortization of intangible assets

Impairment Charges for Property, plant and equipment
Impairment Charges for other losses

Provision for pre payments

Provision for employee benefits

Lease concessions received

Interest income

Interest expense

Foreign exchange (gain)/loss

Share of Profit/(loss) of equity accounted investee,
Operating profit/(loss) before working capital changes

(Increase) / Decrease in trade and other Receivables
(Increase) / Decrease in amounts due from related parties
(Increase) / Decrease in prepayments

Increase / (Decrease) in amount due to related party
Increase / (Decrease) in trade and other payable

Cash generated from operating activities

Taxes paid

Employee benefit paid

Interest Expense Paid

Net cash generated from operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property plant and equipment
Purchase of intangible assets

Interest received

Redemption of long-term investment

Net cash used in investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities

Lease payments

Loan Granted and other Accruals to Related Party
Loan Repayments from Related Party

Loan obtained during the year

Loan Repayments during the year

Loan recieved from Related Party

Net cash used in financing activities

Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year

Company

2023
Rs.

(95,562,044)

2022
Rs.

(178,226,571)

Group

2023
Rs.

(74,743,777)

2022
Rs.

(144,779,606)

3,773,187 3,873.665 4,968,300 5,319,134
] 75,086 476,310 640,775
- - - 2,604,038
37,231,420 144,295,145 187,701 56,141,141
= 185,978
1,327,207 1,027,612 1,258,738 1,027,612
(534,979) : (534,979) .
(12,623,335)  (15,492,780) (12,728,078)  (15,492,780)
10,116,328 4,103,767 12,848,029 16,326,549
2,722,188 56,158,962 2,705,294 56,293,472
- - 109,294 1,694,948
(53,550,028) 15,814,886 (65,453,169)  (20,038,739)
2,611,199 (4.485,817) 2,611,199 4,630,480
- - (93,000) -
5,331 2,746,113 5.331 (645,786)
30,289,724 : 30,399,617 18,659,775
2,413,623 10.700 3,969,340 5.952.123
(18,230,151) 14,085,882 (28,560,681) 8,557,853
(533,585) u (4,078,243) :
(5,224,196) (2,756.464) (7,894,637)  (14,979.246)
(23,987,932) 11,329,418 (40,533,561) (6,421,393)
(1,260,657) (2,788.695) (1,260,657) (33,050)
5,476,316 15,492,780 5,544,730 21,387,672
39,811,186 10,154,131 39,811,186 (9,503,352)
44,026,845 22,858,216 44,095,259 11,851,270
(2,304,000) (2,534,581) (2,304,000) (2,534,581)
(37,231,420)  (49,297,344) (389,995) i
- - 1,008,881 .
- . (296,208) -
8,310,501 61,438,310 8,310,501 49,748,048
(31,224,919) 9,606,385 6,329,179 47,213,467
(11,186,006) 43,794,019 9,890,877 52,643,344
39,870,012 (3,924,007) 9,375,707 (43,267,637)
28,684,006 39,870,012 19,266,584 9,375,707

The Notes to the Financial Statements form an integral part of these Financial Satements.




THOMAS COOK LANKA (PRIVATE) LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. REPORTING ENTITY

1.1 Domicile and legal form

Thomas Cook Lanka (Private) Limited, (*the Company™) is a Private Limited Liability Company incorporated and
domiciled in Sri Lanka on April 20, 2012, under the Companies Act no 07 of 2007. The registered office and principal

place of business are situated at No.393, Union Place, Colombo 02.

The operations are conducted at Aviation branches (including arrival and departure), Kandy City Center Branch,
Colombo City Centre Branch and One Galle Face Branch.

1.2 Consolidated financial statements
The Consolidated Financial Statements of the Group for the year ended 315 March 2023, comprise the Company
(Parent Company) and its Subsidiary (together referred to as the ‘Group’ and individually as ‘Group entities’) and the

Group’s interest in its Associate.

The immediate and the ultimate parent company of the Group is Thomas Cook India (Private) Limited and Fairfax
Financial Holdings Limited respectively.

1.3  Principal activities and nature of operations of the Group

1.3.1 Thomas Cook Lanka (Private) Limited — Reporting Entity

The principal activity of the Company is dealing in foreign currencies.

1.3.2 Luxe Asia (Private) Limited - Subsidiary

The principal activity of the company is to act as a travel agent and to provide travel related services. The Company
has temporarily ceased business operations from January 2022 and intends to recommence business operations in the
future

1.3.3 Sita World Travel Lanka (Private) Limited - Associate

The principal activity of the company was being a travel agent. However, the company has ceased business operations
from October 2018 and continues to remain dormant.

1.4 Number of employees
The total number of employees as at 31 March 2023 were as follows:

Group 20 (2022 -21)
Company : 20 (2022 -21)

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION

2.1 Statement of compliance

The financial statements of the Company and the Group comprise the statement of financial position, statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and cash flows together with the notes
to the financial statements.

The financial statements of the Group and the separate financial statements of the Company have been prepared and

presented in accordance with Sri Lanka Accounting Standards (LKAS / SLFRS) laid down by the Institute of Chartered
Accountants of Sri Lanka and the requirements of Companies Act, No. 7 of 2007.




THOMAS COOK LANKA (PRIVATE) LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.2 Basis of Measurement

The Financial Statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis and applied consistently which no adjustments
being made for inflationary factors affecting the financial statements, except for the following material items in the
statement of financial position:

- The defined benefit liability is recognized as the present value of the defined benefit obligation, plus
unrecognized actuarial gains, less unrecognized past service cost and unrecognized actuarial losses.

2.3 Functional and Presentation Currency

These Financial Statements are presented in Sri Lankan Rupees, which is the Group's functional currency. Except as
indicated, financial information presented in Sri Lankan Rupees has been rounded to the nearest rupee value.

2.4 Comparative Information

The previous year figures and phrases have been reclassified whenever necessary to conform to the current year
presentation.

2.5 Use of Estimates and Judgments

The preparation of the Financial Statements of the Group and the Company in conformity with SLAS’s requires
management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates. Estimates
and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized in the
period in which the estimate is revised and in any future periods affected.

Information about critical judgments in applying accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognized in the financial statements is included in the following notes:

e Impairment losses on trade receivables (Note 3.8.1)
e [mpairment of non-financial assets (Note 3.8.2)

e Current taxes (Note 3.3.a)

e Deferred tax assets / liabilities (Note 3.3.b)

o Defined benefit plan (Note 3.11)

e Provisions and contingencies (Note 3.12 & 3.13)

2.6 Materiality and Aggregation

Each material class of similar items is presented separately in the Financial Statements. Items of dissimilar nature or
function are presented separately unless they are immaterial as permitted by the Sri Lanka Accounting Standard-LKAS
1 on ‘Presentation of Financial Statements’.

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these Financial
Statements. unless otherwise indicated.

3.1 Basis of Consolidation

The Group's Financial Statements comprise consolidation of the Financial Statements of the Company, its Subsidiaries
in terms of the Sri Lanka Accounting Standard-SLFRS 10 on 'Consolidated Financial Statements and Separate
Financial Statements' and the proportionate share of the profit or loss and net assets of its Associates in terms of the

Sri Lanka Accounting Standard — LKAS 28 on ‘Investment in Associate and Joint Ventures’. P

s (v "\'. (



THOMAS COOK LANKA (PRIVATE) LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3.1.1 Business Combination

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method when control is transferred to the Group (See
Note 3.1.2 below). The consideration transferred in the acquisition is generally measured at fair value, as are the
identifiable net assets acquired. Any goodwill that arises is tested annually for impairment. Any gain on a bargain
purchase is recognized in profit or loss immediately. Transaction costs are expensed as incurred, except if they are
related to the issue of debt or equity securities.

3.1.2  Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are investees controlled by the Group. The Group ‘controls’ an investee if it is exposed to, or has rights
to, variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power
over the investee. The Group reassesses whether it has control if there are changes to one or more of the elements of
control. This includes circumstances in which protective rights held (e.g. those resulting from a lending relationship)
become substantive and lead to the Group having power over an investee.

The cost of an acquisition is measured at fair value of the consideration, including contingent consideration. The
acquired identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities are measured at their fair values at the date of
acquisition. Subsequent to the initial measurement the Group continues to recognise the investments in Subsidiaries at
cost.

The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date on which
control commences until the date when control ceases.

All intra-group balances, transactions, unrealised gains and losses resulting from intra-group transactions, income and
expenses are eliminated in full.

There are no significant restrictions on the ability of Subsidiaries to transfer funds to the Parent (the Company) in the
form of cash dividend or repayment of loans and advances.

All Subsidiaries of the Company have been incorporated in Sri Lanka.
3.1.3 Non-controlling interests (NCI)

NCI are measured at their proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets at the date of acquisition. Changes
in the Group’s interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions.

3.1.4  Loss of Control

When the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary, and any
related NCI and other components of equity. Any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss. Any interest
retained in the former subsidiary is measured at fair value when control is fost.

Subsequently, it is accounted for as an Associate or in accordance with the Group’s Accounting Policy for financial
instruments depending on the level of influence retained.

3.1.5 Transactions Eliminated on Consolidation

Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised income and expenses (except for foreign currency transaction
gains or losses) arising from intra-group transactions, are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements.
Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains, but only to the extent that there is no evidence
of impairment.

3.1.6  Accounting for investment in subsidiaries

When separated financial statements are prepared, investments in subsidiaries are accounted for using the cost method.
Investments in subsidiaries are stated in the Company’s Statement of Financial Position at cost Ieas/}eqwu\m{ud
impairment losses.
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THOMAS COOK LANKA (PRIVATE) LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3.1.7  Accounting for equity accounted investee

The Group's interest in equity-accounted investees comprise interests in associates.

Associates are those entities in which the Group has significant influence, but not control, over the financial and
operating policies. Interests in associates are accounted for using the equity method. They are initially recognized at
cost, which includes transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, the consolidated financial statements include

the Group's share of the profit or loss and OCI of equity-accounted investees, until the date on which significant
influence ceases.

When separated financial statements are prepared, investments in subsidiaries are accounted for using the cost method.
Investments in equity accounted investees are stated in the Company’s Statement of Financial Position at cost less
accumulated impairment losses.

3.1.8 Transactions Eliminated on Consolidation

Unrealized gains arising from transactions with equity-accounted investees are eliminated against the investment to
the extent of the Group's interest in the investee. Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains,
but only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

3.1.9  Financial Period

The Consolidated Financial Statements are prepared to a common financial year ended 31st March. The accounting
policies of Subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to align them with the policies adopted by the Group

3.2 Foreign Currency

3.2.1 Foreign currency transactions

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the functional currency at the exchange rates at the dates of the
transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date are retranslated to
the functional currency at the exchange rate at that date.

The foreign currency gain or loss on monetary items is the difference between amortized cost in the functional currency
at the beginning of the period, adjusted for effective interest and payments during the period, and the amortized cost in

foreign currency translated at the exchange rate at the end of the reporting period.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are measured at fair value are retranslated
to the functional currency at the exchange rate at the date that the fair value was determined.

Foreign currency differences arising on retranslation are recognized as profit or loss, except for differences arising on
the retranslation of available for- sale equity instruments, which are recognized in other comprehensive income.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rate at the date of the transaction.

3.3 Income tax expense

Income tax expenses comprise of current & deferred tax expenses recognized in the profit or loss except to the extent
that it relates to items recognized directly in equity or in other comprehensive income

10 S~



THOMAS COOK LANKA (PRIVATE) LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

a) Current taxation

Current tax comprises the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year and any
adjustment to the tax payable or receivable in respect of previous years. The amount of current tax payable or receivable
is the best estimate of the tax amount expected to be paid or received that reflects uncertainty related to income taxes,
if any. It is measured using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date

The Group’s liability to taxation has been computed in accordance with the provisions of the Inland Revenue Act No
24 of 2017 and as amended by the IR (Amendment) Act No. 10 of 2021.

b) Deferred taxation

Deferred tax is provided using the liability method, providing for the tax effect of temporary differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the tax base of assets and liabilities,
which is the amount attributed to those assets and liabilities for tax purposes. The amount of deferred tax provided is
based on the expected manner of realization or settlement of the carrying amount of assets and liabilities, using tax
rates enacted by the reporting date.

Deferred tax assets including those related to temporary tax effects of income tax losses and credits available to be
carried forward, are recognized only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against
which the asset can be utilized. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realized.

3.4 Events occurring after the reporting date

All material and important events which occur after the reporting date have been considered and disclosed in Note to
the Financial Statements.

ASSETS AND BASIS OF THEIR VALUATION

Assets classified as current on the Statement of Financial Position are cash or those which are expected to be realized
in cash during the normal operating cycle of the Group or within one year from the reporting date, whichever is earlier.
Assets other than current assets are those, which the Group intends to hold beyond a period of one year calculated from
the reporting date.

3.5 Property, plant and equipment

The Group applies the requirements of the Sri Lanka Accounting Standard - LKAS 16 on ‘Property, Plant &
Equipment’ in accounting for its owned assets which are held for and use in the provision of services, or for
administrative purposes and are expected to be used for more than one year.

a) Recognition and Measurement

Property, Plant & Equipment is recorded at cost less accumulated depreciation less accumulated impairment losses if
any. Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The cost of self-constructed assets
includes the cost of materials and direct labor, any other costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to a working condition
for its intended use, and the costs of dismantling and removing the items and restoring the site on which they are located.
Where an item of property, plant and equipment comprises major components having different useful lives, they are
accounted for as separate items of property, plant and equipment.

b) Borrowing Costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset have
been capitalised as part of the cost of the asset in accordance with New Sri Lanka Accounting Standard — LKAS 23
"Borrowing Costs".

Capitalisation of borrowing costs ceases when substantially all the activities necessary to prepare the qualifying asset
for its intended use are complete.

11



THOMAS COOK LANKA (PRIVATE) LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

¢) Subsequent costs

The cost of replacing a part of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognized in the carrying amount of the
item if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the part will flow to the Group, and its cost can
be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognized. The costs of the day-to-day servicing
of property, plant and equipment are recognized in profit or loss as incurred.

d) Depreciation
Depreciation is recognized in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of each part of an
item of property, plant and equipment, since this most closely reflects the expected pattern of consumption of the future

economic benefits embodied in the asset.

The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative periods are as follows:

e Office Equipment 21 years
e Motor Vehicle 6% years
e Furniture and Fittings 1534 years
e Computer Hardware 4 years

Depreciation is provided on a pro-rata basis on the assets purchased/constructed/disposed of during the year.
Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each financial year-end and adjusted if
appropriate.

¢) Derecognition

The carrying amount of an items of property, plant and equipment are derecognized upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected from its use. Any gain or losses rising on de-recognition of the asset is included in the
statement of profit or loss the year the asset is derecognized.

f) Impairment of Property, Plant and Equipment

The carrying value of property plant and equipment is reviewed for impairment when events or changes in
circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable. If any such indications exist and where the carrying
value exceeds the estimated recoverable amount, the assets are written down to their recoverable amount. Impairment
losses are recognized in the statement of comprehensive income unless it reverses a previous revaluation surplus for
the same asset.

3.6 Intangible Assets
a. Recognition and measurement

An intangible asset is recognized if it is probable that future economic benefits that are attributable to the asset will
flow to the entity and the cost of the asset can be measured reliably in accordance with the Sri Lanka Accounting
Standard - LKAS 38 on ‘Intangible Assets’.

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired
in a business combination is their fair value as at the date of acquisition

All computer software costs incurred, licensed for use by the Company, which are not integrally related to associate
hardware, and can be clearly identified, reliably measured and it is probable that they will lead to future economic
benefits are included in the statement of financial position under the category intangible assets and carried at cost less
accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment losses if any.

b. Subsequent expenditure

Expenditure incurred on intangible assets is capitalized only when it increases the future economic benefits embodied
in the specific assets to which it relates. All other expenditure is expensed as incurred.
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c¢. Amortization and impairment
Intangible assets with finite lives and amortisation

Amortization is recognized in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of each part of an
item of intangible assets, since this most closely reflects the expected pattern of consumption of the future economic
benefits embodied in the asset.

The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative periods are as follows:
e Computer software — 4 years
d. Goodwill

Goodwill that arises on the acquisition of subsidiary is presented with intangible assets. Goodwill is initially measured
at cost, being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred, and any previous interest held, over the net
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed.

Subsequent to initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost accumulated impairment losses. For the purpose of
impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the
Group’s cash generating units that are expected to benefit from the combination, irrespective of whether other assets
or liabilities of the acquire are assigned to those units.

3.7 Financial instruments

3.7.1 Financial assets

Initial Recognition, Classification and Subsequent Measurement
Recognition and initial measurement

Trade receivables and debt securities issued are initially recognised when they are originated. All other financial assets
and financial liabilities are initially recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument.

A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable without a significant financing component) or financial liability is
initially measured at fair value plus, for an item not at FVTPL, transaction costs that are directly attributable to its
acquisition or issue. A trade receivable without a significant financing component is initially measured at the
transaction price.

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
Financial assets

On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as measured at: amortised cost; FVOCI (Fair value through OCI) -
debt investment; FVOCI - equity investment; or FVTPL (Fair value through profit or loss).

Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition unless the Group changes its business model
for managing financial assets, in which case all affected financial assets are reclassified on the first day of the first
reporting period following the change in the business model.

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following conditions and is not designated as at
FVTPL:
- it is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows; and
- its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal amount outstanding. T
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A debt investment is measured at FVOCI if it meets both of the following conditions and is not designated as at FVTPL:

- it is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and
selling financial assets; and

- its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal amount outstanding.

On initial recognition of an equity investment that is not held for trading, the Group may irrevocably elect to present
subsequent changes in the investment's fair value in OCI. This election is made on an investment-by-investment basis.

All financial assets not classified as measured at amortised cost or FVOCI as described above are measured at FVTPL.
This includes all derivative financial assets. On initial recognition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial
asset that otherwise meets the requirements to be measured at amortised cost or at FVOCI as at FVTPL if doing so
eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch that would otherwise arise.

Financial assets - Business model assessment

The Group makes an assessment of the objective of the business model in which a financial asset is held at a portfolio
level because this best reflects the way the business is managed and information is provided to management.

Transfers of financial assets to third parties in transactions that do not qualify for derecognition are not considered
sales for this purpose, consistent with the Group's continuing recognition of the assets.

Financial assets that are held for trading or are managed and whose performance is evaluated on a fair value basis are
measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets - Assessment whether contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest

For the purposes of this assessment, 'principal' is defined as the fair value of the financial asset on initial recognition.
'Interest’ is defined as consideration for the time value of money and for the credit risk associated with the principal
amount outstanding during a particular period of time and for other basic lending risks and costs (e.g. liquidity risk and

administrative costs), as well as a profit margin.

[n assessing whether the contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest, the Group considers the
contractual terms of the instrument.

Financial assets - Subsequent measurement and gains and losses

Financial assets | These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Net gains and losses, including any

at FVTPL interest or dividend income, are recognised in profit or loss.

Financial assets | These assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

at amortised The amortised cost is reduced by impairment Josses. Interest income, foreign exchange gains

cost and losses and impairment are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on derecognition is
recognised in profit or loss.

Debt These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Interest income calculated using the

investments at effective interest method, foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment are recognised in

FVOCI profit or loss. Other net gains and losses are recognised in OCl. On derecognition, gains and
losses accumulated in OCI are reclassified to profit or loss.

Equity These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Dividends are recognised as income in

investments at profit or loss unless the dividend clearly represents a recovery of part of the cost of the

FVOCI investment. Other net gains and losses are recognised in OCI and are never reclassified to profit
or loss.
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3.7.2 Derecognition
a. Financial assets

The Group derecognised a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire,
or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction in which substantially all of the risks and
rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred or in which the Group neither transfers nor retains
substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership and it does not retain control of the financial asset.

The Group entered into transactions whereby it transfers assets recognised in its statement of financial position, but
retains either all or substantially all of the risks and rewards of the transferred assets. In these cases, the transferred
assets were not derecognised.

b. Financial liabilities

The Group derecognised a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or cancelled, or expire.
The Group also derecognised a financial liability when its terms are modified and the cash flows of the modified
liability were substantially different, in which case a new financial liability based on the modified terms was
recognised at fair value.

On derecognition of a financial liability, the difference between the carrying amount extinguished and the
consideration paid (including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed) was recognised in profit or loss.

3.7.3 Offsetting

Financial assets and financial liabilities were offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial position
when, and only when, the Group currently has a legally enforceable right to set off the amounts and it intends either
to settle them on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

3.8 Impairment of Assets

3.8.1 Financial assets (including receivables)

Financial instruments and contract assets

Loss allowances for trade receivables is always measured at an amount equal to lifetime Expected Credit Loss.
When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since initial recognition and
when estimating ECLs, the Group considers reasonable and supportable information that is relevant and available
without undue cost or effort. This includes both quantitative and qualitative information and analysis, based on the
Group's historical experience and informed credit assessment and including forward-looking information.
Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit losses are measured as the present value of all cash
shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the entity in accordance with the contract and the cash
flows that the Group expects to receive).

ECLs are discounted at the effective interest rate of the financial asset.

Credit-impaired financial assets

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether financial assets carried at amortised cost and debt securities at

FVOCI are credit impaired. A financial asset is 'credit-impaired' when one or more events that have a detrimental
impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred
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Presentation of allowance for ECL in the statement of financial position

Loss allowances for financial assets measured at amortised cost are deducted from the gross carrying amount of the
assets.

For debt securities at FVOCI, the loss allowance is charged to profit or loss and is recognised in OCI.

3.8.2 Impairment of Non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of the Group’s non-financial assets such as deferred tax assets were reviewed at each reporting
date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, then the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated. For intangible assets that have indefinite useful lives or that are not yet available for
use, the recoverable amount was estimated each year at the same time.

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit was the greater of its value in use and its fair value less
costs to sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows were discounted to their present value using a
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
asset. For the purpose of impairment testing, assets that cannot be tested individually were grouped together into the
smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows from continuing use that were largely independent of the cash
inflows of other assets.

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its estimated recoverable amount
Impairment fosses are recognized in profit or loss.

3.9 Fair Value Measurement

3.9.1 Use of assumptions and estimation uncertainty

A number of the Group’s accounting policies and disclosures require the measurement of fair values, for both financial
and non-financial assets and liabilities.

The Group has an established control framework with respect to the measurement of fair values.

The management regularly reviews significant unobservable inputs and valuation adjustments.If third party
information, such as broker quotes or pricing services, is used to measure fair values, then the management assesses
the evidence obtained from the third parties to support the conclusion that these valuations meet the requirements of
SLFRS, including the level in the fair value hierarchy in which the valuations should be classified.

Significant valuation issues are reported to the Group's audit committee. When measuring the fair value of an asset or
a liability, the Group uses observable market data as far as possible. Fair values are categorised into different levels in
a fair value hierarchy based on the inputs used in the valuation techniques as follows.

- Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

- Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either
directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).

- Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

If the inputs used to measure the fair value of an asset or a liability fall into different levels of the fair value hierarchy,
then the fair value measurement is categorised in its entirety in the same level of the fair value hierarchy as the lowest
level input that is significant to the entire measurement. The Group recognises transfers between levels of the fair value
hierarchy at the end of the reporting period during which the change has occurred.
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3.10 Leases
3.10.1 As a lessee

At commencement or on modification of a contract that contains a lease component, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis of its relative stand-alone prices. However, for the
leases of property the Group has elected not to separate non-lease components and account for the lease and non-lease
components as a single lease component.

The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the [ease commencement date. The right-of-use asset
is initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability adjusted for any lease payments
made at or before the commencement date, plus any initial direct costs incurred and an estimate of costs to dismantle
and remove the underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or the site on which it is located, less any lease
incentives received.

The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method from the commencement date to the
end of the lease term, unless the lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset to the Group by the end of the lease
term or the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects that the Group will exercise a purchase option. In that case the right-
of-use asset will be depreciated over the useful life of the underlying asset, which is determined on the same basis as
those of property and equipment. In addition, the right-of-use asset is periodically reduced by impairment losses, if
any, and adjusted for certain re-measurements of the lease liability.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the commencement
date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily determined, the Group’s
incremental borrowing rate. Generally, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate as the discount rate.

The Group determines its incremental borrowing rate by obtaining interest rates from various external financing
sources and makes certain adjustments to reflect the terms of the lease and type of the asset leased.
Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise the following:

» fixed payments, including in-substance fixed payments;

= variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the
commencement date;

= amounts expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee; and

= the exercise price under a purchase option that the Group is reasonably certain to exercise, lease payments in an
optional renewal period if the Group is reasonably certain to exercise an extension option, and penalties for early
termination of a lease unless the Group is reasonably certain not to terminate early.

The lease liability is measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. It is remeasured when there is a
change in future lease payments arising from a change in an index or rate, if there is a change in the Group’s estimate
of the amount expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee, if the Group changes its assessment of whether
it will exercise a purchase, extension or termination option or if there is a revised in-substance fixed lease payment.

When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount of the
right-of-use asset, or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to

ZEero.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not meet the definition of investment property in ‘property, plant and
equipment’ and lease liabilities in ‘loans and borrowings’ in the statement of financial position.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
The Group has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for leases of low-value assets and short-

expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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3.10.2 As a lessor

At inception or on modification of a contract that contains a lease component, the Group allocates the consideration in
the contract to each lease component on the basis of their relative standalone prices.

When the Group acts as a lessor, it determines at lease inception whether each lease is a finance lease or an operating
lease.

To classify each lease, the Group makes an overall assessment of whether the lease transfers substantially all of the
risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the underlying asset. If this is the case, then the lease is a finance lease; if
not, then it is an operating lease. As part of this assessment, the Group considers certain indicators such as whether the
lease is for the major part of the economic life of the asset.

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, it accounts for its interests in the head lease and the sub-lease separately. It
assesses the lease classification of a sub-lease with reference to the right-of-use asset arising from the head lease. not
with reference to the underlying asset. If a head lease is a short-term lease to which the Group applies the exemption
described above, then it classifies the sub-lease as an operating lease.

If an arrangement contains lease and non-lease components, then the Group applies SLFRS 15 to allocate the
consideration in the contract.

The Group applies the derecognition and impairment requirements in SLERS 9 to the net investment in the lease. The
Group further regularly reviews estimated unguaranteed residual values used in calculating the gross investment in the
lease.

The Group recognises lease payments received under operating leases as income on a straight line basis over the lease
term as part of ‘other revenue’.

Generally, the accounting policies applicable to the Group as a lessor in the comparative period were not different from
SLFRS 16 except for the classification of the sub-lease entered into during current reporting period that resulted in a
finance lease classification.

LIABILITIES AND PROVISIONS
Liabilities classified as Current Liabilities in the Statement of Financial Position are those obligations payable on
demand or within one year from the Statement of Financial Position. [tems classified as non-current liabilities are those

obligations, which expire beyond a period of one year from the reporting date.

All known liabilities have been accounted for in preparing the Financial Statements. Provision and liabilities are
recognized when the Group has a legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events and it is probable that an
outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation.

3.11 Employee benefits

a) Defined Contribution Plans — Employees’ Provident Fund & Employees’ Trust Fund

A defined contribution plan is a post- employment benefit plan under which an entity pays fixed contributions into a
separate entity and will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further amounts. The Group contributes 12%
and 3% of gross emoluments of employees as Provident Fund and Trust Fund contribution respectively.

b) Defined Benefit Plan — Retiring Gratuity

A defined benefit plan is a post-employment benefit plan other than a defined contribution plan.

As required by LKAS 19 - Employee Benefits, which became effective from 1 January 2012 the Group has provided
for gratuity liability based on an internally generated model using a formula based on projected unit credit method as

recommended by LKAS 19. However, under the Payment of Gratuity Act No. 12 of 1983, the liability to an employee
arises only on completion of 5 years of continued service. The liability is not externally funded.
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Actuarial gains and loses

The re - measurements of the net defined benefit liability, which comprise actuarial gains and losses are recognized in
Other Comprehensive Income.

¢) Short term benefits

Short term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed as the related services
are provided.

3.12 Provisions

A provision is recognized if, as a result of a past event, the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation that
can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation.
Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market

assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability. The unwinding of the discount is
recognized as finance cost. Trade and other payables are stated at their cost.

3.13 Contingencies and capital commitments

All discernible risks are accounted for in determining the amount of all known liabilities. The Company's share of any
contingencies and capital commitments of a subsidiary for which the Company is also liable severally or otherwise are
also included with appropriate disclosures.

Contingent liabilities are possible obligations whose existence will be confirmed only by uncertain future events or
present obligations where the transfer of economic benefit is not probable or cannot be reliably measured. Contingent

liabilities are not recognized in the Statement of Financial Position but are disclosed unless they are remote.

STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

3.14 Revenue recognition
Performance obligations and revenue recognition policies

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a contract with a customer. The Group recognizes revenue
when it transfers control over a good or service to a customer.

The following table provides information about the nature and timing of the satisfaction of performance obligations in
contracts with customers, including significant payment terms, and the related revenue recognition policies.

Type of product/ | Nature and timing of satisfaction of | Revenue recognition under SLFRS 15

service performance  obligations, including
significant payment terms
Foreign currency | The Service is transferred to the customer at | SLFRS 15 established a comprehensive
exchange (Buying and | the completion of its performance obligation | framework for determining whether, how
Selling) which is when the foreign currency is | much and when revenue is to be
exchanged. recognized. Under SLFRS 15, revenue is

recognized when a customer obtains
control of the goods or services.
Determining the timing of the transfer of
control is at a point in time.

3.15 Other income

Other income is recognized on an accrual basis.
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3.16 Expenditure recognition
3.16.1 Operating expenses

Expenses are recognized in the statement of comprehensive income on the basis of a direct association between the
cost incurred and the earning of specific items of income. All expenditure incurred in the running of the business and
in maintaining the Property, plant & equipment in a state of efficiency has been charged to the statement of
comprehensive income.

3.16.2 Finance income and expenses

Interest income and expenses are recognised in profit or loss using the effective interest method. The effective interest
rate is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts or payments through the expected life of the
financial asset or liabilities (or, where appropriate, a shorter period) to the carrying amount of the financial asset or
liabilities. When calculating the effective interest rate, the Company estimates future cash flows considering all
contractual terms of the financial instrument, but not future credit losses.

The calculation of the effective interest rate includes all transaction costs and fees and points paid or received that are
an integral part of the effective interest rate. Transaction costs include incremental costs that are directly attributable

to the acquisition or issue of a financial asset or liability.

3.16.3 Borrowing Cost

Borrowing costs that are not directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset are
recognised in profit or loss using the effective interest method.
4. STATEMENT OF CASHFLOWS

The Cash Flow Statement has been prepared using the Indirect Method of preparing Cash Flows in accordance with
the Sri Lanka Accounting Standard (LKAS) 7, Cash Flow Statements.

Cash and cash equivalents comprise short term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to known amounts
of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. The cash and cash equivalents include cash in-hand,
balances with banks and short term deposits with banks. For cash flow purposes, cash and cash equivalents are
presented net of bank overdrafts.

5. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES

5.1 Adoption of new accounting standards/ amendments to accounting standards

There was no adoption of new accounting standards/ amendments to accounting standards by Group/Company during
the year ended 31 March 2023.

5.2 Standards Issued but Not Yet Effective

The following new accounting standards and amendments/improvements to the existing standards were issued by the
Institute of Chartered Accountants of Sri Lanka (CA Sri Lanka). A number of new standards are effective for annual
periods beginning after 1st January 2023 and earlier application is permitted; however, the Company has not early

adopted the new or amended standards in preparing these financial statements.

The following new and amended standards are not expected to have a significant impact on the Group/ Company’s
financial statements.
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Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction (Amendments to LKAS
12)

The amendments narrow the scope of the initial recognition exemption to exclude transactions that give rise
to equal and offsetting temporary differences — e.g. leases and decommissioning liabilities. The amendments
apply for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023. For leases and decommissioning
liabilities, the associated deferred tax asset and liabilities will need to be recognised from the beginning of the
earliest comparative period presented, with any cumulative effect recognised as an adjustment to retained
earnings or other components of equity at that date. For all other transactions, the amendments apply to
transactions that occur after the beginning of the earliest period presented. There will be no impact on retained
earnings on adoption of the amendments

Other standards

The following new and amended standards are not expected to have a significant impact on these financial statements.

Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current (Amendments to LKAS 1) - effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2023.

SLFRS 17 Insurance Contracts and amendments to SLFRS 17 Insurance Contracts - effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023.

Disclosure of Accounting Policies (Amendments to LKAS 1 and SLFRS Practice Statement 2) - effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023.

Definition of Accounting Estimates (Amendments to LKAS 8) - effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2023.
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Company Gron
For the year ended 31st March 2023 2022 2023 2022
Rs. Rs. Rs. Rs.
6 Revenue
Forcign currency trading 88.756.880 56.895.836 88.756.880) 56.895.836
Commission on ecncashment trading 37.171.005 44.523.507 37.171.005 44.523.507
Travel related services - - - 922.569
125,927,885 101,419,343 125,927,885 102,341,912
6.1  The Group's revenue include income earned through dealing with foreign currency trading and providing travel related services.
Revenue [rom contracts with customers is disaggregated by the timing of revenue recognition as follows:
Timing of revenue recognition
Services transferred at a point in time 125,927,885 101,419,343 125,927,885 102,341,912
6.2  The increase in the Company's revenue can be primarily attributed to the resumption of normal operations during the current
financial year. In the previous year the adverse country situation, including repeated business interuption due (o airport closures
and decline in tourist arrivals, significantly impacted the demand for forcign currency. consequently impacting the revenue.
Additionally. the fluctuation in exchange rates resulting from the cconomic crisis also played a role in the revenue growth during
the current financial year.
The Subsidiary Luxe Asia (Pvt) Ltd, has suspended its business operations from January 2022 due to drop in business in the
tourism scctor due to implications of COVID outbreak and economic conditions . The Subsidiary has not recommenced
operations since then and therefore the Subsidiary has not generated any revenue during the year.
[ Administrative and other operating expenses
Auditor's remuneration
- Audit fee 785.000 675.000 1.108.000 1.000.000
Director's fees and emoluments - 761.194 - 761.194
Depreciation and amortization 3.773.187 3.948.751 5.444.610 5.959.909
Professional service cost 502.757 435.484 2.596.256 3.889.455
Provision for prepayments - - - 185.978
Staff expenses (Note 7.1) 37.195.751 33.644.931 39,051,481 55.984.505
Other expenses (Note 7.2) 117.553.045 43.963.538  125.090.560 50.953.980
Group resource cost (Note 7.3) 24,292,936 7.363,915 24.292.936 12.226.522
184,102,676 90,792,814 197,583,843 130,961,542
7.1  Staff expense
Salaries, wages and bonus 22.476.890 20.273.107 22.608.617 40.009.356
Define benefit plan cost (Note 24.1) 1.327.207 1.027.612 1.258.738 1,027.612
Define contribution plan cost 3.635.706 3,856.826 3.660.743 6.460.151
Others staft related expenses (Note 7.1.1) 9,755.948 8.487.386 9.894.885 8.487.386
37,195,751 33,644,931 37,422,983 55,984,505
Note 7.1.1 This pertains primarily to statf welfare expenditures. staff travel expenses, and executive rental expenses
7.2 Other expenses
Travel related services - - 5.076.951 2.697.021
Office rent expenses (Note 7.2.1) 94.366.976 26.777.645 95.697.242 30.523.165
IT Expenses 6.783.225 5.798.144 6.783.225 5.798.144
Internet Expenses 3.098.639 2,837.830 3.098.639 3.959.154
Others (Note 7.2.2) 13.304.205 8.549.919 14.434.504 7.976.496
117,553,045 43,963,538 125,090,560 50,953,980
7.2.1. This primarily comprises the rent payments made by Thomas Cook Lanka (Pvt) Ltd. for the counters at Arrival and departure
terminals in the Bandaranayake International Airport. SLFRS 16 has not been applied to the mentioned balance because the
asset is not identifiable and falls under the exemption criterion,
The rent expense increased signiticantly as the Company is no longer entitled to rent discounts. which were previously available
in past years. due to thc COVID-19 restrictions.
7.2.2. This includes mainly Printing and Packaging. Electricity expenses, Other Insurance and other miscellaneous expenses.
7.3.  Group Resources cost includes expenses incurred by the Parent company Thomas Coolk India Limited on behalf of Sri Lankan

Companices.

During the current year. the Group resource cost has increased as a result of the allocation of management consultancy service
fees by Thomas Cook India amounting to Rs. 8.3 Mn.
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Company Group
For the year ended 31st March, 2023 2022 2023 2022
Rs. Rs. Rs. Rs.
8. Other income
Commission income - R - 3.349
Other income (Note 8.1) 223.773 211.994 223.773 211.994
Rent Consessions (Note 8.2) 562,979 - 562.979 -
786,752 211,994 786,752 217.343
8.1. This includes incentive received for Global Payment Service and Dynamic Currency Conversion during the year.
T
8.2. This This comprises the rent concessions received for outlets at Kandy City Center. which were granted due to the adverse
cconomic conditions and the implications of the Covid-19 pandemic.
9. Finance income
Interest income //ﬁi_ LLEINY 12,623,335 15,492,780 12,728.078 15.492.780
g R 12,623,335 15,492,780 _ 12,728,078 15,492,780
Finance expenses R |
Bank charges l‘\;f. 727.404 625,506 752.332 835.567
Interest on overdraft \\\?«"f, e 3,224,196 2,130,959 7.894.637 14.143.679
Interest on ROU assets N ed 362.566 450.513 362.566 450.513
Interest on Borrowings - - 61.259 -
Foreign exchange loss(Note 9.1) 2.722.188 56.158.962 2,705,294 56,293,472
Interest on related party loans (Note 9.2) 4,529,566 896,790 4,529,566 896,790
13,565,920 60,262,729 16,305,654 72,620,021
Net finance Expense (942,585)  (44,769,949)  (3,577,576)  (57,127,241)
9.1. In March 2022. the Sri Lankan Rupee experienced a significant depreciation. reaching LKR 3.94 per INR. This depreciation
was influenced by the Central Bank of Sri Lanka's controlled buying and sclling of forcign currencics. The transition from
controlled to floating rates on March 7, 2022, resulted in an exchange loss of LKR 36 million in the previous year.
During the current year, the Sri Lankan Rupee has exhibited some resilience, but it has also led to high fluctuations in the
exchange rate, which in turn has caused a net finance expense attributable to toreign exchange losses. These fluctuations have
notable implications for the financial statements. particularly concerning long-term USD loans payable and